




39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103

October 16, 2017

Dear fellow stockholders,

We continue to pursue our long-term growth strategy with solid results. Six elements drive our growth strategy: our core
leasing business, organic growth, new markets, disciplined acquisitions, product innovation and high service levels. The
continued execution of our strategy yielded key accomplishments in fiscal year 2017. These accomplishments included a
larger branch network, lease fleet and revenue growth, a strong customer base and high customer satisfaction.

FISCAL YEAR 2017 HIGHLIGHTS

Our commitment to operational excellence, best-in-class customer service and our dedicated employees made these and
the following fiscal year 2017 accomplishments possible.

Branch network growth. Our branch network grew to 87 locations with the addition of seven branch offices.

Lease Fleet Growth. Our combined North America and Asia-Pacific fleet grew by over 2,000 units.

Strong Customer Base. We served over 44,000 customers, of whom 85% are repeat customers.

Disciplined acquisitions. We completed three successful acquisitions.

Lease Revenue Growth. Lease revenues grew by approximately 5% on a year-over-year basis.

OUR PEOPLE AND CUSTOMERS

Our people continue to deliver superior customer service, as reflected in our North America “net promoter score” of
85%, which has increased from 82% in fiscal year 2015. Our net promoter score measures customer satisfaction. Our service
levels have helped make over 85% of our customer base repeat customers.

These high customer service levels and our sales and marketing initiatives have helped us develop a customer base of
over 44,000 customers that is diversified by geography, industry sector and customer size. We serve 47 of the top 100 U.S.
metropolitan service areas, all major metropolitan areas of Australia and New Zealand and much of western Canada. The
diversification of our customer base is shown by the charts from our last three fiscal years below. Our customer base is also
diversified on a customer basis, with no one customer representing more than 3% of fiscal year 2017 revenues.
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We are also very pleased with the progress of our transition to a new Chief Executive Officer, Jody Miller. Mr. Miller
has the respect of our Company’s employees, customer, vendors and competitors. We look forward to his leadership and
commitment to increasing shareholder value.



LEASE FLEET

We continue to grow our North America and Asia-Pacific lease fleets with disciplined and balanced capital allocation.
In fiscal year 2017 we invested $22 million in net lease fleet purchases to drive organic growth and over $5 million to
acquire North America and Asia-Pacific container businesses with strong long-term prospects. Our lease fleet grew through
this combination of organic growth and acquisitions, with the North America lease fleet increasing by 49%, or 26,453 units,
since fiscal year 2013. The charts below show the long-term growth of our lease fleet versus utilization and the value of our
lease fleet.
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CAPITAL EVENTS

During fiscal year 2017 we financed, refinanced or received commitments to borrow over $440 million. This increased
borrowing capacity will allow us to pursue additional organic growth and acquisition opportunities.

This increased capacity has also allowed us to acquire the shares of Royal Wolf Holdings Limited that have traded
publicly since 2011. This acquisition will allow us to simplify Royal Wolf’s reporting and eliminate the time and expense
associated with public company status.

OUR CULTURE

We continue to foster our entrepreneurial culture. We believe our company provides a special environment where our
employees can develop, grow and contribute, where our customers enjoy innovative products and superior service and where
we create long-term value for our stockholders. We believe our continued investment in and focus on our people, service,
products and system capabilities will result in long-term and sustainable growth.

OUR ANNUAL STOCKHOLDER MEETING

We appreciate the consistent and continued effort by our team, the loyalty of our customer base and support of our
capital providers and fellow stockholders.

We look forward to seeing one and all at our upcoming 2017 annual stockholder meeting of General Finance
Corporation on Thursday, December 7, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103.

Sincerely,

Ronald F. Valenta
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board
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39 East Union Street,
Pasadena, California 91103

NOTICE OF 2017 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To be held on December 7, 2017

AND
NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS

TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

Notice of Date, Time and Location of Meeting
Notice is hereby given to the holders of common stock of General Finance Corporation that the 2017 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders (“Annual Meeting”) will be held on Thursday, December 7, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Standard Time at the
offices of General Finance Corporation located at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California. At the Annual Meeting we will
ask you to:

Items of Business
1. Election of Directors. Elect three Class B directors, Susan L. Harris, Jody E. Miller and James B. Roszak, to serve for

terms of three years each, and one Class A director, Douglas B. Trussler, to serve for a term of two years, and in each
case until their respective successors are elected and qualified. The qualifications and experience of the three Class B
directors and the one Class A director are described in the accompanying Proxy Statement;

2. Ratification of Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Ratify the selection of Crowe
Horwath LLP as our independent auditors for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018;

3. Amendment to the 2014 Amended and Restated Incentive Plan to Reserve An Additional 1,000,000 Shares for
Issuance. Approve an Amendment to the 2014 Amended and Restated Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares
reserved for issuance thereunder by 1,000,000 shares.

4. Other Business. Transact any other business that may properly be presented at the Annual Meeting.
Any action on the items of business described above may be considered at the Annual Meeting at the time and on the

date specified above or at any date and time to which the Annual Meeting may be properly adjourned or postponed.

Record Date
If you owned common stock of General Finance Corporation on October 10, 2017, the record date, you are entitled to

notice of, to attend and to vote at the Annual Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof. In addition to
submitting a proxy and voting in person, you may vote by mail, telephone or the Internet. A complete list of stockholders
entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available at the principal executive offices of General Finance Corporation
located at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California beginning November 27, 2017 and at the Annual Meeting.

Materials to Review
The Proxy Statement, form of proxy card and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 (the

“2017 Annual Report”) that accompany this Notice (all of the foregoing collectively, the “Proxy Materials”) contain
additional information regarding the proposals to be considered at the Annual Meeting, and stockholders are encouraged to
read the Proxy Materials in their entirety. Under rules adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), we
have elected to provide access to our Proxy Materials both by sending you the Proxy Materials and by notifying you of the
availability of our Proxy Materials at the website www.cstproxy.com/generalfinance/2017. Internet access to our Proxy
Materials does not identify visitors to the website.

Proxy Voting
If you submit a proxy, you are entitled to revoke your proxy at any time before it is exercised by attending the Annual

Meeting and voting in person, duly executing and delivering a proxy bearing a later date or sending written notice of
revocation to our Secretary at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103. Whether or not you plan to be present at the
Annual Meeting, we encourage you to vote your proxy by following the instructions provided in the Proxy Materials. Any
stockholder attending the meeting may vote in person even if the stockholder previously returned a proxy.

Respectfully Submitted

Christopher A. Wilson
General Counsel, Vice President & Secretary

October 16, 2017

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be Held on
December 7, 2017. Our Proxy Statement and our 2017 annual report to stockholders are available at

http://www.cstproxy.com/generalfinance/2017.



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To be held on Tuesday, December 7, 2017

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Why did you send me the Proxy Materials?

We sent you the Proxy Materials because you owned shares of common stock (“Common Stock”) of
General Finance Corporation (“we” or the “Company”) at the close of business on October 10, 2017, the record
date. The Proxy Materials, which are furnished by the Board, provide you with information that will help you
cast your vote at the Annual Meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. You do not need to attend
the Annual Meeting to vote your shares. Instead, you may simply complete, sign, date and return the enclosed
proxy card.

You are invited to attend the Annual Meeting, which will take place at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Standard Time, at
39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103.

When you return the completed, signed and dated proxy card, you appoint the proxy holders named therein
(your proxies), as your representatives at the Annual Meeting. The proxy holders will vote your shares at the
Annual Meeting as you have instructed them on your proxy card(s). If an issue that is not set forth on the proxy
card comes up for vote at the Annual Meeting, the proxy holders will vote your shares, under your proxy, in
accordance with their best judgment.

We began sending the Proxy Materials on or about October 16, 2017 to all stockholders entitled to vote.

We have enclosed with this Proxy Statement, proxy card and Notice of the 2017 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders our Annual Report to stockholders, which includes our 2017 Annual Report as filed with the SEC.

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

Only stockholders who owned Common Stock at the close of business on October 10, 2017, the record date,
are entitled to vote on matters properly presented at the Annual Meeting. On the record date, there were
26,620,188 shares of Common Stock outstanding. The Common Stock is our only class of voting stock
outstanding.

What am I voting on?

We ask you to vote on the election of three Class B directors and one Class A director, ratification of the
selection of Crowe Horwath LLP as our independent auditors for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, an
amendment to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares reserved
for issuance thereunder by 1,000,000 shares and any other matter properly presented at the Annual Meeting. The
sections entitled “Election of Directors,” “Ratification of Selection of Independent Auditors” and “Amendment
to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan” provide more information on these proposals.

At the time this Proxy Statement was printed, we knew of no other matters to be acted upon by stockholders
at the Annual Meeting.
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Could other matters be decided at the Annual Meeting?

On the date this Proxy Statement was printed, we did not know of any matters to be raised at the Annual
Meeting other than those mentioned in this Proxy Statement. If you vote your proxy by following the instructions
in this Proxy Statement and other matters are properly presented at the Annual Meeting for a vote of
stockholders, the persons appointed as proxies by the Board will have discretion to vote your shares for you.

How many votes do I have, and who will count the votes?

You have one vote for each share of our Common Stock you own. Charles E. Barrantes, our Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer, and Christopher A. Wilson, our General Counsel, Vice President and
Secretary, will act as inspectors of the election and will tabulate the votes.

How are abstentions and broker non-votes treated?

Abstentions and broker non-votes will be included in the number of shares present at the Annual Meeting
for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum. (A “broker non-vote” occurs when a beneficial owner fails
to provide the broker with instructions on how the vote the shares, and the broker lacks discretionary authority to
vote the shares.) Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted either as a vote cast for or against the
election of the three Class B directors and the one Class A director, the ratification of selection of independent
auditors and the amendment to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan.

How can I vote?

For Company stockholders of record, the Company has established telephone and Internet voting described
below. If your shares of common stock are held in a brokerage account, by a bank or other holder of record, you
are considered a “beneficial owner” of those shares, and the availability of telephone and Internet voting will
depend on the voting processes of your broker, bank or other holder of record. We therefore recommend that you
follow the voting instructions in the materials you receive.

You may vote by telephone or via the Internet. You can vote by telephone or via the Internet by following
the instructions in your enclosed proxy card, notice and/or voting instruction form. Votes submitted
electronically over the Internet or by telephone must be received by 7:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time on
December 6, 2017. You can vote by calling the toll-free telephone number on your proxy card. Please have your
proxy card available when you call. The website for Internet voting is www.proxyvote.com.

You may vote by mail. You can vote by mail by completing, signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and
returning it promptly in the prepaid envelope provided. If you are a stockholder of record and you did not receive
a prepaid envelope, please mail your signed proxy card to Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 1 State
Street, New York, New York 10004, Attention: Proxy Department, Floor SC-1. If you mark your voting
instructions on the proxy card, your shares will be voted as you instruct. If you return a signed proxy card but
do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be voted FOR the election of the nominees for director,
the ratification of the selection of independent auditors identified in this Proxy Statement and FOR the
amendment to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan.

You may vote in person at the Annual Meeting. You may attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person. If
you hold your shares as a beneficial owner (“in street name”), you must request a legal proxy from your
stockbroker in order to vote at the Annual Meeting. Otherwise, we cannot count your votes. Please see the notice
or voting instruction form from your bank, broker or other holder of record for more information on these
options.
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What is the difference between holding shares of Common Stock as a stockholder of record and as a
beneficial owner?

If your shares of Common Stock are registered in your name with Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, the Company’s transfer agent, you are a “stockholder of record” of those shares, and the Proxy
Materials were sent to you by Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. If your shares of common stock are
held in a brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record, you are considered a “beneficial owner” of
those shares, and Proxy Materials were sent to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record. As the
beneficial owner you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other holder of record how to vote your shares
by using the voting instruction card or by following their instructions for voting by telephone, by mail or other
means.

May I revoke my proxy?

If you are a stockholder of record, you can change or revoke your proxy before it is exercised by giving
written notice to our Secretary or in person at our corporate headquarters before the Annual Meeting that you
have revoked your proxy, by delivering in a timely manner a valid proxy by mail, telephone or Internet with a
date later than the prior proxy or by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person. If you are a beneficial
owner of shares, you may submit new voting instructions by contacting your broker, bank or other holder of
record. All shares for which proxies have been properly submitted and not revoked will be voted at the Annual
Meeting.

How will shares I hold in street name be voted?

If your shares of Common Stock are held in street name, your broker, bank or other holder of record, under
certain circumstances, may not vote your shares without specific voting instructions under rules of The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (“NASDAQ”). This is called a “broker non-vote.” We encourage you to provide
instructions to your brokerage firm by voting your proxy. This ensures your shares will be voted at the Annual
Meeting.

What does it mean if I receive more than one proxy card?

If you have more than one account at the transfer agent and/or with stockbrokers, you will receive separate
proxy cards for each account. Please sign and return all proxy cards to ensure that all your shares are voted.

How many votes may be cast at the Annual Meeting?

Based on the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the record date, up to 26,620,188 votes
may be cast on any matter.

How many shares of Common Stock do you need to hold the Annual Meeting (what are the quorum
requirements)?

Shares representing a majority of our outstanding votes on the record date of October 10, 2017 must be
present in person or by proxy to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.
Accordingly, a quorum will be present at the Annual Meeting if 13,310,095 shares of Common Stock are
represented at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy. Your shares will be counted towards the quorum only
if you submit a valid proxy (or one is submitted on your behalf by your broker) or if you vote in person at the
Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted as present for purposes of determining a
quorum.

Who nominates individuals for election to the Board?

Nominations for the election of individuals to the Board may be made by the Board or by any holder of our
Common Stock.
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How many votes must the director nominee receive to be elected?

The nominees receiving the highest number of “FOR” votes of the shares present in person or represented
by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of the three Class B directors and the one Class A
director will be elected as the three Class B directors and the one Class A director, respectively. This number is
called a plurality. If you withhold authority to vote for the nominee on your proxy card, your vote will not count
either “for” or “against” the nominee.

How many votes are required to ratify the selection of auditors?

The selection of Crowe Horwath LLP will be ratified if a majority of the votes cast are voted in favor of
ratification.

How many votes are required to approve the amendment to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock
Incentive Plan?

The amendment to the Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan will be approved if a majority of
the votes cast are in favor of its approval.

Is there a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available at the Annual Meeting and for
ten days prior to the Annual Meeting by contacting the Company Secretary for any purpose appropriate to the
Annual Meeting at our offices located at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California between the hours of
9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.

Who pays the costs of soliciting these proxies?

The Company pays to distribute and solicit proxies and reimburses the reasonable fees and expenses
incurred by brokers, nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians in forwarding proxy materials to stockholders.
The directors, officers and employees of the Company may solicit proxies in person, through mail, telephone,
electronic transmission or other means. We do not pay those individuals additional compensation for soliciting
proxies.

When will the voting results be announced?

We will announce the final voting results at the Annual Meeting. We will also report final voting results
from the Annual Meeting in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC within four business days of the
Annual Meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Overview

This section of the Proxy Statement provides an overview of the corporate governance of General Finance
Corporation. The Board of General Finance Corporation is committed to effective corporate governance. The
Board regularly reviews the key governance documents of General Finance Corporation, including its Corporate
Governance Guidelines, and these governance documents and policies are updated to reflect changes in
applicable laws and corporate governance the Board determines to be in the best interests of the Company and its
stockholders.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines of General Finance Corporation include the following key features:

• A majority of our directors are independent.

• A Lead Independent Director leads the independent directors.

• The Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Governance Committees are currently comprised solely
of independent directors.

• The Company does not have a stockholder rights plan, or “poison pill.”

• The Board has adopted a whistleblower policy which encourages employees to report any instances of
fraud, dishonesty and violations of Company policies and procedures without fear of any retaliation or
breach of confidentiality.

• The Board has approved stock incentive plans and bonus plans for executives that enable the Company
to “clawback” previously awarded compensation if the compensation was predicated on financial
results which were the subject of a material financial restatement, the recipient was deemed to have
engaged in fraud or misconduct that caused the material financial restatement and a lower granting,
vesting or payment would have resulted based upon the restated financial results.

• The Board and each of its committees have the authority to retain outside advisors.

• The Audit Committee monitors and restricts the hiring of current and former Company employees by
our independent auditor.

• The Compensation Committee may only select or receive advice from a compensation consultant, legal
counsel or other advisor to the Committee, other than in-house legal counsel, after taking into
consideration the factors identified by NASDAQ as necessary to evaluate independence and
affirmatively determine whether the consultant, legal counsel or advisor is independent in the judgment
of the Compensation Committee.

• There are no interlocks among Compensation Committee members.

• The responsibilities of the committees of our Board set forth in each committee’s charter are regularly
reviewed, updated as necessary and posted to the Company’s website.

• The Company’s Code of Ethics is regularly reviewed and posted to the Company’s website.

• The Board and each of its committees perform self-assessments.

• The Board has adopted an “overboarding policy” which prohibits directors from serving on more than
six public company boards.

• The Board has adopted stock ownership guidelines for directors.

• Each director attended at least 75% of the Board and committee meetings of which he or she was a
member, and the Board has adopted an attendance policy requiring board members to attend 75% of
the Board meetings and committee meetings of which each director is a member in each fiscal year
with attendance excused in the case of medical issues or illness.
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The Corporate Governance Guidelines and the following additional corporate governance materials are
published at the General Finance Corporation website www.generalfinance.com under the “Corporate
Governance” section:

• Audit Committee Charter

• Charter of the Lead Independent Director

• Compensation Committee Charter

• Code of Ethics

• Corporate Governance Guidelines

• Nominating and Governance Committee Charter

We will provide without charge copies of any the documents listed above upon written request to the
General Finance Corporation Secretary, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103. The information on
our website is not part of this Proxy Statement.

GOVERNANCE INFORMATION

Board of Directors

General Oversight

The business of the Company is managed under the direction of the Company’s Board. The Board’s general
oversight responsibility is conferred by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Company’s Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and the Company’s Bylaws. The leadership structure of the Board and its
committees assist the Board in exercising its fiduciary duties as it oversees the Company’s business affairs, Chief
Executive Officer performance and succession, internal controls over financial reporting and long-term strategy.

Leadership Structure

The Company does not have a formal policy concerning whether the same individual may serve as the Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. In June 2014, the Board approved a Charter for the Lead
Independent Director, elected Ronald F. Valenta as the Chairman of the Board and elected James B. Roszak as
the Lead Independent Director. The Charter of Lead Independent Director provides that the Lead Independent
Director must be independent and delineates the powers of the Lead Independent Director, including the power to
call meetings of the independent Board members, to develop agendas for executive sessions of the Board’s
independent members and to preside at executive sessions of the Board’s independent directors. Ronald F.
Valenta currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board.

Risk Oversight

The identification, evaluation and mitigation of risks arising in connection with the Company’s businesses
are the responsibility of the Company’s senior management. The Board’s responsibility is to understand the risks
related to the Company’s businesses and to oversee senior management’s mitigation of those risks.

The Board and the Audit Committee receive regular reports from senior management concerning the risks
related to the Company’s businesses.

The Audit Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee have certain risk management
oversight responsibilities and regularly report to the Board concerning risk management. These reports include
the risks considered by each committee and the direction given to management to mitigate these risks. The Audit
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Committee oversees compliance by the Company with legal requirements and regularly receives reports
concerning the Company’s significant internal controls, steps taken by management to maintain a strong internal
controls environment and enterprise risk management. In addition, representatives of the Company’s independent
auditors attend Audit Committee meetings, deliver presentations to the Audit Committee and meet with the Audit
Committee in private session. The Company’s Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel also meet in private
session with the Audit Committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee develops corporate governance
principles and oversees management’s evaluation and mitigation of risk relating to the Company’s Code of
Ethics and business practices.

Corporate Governance

Our corporate governance reflects the principles that guide the Company. Our corporate governance
framework specifies the duties, responsibilities and rights of our stockholders, Board and management. Our
corporate governance principles are found in the Company’s charter documents, the Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Company’s Code of Ethics, committee charters and other policies approved by the
Board.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines were adopted by the Board in December 2010. The Corporate
Governance Guidelines are reviewed at least annually to guide our corporate governance in response to changing
regulatory requirements and as circumstances warrant.

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Ethics and committee charters are available for review on
our website http://www.generalfinance.com/corporate.html or may be requested without charge by written
request to our Secretary, General Finance Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103. The
information on our website is not part of this Proxy Statement.

Director Independence

NASDAQ Stock Market Rules require that a majority of the members of the Board be “independent
directors,” which is defined generally as a person, other than an officer or employee of the Company or its
subsidiaries, having no relationship, which, in the opinion of the Company’s Board, would interfere with the
director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. All members of the
Board’s Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Governance Committees are “independent” within the
meaning of NASDAQ Stock Market Rules and Rule 10A-3(b)(i) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”).

In making these determinations, the Board was presented with a report from the Company’s General
Counsel and discussed information provided by the directors and the Company with regard to each director’s
business and personal activities as they relate to the Company. Each director and executive officer is required to
complete a director and officer questionnaire each year which requires disclosure of transactions with the
Company in which the director or officer, or any members of his or her family, have a direct or indirect material
interest and which requires disclosure of any relationships or transactions which could interfere with the
director’s exercise of independent judgment.

The Board has determined that Ms. Harris and Messrs. Baribault, Roszak, Tashjian and Trussler are
independent under NASDAQ Stock Market rules and listing standards and have no relationship with the
Company except as a director and stockholder. The Board determined that Mr. Valenta is not independent
because he is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board determined that Mr. Marrero is not
independent because he serves as the President of Main St. Personal Finance, Inc., a specialty finance company
controlled by Mr. Valenta.
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Executive Sessions of Independent Directors

The Company’s corporate governance guidelines require independent directors to meet, without
management, at regularly scheduled executive sessions which generally may take place after regularly scheduled
meetings of the entire Board. The Chairman of the Board, the Lead Independent Director or any two independent
directors may call a special executive session of the independent directors at any time. Such special executive
sessions may take place after a regular or special meeting of the entire Board or at such other time deemed
appropriate.

Lead Independent Director

James B. Roszak has served as the Lead Independent Director since June 2014.

Board and Committee Meetings

The Board held six meetings during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, or fiscal year 2017, and acted by
written consent four times. Five of the meetings were regular meetings, and one meeting was a special meeting.
The Board holds meetings each fiscal year according to a pre-arranged schedule, but the Board also holds special
meetings and acts by written consent from time to time as needed.

Each director attended more than 75% of all meetings of the Board and board committees on which he or
she served during the period he or she was a director in fiscal year 2017.

Board Committees

The Board has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Governance
Committee. Each committee regularly delivers reports to the full Board concerning its meetings and actions. In
fiscal year 2017 the independent directors met in executive session five times, and the Audit Committee met in
executive session in three of its four regularly scheduled meetings.

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Roszak, as Chair, Mr. Baribault, Ms. Harris and
Mr. Tashjian. The Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee qualifies as “independent”
within the meaning of The NASDAQ Stock Market Rules and Section 10A of the Exchange Act. Our Board has
determined that Mr. Roszak, Mr. Baribault and Mr. Tashjian each qualify as an “audit committee financial
expert,” as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC. In addition, Mr. Roszak, Mr. Baribault, Ms. Harris
and Mr. Tashjian have the past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional
certification in accounting, or other comparable experience or background that results in their financial
sophistication.

The functions of the Audit Committee and its activities during fiscal year 2017 are described below under
the heading “Report of the Audit Committee.”

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, and the Audit Committee within the past
year has reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the charter. The Audit Committee charter was most recently
amended in September 2016 concerning the Audit Committee’s oversight of the internal audit department. A
copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available free of charge on the “Corporate Governance” section in our
website at www.generalfinance.com or by written request addressed to our Secretary.

The Audit Committee met five times in fiscal year 2017.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee consists of Ms. Harris, as Chair, Mr. Baribault,
Mr. Roszak and Mr. Tashjian, each of whom is an independent director under NASDAQ rules and listing
standards. The purposes of the Compensation Committee are to determine and approve the goals, objectives and
compensation structure for our executive officers, to review the performance of our executive officers and to
review the Company’s management resources, succession planning and development activities.
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The Board established the Compensation Committee in May 2006. The Compensation Committee adopted
its charter in February 2007. The Compensation Committee reviews its charter annually and recommends to the
Board any changes to the charter it believes are warranted. The Compensation Committee amended its charter in
June 2011 and October 2013. The October 2013 amendments provided that each member of the Compensation
Committee must be “independent” with the meaning of SEC and NASDAQ Stock Market Rules, that committee
member independence must be evaluated from a variety of factors, including committee member compensation
sources and affiliation with the Company and that the Company’s chief executive officer may not be present
during voting or deliberations concerning his compensation. The June 2011 amendments to the charter provided
that each member of the Compensation Committee must be independent within the meaning of NASDAQ Stock
Market Rules and Rule 10A-3(b)(i) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that prior to
selection of an executive compensation advisor, the Compensation Committee must evaluate the independence of
the executive compensation advisor by considering the factors identified by the SEC necessary to determine the
executive compensation advisors are independent. A copy of the Compensation Committee Charter is available
free of charge on the “Corporate Governance” section in our website at www.generalfinance.com or by written
request addressed to our Secretary.

The Compensation Committee met three times in fiscal year 2017.

Nominating and Governance Committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee consists of
Mr. Tashjian, as Chairman, Ms. Harris and Mr. Roszak. The Nominating and Governance Committee is
responsible for certain matters which include reviewing the size and composition of the Board, overseeing the
selection of persons to be nominated to serve on our Board, maintaining and overseeing the corporate governance
of the Company, assuring that the Board conducts an annual self-evaluation and periodically reviewing the
Company’s succession plans.

The Board adopted a written charter for the Nominating and Governance Committee in January 2006 and
amended its charter in September 2009. A copy of the Nominating and Governance Committee Charter is
available free of charge on the “Corporate Governance” section in our website at www.generalfinance.com or by
written request addressed to our Secretary.

The Nominating and Governance Committee met three times in fiscal year 2017.

Composition of the Board and Review of Director Nominees

The Nominating and Governance Committee periodically assesses and makes recommendations to the
Board concerning the size and composition of the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee seeks to
achieve a balance of diverse knowledge, experience and capabilities on the Board. The committee is responsible
for identifying and assessing potential director candidates from directors, management and stockholders. The
Nominating and Governance Committee recommends qualified candidates to the Board.

Stockholders’ nominees for director must be delivered to the Company in writing and include the written
consent of and background information concerning the nominee sufficient for the Nominating and Governance
Committee to evaluate the candidate’s qualifications. Stockholder nominees for director must be delivered
pursuant to all of the requirements described in the paragraphs below and the section of this Proxy Statement
entitled “Stockholder Recommendations for Board Nominees.” When considering candidates for director, the
Nominating and Governance Committee takes into account a number of factors, including the following:

• Ethics and integrity;

• Ability to attend regular and special board and committee meetings and willingness to perform the
duties of a director;

• Excellent moral character and reputation;
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• Industry knowledge, contacts and network of potential clients in industries served by the Company;

• Ability to be responsible and fair-minded;

• Prior experience, including service on boards of directors;

• Senior-level management experience;

• Whether the candidate has a background that would provide diversity to the Board; and

• Possession of specific skills in auditing, accounting, personnel and finance.

Candidates need not possess all of these characteristics, nor are all of these factors weighed equally.

The Nominating and Governance Committee periodically determines whether any vacancies on the Board
are expected. If vacancies are anticipated or arise, or the size of the Board expands, the Nominating and
Governance Committee will consider potential candidates for director. Candidates may come to the attention of
the Board through current Board members or management, stockholders or other persons. These candidates will
be evaluated at regular or special meetings of the Nominating and Governance Committee and may be
considered at any point during the year.

The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider candidates for directors recommended by
stockholders who follow the proper procedures in submitting the recommendation. The Board will consider
candidates recommended by stockholders using the same criteria it applies to candidates recommended by
directors. To be considered for election at an annual meeting, the recommendation must be submitted no later
than October 26, 2017. The recommendation must be in writing and addressed to the Secretary and must include
the following: (i) a statement that the writer is a stockholder and is proposing a candidate for consideration by the
Nominating and Governance Committee; (ii) the name and contact information for the candidate; (iii) a statement
of the candidate’s business and educational experience; (iv) information regarding each of the factors listed
above (other than the factor regarding board size and composition) sufficient to enable the Nominating and
Governance Committee to evaluate the candidate; (v) a statement detailing any relationship between the
candidate and any competitor of the Company; (vi) detailed information about any relationship or understanding
between the writer and the candidate; and (vii) a statement that the candidate is willing to be considered and is
willing to serve as a director if nominated and elected.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No person who served on the Compensation Committee in fiscal year 2017 was, during the year or
previously, an officer or employee of the Company or had a relationship with the Company requiring disclosure
under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. Since July 2011 Mr. Marrero has served as the President of Main St. Personal
Finance, Inc., a company controlled by Ronald F. Valenta. Mr. Valenta has the power to set Mr. Marrero’s
incentive compensation. No other interlocking relationship exists between any member of the Board and any
member of any other company’s board of directors or compensation committee.

Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons

The Company has not adopted a formal written policy regarding transactions with related persons. The
Company’s Code of Ethics for Directors, Officers and Employees (“Code of Ethics”) requires the disclosure of
all potential conflicts of interest. Delaware law in turn requires that each director or officer disclose to the Board
all material facts relating to such director’s or officer’s relationship or interest in a proposed contract or
transaction and that a majority of the Board, with any interested director abstaining, approve the contract or
transaction in good faith.
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The Board is responsible for reviewing any proposed transaction with related persons. The Board considers
all relevant information in deciding whether to approve or reject a transaction with a related person. Information
relating to transactions between the Company and related persons is set forth in “Transactions with Related
Parties.”

Communication with the Board Directors

Stockholders may communicate with the Board in writing by mail delivered to the following address:
General Finance Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103, Attention: Secretary. All notices
and communications received in writing will be distributed to the Chairman of the Board, the Lead Independent
Director and, if applicable, the chairman or chair of the appropriate Board committee.

Code of Ethics

The Company’s Code of Ethics applies to all our directors, officers and employees, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. The Code of Ethics sets forth the
guiding principles by which the Board, officers and employees operate the Company’s businesses. The Code of
Ethics is posted on our Internet website at www.generalfinance.com under the “Corporate Governance” section.

We will provide a copy of the Code of Ethics upon written request delivered to General Finance
Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103, Attention: Secretary.

Compensation of Non-Employee Directors

We currently have five non-employee directors who qualify for compensation. In fiscal year 2017 the five
non-employee directors received cash compensation and an annual award of restricted stock.

Cash Compensation

In October 2011, the Compensation Committee approved a schedule of cash compensation of our
non-employee directors which, as reflected by the table below, established that if a single committee meeting or
multiple committee meetings are held on the same day, a director will receive a fee of $1,500. The following
table summarizes the schedule of compensation of our non-employee directors (directors who also serve as
officers currently receive no additional compensation for their services as directors), as amended on June 5,
2014. In addition to the compensation set forth below, each director is also eligible for reimbursement of
reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the director’s services.

Annual Retainer—Non-Employee Chairman of the Board $60,000
Annual Retainer—Lead Independent Director 60,000
Annual Retainer—Non-Employee Directors 40,000
Additional Annual Retainer—Audit Committee Chair 12,000
Additional Annual Retainer—Compensation Committee Chair 10,000
Additional Annual Retainer—Nominating and Governance Committee Chair 6,000
Committee Meeting Attendance Fee 1,500

The annual retainers are payable in advance in quarterly installments, and committee fees are paid at the end
of each quarter. The Chairman of the Board shall have the discretion to pay additional fees to directors for
meetings other than regular meetings of the Board.

Annual Award of Restricted Stock

Each non-employee director received an annual award of $45,000 in restricted stock that vests on the first
anniversary of the date of grant.
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The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned during fiscal year 2017.
Employee directors do not receive any compensation for service on the Board.

Fiscal Year 2017 Non-Employee Director Compensation

Name
Annual
Retainer

Committee
Chair
Fees

Committee
Meeting

Fees

Total
Cash
Fees

Stock
Awards(1) Total

James B. Roszak $60,000 $12,000 $14,000 $86,000 $45,000 $131,000
David M. Connell(2) 20,000 — 6,000 26,000 — $ 26,000
Manuel Marrero 40,000 — 3,000 43,000 45,000 $ 88,000
Susan L. Harris 40,000 10,000 12,500 62,500 45,000 $107,500
Larry D. Tashjian 40,000 6,500 12,000 58,500 45,000 $103,500
William H. Baribault 40,000 — 11,000 51,000 45,000 $ 96,000

(1) On December 1, 2016, each non-employee director was granted 11,111 non-vested equity shares, or
restricted stock, with an aggregate value of $45,000 as of the date of grant based on the NASDAQ Stock
Market closing price of $4.05 per share. These non-vested equity shares vest one year from the date of grant
if the director continues to serve on the Board.

(2) Mr. Connell retired from the Board effective December 1, 2016.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

In December 2013 the Board adopted stock ownership guidelines under which it is recommended that
within four years each non-employee director acquire Company common stock with an aggregate fair market
value equal to or greater than four times the annual cash retainer, not including committee cash retainers,
received by each non-employee Company director. As of October 11, 2017, each non-employee director owned
more Company common stock than is required by the Company’s stock ownership guidelines.

Director Attendance at Annual Meetings

We have scheduled a board meeting in conjunction with our Annual Meeting and expect that our directors
will attend, absent a valid business or personal reason not to attend.
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PROPOSAL 1:

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(Item Number 1 on the Proxy Card)

Background

Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Board must consist of no less than
three members, the exact number of which is determined from time to time by the Board, divided into three
classes designated Class A, Class B and Class C, respectively. Prior to the Annual Meeting, the number of
directors was fixed at six, and if all three Class B directors and the one Class A director are elected, the number
of directors will be fixed at eight.

The term of the Class A directors elected at the 2017 Annual Meeting will expire as of the annual meeting
of stockholders in 2019, the terms of the Class B directors will expire as of the annual meeting of stockholders in
2017 and the terms of the Class C directors will expire as of the annual meeting of stockholders in 2018. Upon
expiration of the terms of the directors of each class as set forth above, the terms of their successors in that class
will continue until the end of their terms and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.

The Board has nominated three Class B directors, Susan L. Harris, James B. Roszak and Jody E. Miller, and
one Class A Director, Douglas B. Trussler, for election by the stockholders. If all of the nominees in the
preceding sentence are elected as directors, the number of directors will be increased from six to eight. If a
nominee is unable to serve or for good cause will not serve, your proxy holders may vote for another nominee
proposed by the Board. If any director resigns, dies or is otherwise unable to serve out his or her term, the Board
may fill the vacancy until the next annual meeting.

Information Concerning the Nominees and Continuing Director

The following information is provided regarding the nominees and the continuing directors:

Name Age
Director

Since
Term to
Expire

Class A Directors:
Manuel Marrero 59 2005 2019
Nominee—Douglas B. Trussler 46 — 2019

Nominees—Class B Directors:
James B. Roszak (Lead Independent Director) 76 2005 2020
Susan L. Harris 60 2008 2020
Jody E. Miller 50 — 2020

Class C Directors:
Ronald F. Valenta (Chairman) 58 2005 2018
William H. Baribault 72 2015 2018
Larry D. Tashjian 64 2014 2018

Nominees

Ms. Harris and Mr. Roszak are current directors, and Mr. Miller and Mr. Trussler will be new directors if
elected. Each nominee has consented to serve as a director. The Board has no reason to believe that the nominees
will be unable to serve as directors. If any nominee is unable to serve or should a vacancy occur before the
annual meeting, the Board may designate a substitute nominee. If a substitute nominee is named, your shares will
be voted in favor of the election of the substitute nominee designated by the Board.

Susan L. Harris has been a director since 2008 and the Chair of the Compensation Committee since
February 2016. Ms. Harris served as a director of portable storage companies Mobile Services Group, Inc. and
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Mobile Storage Group, Inc. from May 2004 to August 2006 and from May 2002 to August 2006, respectively.
Ms. Harris retired from SunAmerica Inc., a NYSE-listed financial services company, where she served in a
variety of positions between 1985 and 2000, including her most recent position as Senior Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary. Prior to joining SunAmerica Inc., Ms. Harris worked for the law firm of
Lillick, McHose and Charles, specializing in corporate and securities law. Ms. Harris brings to our Board broad
legal experience and knowledge of the portable storage industry that provide the Board with key perspectives in
corporate governance, legal matters and portable storage.

Jody E. Miller has served as our President since January 2017 and General Finance Corporation Executive
Vice President from June 2015 to January 2017. Since July 2017, Mr. Miller has also served as the President of
Southern Frac LLC, the Chief Executive Officer of GFN Manufacturing Corporation and GFN North America
Corp. and the Chief Executive Officer of Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. Mr. Miller has also served as the Chief
Executive Officer of GFN North America Leasing Corporation since June 2016. Mr. Miller has served as director
of GFN Manufacturing Corporation, Lone Star Tank Rental Inc., GFN North America Leasing Corporation, GFN
U.S. Australasia Holdings, Inc. and Royal Wolf Holdings Limited since June 2014, September 2014, June 2016,
June 2016 and July 2016, respectively. Mr. Miller served as a consultant to GFN Manufacturing Corporation
from May 2013 to June 2015. Mr. Miller has over 25 years of experience in the equipment rental industry,
including five years at Mobile Mini, Inc. as Executive Vice President and Chief Operations Officer, five years at
Mobile Storage Group, Inc. as Senior Vice President and fifteen years at RSC Holdings, Inc. where he held many
positions including Regional Vice President for seven years. Mr. Miller is a 1990 graduate of Central Missouri
State University.

James B. Roszak has been a director since November 2005 and our Lead Independent Director since June
2014. Mr. Roszak was employed by the Life Insurance Division of Transamerica Corporation, a financial
services organization engaged in life insurance, commercial lending, equipment leasing and real estate services,
from 1962 until his retirement in 1997. From 1978 to 1988 Mr. Roszak was based in Toronto, Canada and during
that time served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Transamerica’s life insurance operations in
Canada. In 1988 Mr. Roszak returned to the U. S. Life insurance operations as the Chief Marketing Officer and
was subsequently named President, the capacity in which he served until his retirement. Mr. Roszak also served
on the board of directors of buy.com, an Internet retailer and NASDAQ-listed company and also served as its
interim Chief Executive Officer from February 2001 to August 2001 when it was taken private. He was also a
director of National RV Holdings from June 2003 until July 2008. He is currently a member of the Board of
Trustees of Chapman University where he is the Chairman of the Finance Committee. Our board benefits from
Mr. Roszak’s management and board experience and deep knowledge of finance, accounting, international
business, operations and risk management.

Douglas B. Trussler has served as a founding partner and investment committee member of Bison Capital
Partners since 2001. From 1995 to 2000 Mr. Trussler served as a principal of Windward Capital Partners.
Mr. Trussler graduated from the Richard Ivey School of Business Administration in 1993. Mr. Trussler’s
experience includes capital markets fund raising, deal sourcing, mergers and acquisition due diligence and
structuring and exit strategy execution.

Continuing Directors

William H. Baribault has served as the chief operating officer and president of the Richard Nixon
Foundation from 2014 to the present. Mr. Baribault has also served as an independent trustee of the American
Funds from 2009 to the present and as a principal of Oakwood Enterprises, a private investment and consulting
firm, from 1998 to the present. Mr. Baribault’s broad range of experience, including manufacturing, retail sales,
expansion of product portfolios and acquisition strategies provide the Board with important perspectives in those
areas.

Manuel Marrero has been a director since November 2005, and Mr. Marrero served as a director of Royal
Wolf Holdings Limited from October 2014 to October 2017. Since March 2009 Mr. Marrero has served as the
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Chief Executive Officer of the specialty finance companies of General Finance Group, Inc., a company
controlled by Ronald F. Valenta. From January 2004 to March 2009, Mr. Marrero worked as a financial and
operations management consultant with several companies, principally focused in consumer products brand
management. From May 2002 until January 2004, Mr. Marrero served as the Chief Financial Officer of
Mossimo, Inc., a designer and licensor of apparel and related products. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Marrero was the
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Interplay Entertainment Corp., a developer, publisher and
distributor of interactive entertainment software, and from 1996 to 1999 Mr. Marrero served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Precision Specialty Metals, Inc., a light gauge conversion mill for flat rolled stainless steel
and high performance alloy. Mr. Marrero has served on the boards of directors of Interplay OEM, Inc., Shiney
Entertainment, Inc., Seed Internet Ventures, Inc., L.A. Top Producers, LLC, Friends of Rancho San Pedro and
Tree People. Mr. Marrero’s business experiences and entrepreneurial accomplishments assist the Board in
shaping the Company’s strategy and growth.

Larry D. Tashjian has served as a director since February 2014 and the chair of the Nominating and
Governance Committee since February 2016. He is the founder, President and CEO of CAM Capital Advisors,
an opportunistic, valued-based manager in all asset classes. Prior to starting CAM Capital Advisors, he was Chief
Executive Officer of Provident Investment Counsel (“PIC”), a Pasadena-based investment company that
specializes in growth stocks. During his time with PIC (1981 – 2005), Mr. Tashjian was an integral part of the
company’s growth. In 1995, he was intimately involved in the sale of PIC to United Asset Management, a New
York Stock Exchange-listed company. He would go on to serve on its board of directors. Near the end of 2000,
United Asset Management was acquired by Old Mutual PLC. Prior to joining PIC, Mr. Tashjian worked for the
Bank of America, both in retail banking and corporate finance, and his professional career in investment
management spans over 30 years. Mr. Tashjian’s other professional activities have included directorships at
Bavarian Specialty Food Products, Southland Title Corporation, Lineage Capital Partners, S & S Portable
Services and PGP Capital Advisors. He also currently serves as Chairman of Investment Managers Series Trust
II, a multiple series trust investment company. In 2001, Mr. Tashjian helped found Professional Business Bank in
Pasadena, California, which was initially sold to Belvedere Capital Management in 2005, and maintained his
involvement with Professional Business Bank through continued board participation until the bank was
ultimately sold again in late 2010. During this period of time, he served on the audit committee and chaired both
the compensation and loan committees. Mr. Tashjian’s business and capital markets knowledge provide the
Board with unique insights.

Ronald F. Valenta has served as a director and as our Chief Executive Officer since our inception.
Mr. Valenta has been the Chairman of the Board since June 2014, and Mr. Valenta served as a director of Royal
Wolf Holdings Limited from May 2011 until October 2017. Mr. Valenta has served as the chairman of General
Finance Group, Inc. since 2008. From 1988 to 2003 Mr. Valenta served as the President and Chief Executive
Officer of Mobile Services Group, Inc., a portable storage company he founded. From 2003 to 2006 Mr. Valenta
was a founding director of the National Portable Storage Association, a storage industry non-profit organization.
From 1985 to 1989, Mr. Valenta was a Senior Vice President of Public Storage, Inc. From 1980 to 1985,
Mr. Valenta was employed by the accounting firm of Arthur Andersen & Co. in Los Angeles. Mr. Valenta’s
experience in the portable storage industry, his financial and accounting background and the knowledge he
acquired in managing diverse businesses provide the Board with key insights.

Vote Required

The three nominees for Class B director and the one nominee for Class A director receiving the highest
number of “FOR” votes, or a plurality, of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and
entitled to vote on the election of the three Class B directors and the one Class A director will be elected as the
three Class B directors and the one Class A director, respectively. If you do not vote for a nominee, or you
withhold authority to vote for the nominee on your proxy card, your vote will not count either “for” or “against”
the nominee.
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The persons appointed by the Board as proxies intend to vote for the election of the Director nominees,
unless you indicate otherwise on the proxy or voting instruction card.

Recommendation

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF THE BOARD
NOMINEES.
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PROPOSAL 2:

RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
(Item Number 2 on the Proxy Card)

Background

The Audit Committee has selected Crowe as our independent auditors for fiscal year ending June 30, 2018,
or fiscal year 2018. We are asking the stockholders to ratify this selection. We expect a representative from
Crowe to participate in the Annual Meeting and the representative will have the opportunity to make a statement
if desired and to respond to appropriate questions by stockholders.

Aggregate fees billed to us by Crowe for professional services rendered with respect to our fiscal year ended
June 30, 2016, or fiscal year 2016, and our fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, or fiscal year 2017, were as follows:

2016 2017

Audit Fees $823,966 $708,357
Audit-Related Fees 221,266 249,974
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —

In the above table, in accordance with the SEC’s definitions and rules, “audit fees” are fees we paid for
professional services for the audit of our consolidated financial statements, including those in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K and local statutory audit requirements and reviews of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.
“Audit-related fees” are fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of
the audit or review of our financial statements. “Tax fees” are fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax
planning.

The policy of the Audit Committee is that it must approve in advance all services (audit and non-audit) to be
rendered by the Company’s independent auditors. The Audit Committee approved in advance the engagement of
Crowe for services in fiscal year 2016 and fiscal year 2017.

Vote Required

The ratification of the selection of Crowe requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
number of shares present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on this proposal. Abstentions will be
counted as if voted “against” this proposal. If the stockholders do not ratify the selection, the adverse vote will be
deemed to be an indication to the Audit Committee that it should consider selecting other independent auditors
for fiscal year 2018. Because of the difficulty and expense of substituting accounting firms, it is the intention of
the Audit Committee that the appointment of Crowe for fiscal year 2018 will stand unless, for a reason other than
the adverse vote of the stockholders, the Audit Committee deems it necessary or appropriate to make a change.
The Audit Committee also retains the power to appoint another independent auditor at any time or from time to
time if it determines it is in our best interests.

Recommendation

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF
THE SELECTION OF CROWE AS OUR INDEPENDENT AUDITORS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2018.
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PROPOSAL 3:

AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2014 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

The Board has unanimously approved an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated
2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), subject to stockholder approval at the Annual Meeting, that will
increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan by 1,000,000 shares, from 1,500,000 to
2,500,000 shares of common stock, plus any stock options or shares of restricted stock that were granted under
the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”) which are forfeited and are available for grant under the 2014
Plan. At June 30, 2017, 550,194 shares remained available for grant under the 2014 Plan.

The Board requests that our stockholders approve the Amendment because the Board believes the
Amendment is in the best interests of General Finance Corporation and its stockholders. The Amendment will
allow the Board and the Compensation Committee to continue to provide incentive stock options, nonqualified
stock options, restricted stock grants, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance stock,
performance units and other stock-based awards under the 2014 Plan. The Board believes that approval of the
Amendment is in the best interests of the stockholders because it will provide the Board with the means to grant
equity incentives to employees and directors. The Board also believes that these equity incentives will continue
to develop ownership in and commitment to our growth and financial success. We believe this ownership and
commitment will motivate our employees and directors to devote their best efforts to our business, thereby
advancing the interests of our stockholders. The 2014 Plan will also enable us to attract able individuals to
become employees or serve as directors.

2014 Stock Option Plan. Any stock options which are forfeited under the 2009 Plan will become available
for grant under the 2014 Plan. If the Amendment is approved and 1,000,000 additional shares are reserved for
issuance under the 2014 Plan, the total number of shares available under the 2014 Plan will not exceed the
2,500,000 shares, plus any options or restricted shares which were forfeited or are available for grant under the
2009 Plan. The 2009 Plan will expire on December 10, 2019, which is the tenth anniversary of the date the 2009
Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders, and the 2014 Plan will expire on December 4, 2024.

Limits on Awards. If the Amendment is approved by stockholders, a maximum of 2,500,000 shares of
common stock may be issued and awarded under the 2014 Plan, plus any options which were forfeited and are
available for grant under the 2009 Plan. The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be subject to
stock awards granted to any one participant who received an award under the 2014 Plan (“Participant”) during
any single fiscal year period is 250,000. We may not issue fractional shares of common stock and will round
down to the nearest whole share of common stock.

If any award shall terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or otherwise without the issuance of any
common stock, is settled in cash in lieu of shares of common stock, or is exchanged with the Compensation
Committee’s permission for awards not involving common stock, such common stock subject to the award shall
be available again for grant under the 2014 Plan. Fractional shares of common stock will be rounded down to the
nearest whole share of common stock.

Administration. Our Board has delegated administration of the 2014 Plan to the Compensation Committee.
The members of the Compensation Committee are appointed from time to time by and shall serve at the
discretion of the Board, and, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the Compensation Committee shall
consist of no fewer than two directors, each of whom is (i) a “Non-Employee Director” within the meaning of
Rule 16b-3 (or any successor rule) of the Exchange Act, (ii) an “outside director” within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”), and (iii) an “independent director”
for purposes of the rules and regulations of NASDAQ.

The Compensation Committee will have such powers and authority as may be necessary or appropriate to
carry out the functions of the Compensation Committee as described in the 2014 Plan. Subject to the express
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limitations of the 2014 Plan, the Compensation Committee will have authority in its discretion to determine the
individuals to whom, and the time or times at which, awards may be granted, as well as the terms and provisions
of individual awards, including without limitation:

• the number of shares, units or other rights subject to each award;

• the exercise, base or purchase price of an award (if any);

• the time or times at which an award will become vested, exercisable or payable, the performance goals
and other conditions of an award;

• the duration of the award; and

• all other terms of the award.

The Compensation Committee shall have full and exclusive discretionary power to interpret the terms and
intent of the 2014 Plan and any award agreement or other agreement in connection with the 2014 Plan. The
Compensation Committee shall also have the full and exclusive discretionary power to adopt such rules,
regulations, forms, instruments, and guidelines for administering the 2014 Plan as the Compensation Committee
may deem necessary or proper. The Compensation Committee may delegate such responsibilities to another
committee of the Board of Directors, an officer of the Company or such person as the Committee may designate.

The Compensation Committee may, at any time and from time to time, alter, amend, modify, suspend, or
terminate the 2014 Plan or any award agreement. Subject to anti-dilution adjustment provisions in the 2014 Plan,
without the prior approval of our stockholders, neither the Compensation Committee nor the Board of Directors
may amend the 2014 Plan or any award to:

• increase the number of shares that may be issued under the 2014 Plan;

• amend the maximum number of shares subject to awards that may be granted during a fiscal year;

• permit granting of stock options or stock appreciation rights at a price below the market value of our
common stock on the date of the grant; and/or

• make any other amendments or modifications which require stockholder approval under applicable law
or the rules of NASDAQ.

No termination or amendment of the 2014 Plan may be made without the consent of the Participants whose
awards would experience a material adverse effect.

Eligibility. Any person, who is an employee of us or any of our subsidiaries or any director, is eligible to
receive awards and become a Participant under the 2014 Plan.

Types of Plan Awards. The 2014 Plan includes the following equity compensation awards: incentive stock
options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock grants, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights,
performance stock, performance units, cash and stock-based awards, the material terms of each are described
below.

Stock Options. Stock options granted under the 2014 Plan may be either incentive stock options or
nonqualified stock options. The award agreement for an option grant shall set forth the terms and provisions of
the award, including the exercise price per share, the maximum duration of the option, the number of shares of
common stock to which the option pertains, and the conditions upon which an option shall become vested and
exercisable.

The exercise price per share of an option may not be less than the fair market value of our common stock on
the date of the grant. The Compensation Committee may in its discretion specify an exercise price per share that
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is higher than the fair market value of our common stock on the date the option is granted. If a Participant owns
more than 10% of our total combined voting power, then the minimum exercise price for an incentive stock
option will be 110% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date the option is granted. The exercise
price is payable in cash, shares of our common stock previously owned or as otherwise permitted by the
Compensation Committee, including, without limitation, through a cashless (broker-assisted) exercise.

The Compensation Committee will determine the period during which a vested stock option may be
exercised, provided that the maximum term of a stock option shall be ten years (or for incentive stock options,
five years, in the case of a Participant who owns in excess of 10% of our total combined voting power) from the
date the option is granted. Each Participant’s award agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant
shall have the right to exercise the stock option following termination of the Participant’s employment with us
and/or our subsidiary.

Stock option awards are nontransferable, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.
However, in appropriate circumstances, and only if explicitly noted in the award agreement and permissible by
law, the Compensation Committee may provide for transferability of stock options.

Stock Appreciation Rights. A stock appreciation right entitles a Participant, upon settlement, to receive
shares of common stock, a payment or a combination of shares of common stock and a payment based on the
increase of the value of our common stock from the time the stock appreciation right is granted until the time it is
exercised (or settled). The terms and conditions of an award will be set forth in an award agreement, except that
payment may only be made in our common stock. Stock appreciation rights may be granted on a basis that allows
for the exercise of the right by the Participant or that provides for the automatic payment of the right upon a
specified date or event. Stock appreciation rights will be exercisable or payable at such time or times and upon
conditions as may be specified by the Compensation Committee in the award agreement, provided that the
Compensation Committee may accelerate the exercisability or payment of a stock appreciation right at any time,
including without limitation, in connection with a change of control or upon the death or disability of the
Participant.

A stock appreciation right may, but need not, be granted in tandem with a stock option, either at the time of
grant or at any time thereafter during the term of the stock option. A tandem stock option/stock appreciation right
will entitle the holder to elect, as to all or any portion of the number of shares subject to such stock option/stock
appreciation right, to exercise either the stock option or the stock appreciation right, resulting in the reduction of
the corresponding number of shares subject to the right so exercised as well as the tandem right not so exercised.
A stock appreciation right granted in tandem with a stock option hereunder will have an exercise price per share
equal to the per share exercise price of the stock option, which under the 2014 Plan shall not be less than
100 percent of the fair market value of the shares of our common stock on the date the right is granted, and will
be vested and exercisable at the same time or times that a related stock option is vested and exercisable and will
expire no later than the time at which the related stock option expires.

A stock appreciation right will entitle the holder, upon exercise or other payment of the stock appreciation
right, as applicable, to receive an amount determined by multiplying: (i) the excess of the fair market value of a
share of our common stock on the date of exercise or payment of the stock appreciation right over the exercise
price of such stock appreciation right, by (ii) the number of shares as to which such stock appreciation right is
exercised or paid. The award agreement governing the stock appreciation right may provide for settlement in
cash, common stock or a combination of cash and common stock.

Awards made under the 2014 Plan involving deferrals of income, including stock appreciation rights, must
satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code to avoid adverse tax consequences to Participants. These
requirements include limitations on election timing, including the timing of exercise of stock appreciation rights,
acceleration of payments, and distributions of awards and award proceeds. We intend to structure any awards
under the 2014 Plan, including awards of stock appreciation rights, to meet the applicable tax law requirements
in Code Section 409A in order to avoid the adverse tax consequences to Participants.
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Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s award agreement or otherwise determined at any time by the
Compensation Committee, stock appreciation rights may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise
alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

Restricted Stock Awards. Restricted stock awards represent shares of our common stock granted subject to
restrictions on transfer and vesting requirements as determined by the Compensation Committee. The restrictions
imposed on shares granted under a restricted stock award will lapse in accordance with the vesting requirements
specified by the Compensation Committee in the award agreement, provided that the Compensation Committee
may accelerate the vesting of a restricted stock award at any time, including, without limitation, in connection
with a change of control or upon the death or disability of the Participant. Such vesting requirements may be
based on the continued service of the Participant with us or our subsidiaries for a specified time period (or
periods) or on the attainment of specified performance goals established by the Compensation Committee in its
discretion. Restricted Stock awards will be subject to a vesting period as determined by the Compensation
Committee. If the vesting requirements of a restricted stock award are not satisfied prior to the termination of the
Participant’s service, the award will be forfeited and the shares of common stock subject to the award will be
returned to us.

Shares of common stock granted under any restricted stock award may not be sold, transferred, pledged,
assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until all applicable restrictions are removed or have expired,
except as provided in the restricted stock award agreement or otherwise allowed by the Compensation
Committee. Holders of restricted stock will have all other rights of a stockholder with respect to shares of
common stock, including the right to vote the shares and receive any dividends paid on common stock.

Performance Stock and Performance Units. The Compensation Committee may grant awards of
performance stock or performance units to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms as the
Compensation Committee shall determine. Each share of performance stock shall have an initial value equal to
the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. Each performance unit shall have an initial
value that is established by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant. The Compensation Committee
shall set performance goals in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine
the cash value that will be paid out to the Participant.

Once the performance stock or performance units vest, the Participant shall be entitled to receive payout of
the value earned by the Participant since the grant date, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the
corresponding performance goals have been achieved. The Compensation Committee will pay earned
performance stock or performance units in cash equal to the value of the earned performance stock or
performance units at the close of the applicable vesting period, or as soon as practicable upon vesting. We intend
to structure any performance stock or performance units to meet the applicable tax law requirements in Code
Section 409A in order to avoid adverse tax consequences to Participants.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s award agreement or otherwise determined at any time by the
Compensation Committee, performance units or performance stock may not be sold, transferred, pledged,
assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

Cash- and Other Share-Based Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant cash-based awards to
Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, including the achievement of performance goals, as the
Compensation Committee may determine.

The Compensation Committee may grant other types of equity-based or equity-related awards not otherwise
described by the terms of the 2014 Plan (including the grant or offer for sale of unrestricted common stock) in
such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions, as the Compensation Committee shall determine. Such
awards may involve the transfer of actual shares of common stock to Participants, or payment in cash or
otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares of common stock and may include, without limitation, Awards
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designed to comply with or take advantage of the applicable local laws of jurisdictions other than the United
States.

We intend to structure any cash-and other share-based awards to meet the applicable tax law requirements in
Code Section 409A in order to avoid certain adverse tax consequences to Participants.

Non-Employee Director Awards. In fiscal year 2017, each non-employee director was granted non-vested
equity shares with an aggregate value of $50,000 as of the date of grant. The non-employee directors therefore
were granted 11,111 shares of non-vested equity shares, or restricted stock, with a value of $4.50 per share.
These non-vested equity shares vest one year from the date of grant if the director continues to serve on the
Board of Directors.

Repricings. The Compensation Committee has the authority under the 2014 Plan to reprice any outstanding
option or stock appreciation right without the prior approval of our stockholders. For purposes of the 2014 Plan,
“repricing” includes lowering the exercise price of an option or the grant price of a stock appreciation right after
it is granted and canceling an option at a time when its exercise price exceeds the fair market value of the
underlying stock, in exchange for an option, a restricted stock award or other equity related award. To date, no
outstanding option or stock appreciation right has been repriced under the 2009 Plan or the 2014 Plan.

Adjustments. In the event of a stock dividend, recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, spin-off, or
other distribution of our stock or property, the Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of a Participant’s rights under the 2014 Plan, substitute or adjust the number and
kind of shares available for grant under the 2014 Plan, and subject to the various limitations set forth in the 2014
Plan, the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2014 Plan, and the exercise,
settlement or grant price of awards. In addition, the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, may also
make appropriate adjustments in the terms of any award under the 2014 Plan, including modifying the
performance goals or changing the length of any vesting period, to reflect such an event.

The impact of a merger or reorganization or other change of control on awards outstanding under the 2014
Plan shall be specified in the agreement relating to the award. Such agreement may provide for, among other
things, acceleration of benefits, lapsing of restrictions, vesting of benefits and such other terms and conditions as
may be contained in such written agreement; provided however, that such written agreement may not increase the
maximum amount of any outstanding award.

Section 162(m) Awards. Awards of options and stock appreciation rights granted under the 2014 Plan will
automatically qualify for the “performance-based compensation” exception under Code Section 162(m) pursuant
to their expected terms. Cash-based awards and awards of restricted stock, performance units and stock may
qualify under Code Section 162(m) if the terms of the award state, in terms of an objective formula or standard,
the method of computing the amount of compensation payable under the award and preclude discretion to
increase the amount of compensation payable under the terms of the award.

Term of 2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan will terminate in December 2024, the tenth anniversary of the date of its
approval of the Company’s stockholders. The Board may, in its discretion and at any earlier date, terminate the
2014 Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no termination of the 2014 Plan will have a material adverse effect on
any award theretofore granted without the consent of the Participants or the permitted transferee of the award.

Summary of Material Federal Income Tax Consequences of the 2014 Plan. The following is a brief
summary of certain federal income tax consequences of participation in the 2014 Plan. The summary should not
be relied upon as being a complete statement of all possible federal income tax consequences. Federal tax laws
are complex and subject to change. Participation in the 2014 Plan may also have consequences under state and
local tax laws which vary from the federal tax consequences described below. For such reasons, we recommend
that each Participant consult his or her personal tax advisor to determine the specific tax consequences applicable
to him or her.
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Incentive Stock Options. No taxable income will be recognized by a Participant under the 2014 Plan upon
either the grant or the exercise of an incentive stock option. Instead, a taxable event will occur upon the sale or
other disposition of the shares acquired upon exercise of an incentive stock option, and the tax treatment of the
gain or loss realized will depend upon how long the shares were held before their sale or disposition. If a sale or
other disposition of the shares received upon the exercise of an incentive stock option occurs more than (i) one
year after the date of exercise of the option and (ii) two years after the date of grant of the option, the holder will
recognize long-term capital gain or loss at the time of sale equal to the full amount of the difference between the
proceeds realized and the exercise price paid. However, a sale, exchange, gift or other transfer of legal title of
such stock (other than certain transfers upon the Participant’s death) before the expiration of either of the
one-year or two-year periods described above will constitute a “disqualifying disposition.” A disqualifying
disposition involving a sale or exchange will result in ordinary income to the Participant in an amount equal to
the lesser of

(i) the fair market value of the stock on the date of exercise minus the exercise price; or

(ii) the amount realized on disposition minus the exercise price.

If the amount realized in a disqualifying disposition exceeds the fair market value of the stock on the date of
exercise, the gain realized in excess of the amount taxed as ordinary income as indicated above will be taxed as
capital gain. A disqualifying disposition as a result of a gift will result in ordinary income to the Participant in an
amount equal to the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the stock on the date of
exercise. Any loss realized upon a disqualifying disposition will be treated as a capital loss. Capital gains and
losses resulting from disqualifying dispositions will be treated as long-term or short-term depending upon
whether the shares were held for more or less than the applicable statutory holding period (which currently is
more than one year for long-term capital gains). We will be entitled to a tax deduction in an amount equal to the
ordinary income recognized by the Participant as a result of a disposition of the shares received upon exercise of
an incentive stock option.

The exercise of an incentive stock option may result in an “adjustment” for purposes of the “alternative
minimum tax.” Alternative minimum tax is imposed on an individual’s income only if the amount of the
alternative minimum tax exceeds the individual’s regular tax for the year. For purposes of computing alternative
minimum tax, the excess of the fair market value on the date of exercise of the shares received on exercise of an
incentive stock option over the exercise price paid is included in alternative minimum taxable income in the year
the option is exercised. A Participant who is subject to alternative minimum tax in the year of exercise of an
incentive stock option may claim as a credit against the Participant’s regular tax liability in future years the
amount of alternative minimum tax paid which is attributable to the exercise of the incentive stock option. This
credit is available in the first year following the year of exercise in which the Participant has regular tax liability.

Nonqualified Stock Options. Generally, no taxable income is recognized by a Participant upon the grant of a
nonqualified stock option. Upon exercise, however, the Participant will recognize ordinary income in the amount
by which the fair market value of the shares purchased, on the date of exercise, exceeds the exercise price paid
for such shares. The income recognized by the Participant who is our employee is subject to employment taxes
and income tax withholding by us out of the Participant’s current compensation. If such compensation is
insufficient to pay the taxes due, the Participant will be required to make a direct payment to us for the balance of
the tax withholding obligation. We will be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income
recognized by the Participant, provided that certain reporting requirements are satisfied. If the exercise price of a
nonqualified stock option is paid by the Participant in cash, the tax basis of the shares acquired will be equal to
the cash paid plus the amount of income recognized by the Participant as a result of such exercise. If the exercise
price is paid by delivering shares of our common stock already owned by the Participant or by a combination of
cash and already-owned shares, there will be no current taxable gain or loss recognized by the Participant on the
already-owned shares exchanged (however, the Participant will nevertheless recognize ordinary income to the
extent that the fair market value of the shares purchased on the date of exercise exceeds the price paid, as
described above). The new shares received by the Participant, up to the number of the old shares exchanged, will
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have the same tax basis and holding period as the Participant’s basis and holding period in the old shares. The
balance of the new shares received will have a tax basis equal to any cash paid by the Participant plus the amount
of income recognized by the Participant as a result of such exercise, and will have a holding period commencing
with the date of exercise. Upon the sale or disposition of shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of a
nonqualified stock option, the difference between the proceeds realized and the Participant’s basis in the shares
will be a capital gain or loss and will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the shares have been held for
more than the applicable statutory holding period (which is currently more than one year for long-term capital
gains).

Restricted Stock. If no election is made under Code Section 83(b) and repurchase rights are retained by us, a
taxable event will occur on each date the Participant’s ownership rights vest (e.g., when our repurchase rights
expire) as to the number of shares that vest on that date, and the holding period for capital gain purposes will not
commence until the date the shares vest. Any dividends received with respect to shares subject to the restrictions
will be treated as additional compensation income and not as dividend income. The Participant will recognize
ordinary income on each date shares vest in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of such shares
on that date over the amount paid for such shares. Any income recognized by a Participant who is an employee
will be subject to employment taxes and income tax withholding by us out of the Participant’s current
compensation. If such compensation is insufficient to cover the amount to be withheld, the Participant will be
required to make a direct payment to us for the balance of the tax withholding obligation. We are entitled to a tax
deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income recognized by the Participant. The Participant’s holding
period for capital gains begins on the date the restrictions on the shares lapse. The Participant’s basis in the
shares will be equal to the purchase price, if any, increased by the amount of ordinary income recognized. If
instead a Code Section 83(b) election is made not later than 30 days after the date of transfer, then the Participant
will recognize ordinary income on the date of purchase in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value
of such shares on the date of purchase over the purchase price paid for such shares. Any change in the value of
the shares after the date of grant will be taxed as a capital gain or capital loss only if and when the shares are
disposed of by the Participant. If the Section 83(b) election is made, the Participant’s holding period for capital
gains begins on the date of grant. The Section 83(b) election is irrevocable. If a Section 83(b) election is made
and the Participant then forfeits the restricted stock, the Participant may not deduct as a loss the amount
previously included in gross income. We will be entitled to a deduction at the same time, and in an amount equal
to, the ordinary income recognized by the Participant with respect to shares of restricted stock.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Generally, no taxable income is recognized by a Participant receiving a stand-
alone non-vested stock appreciation right payable in cash at the time the stock appreciation right is granted where
the Participant is required to exercise the stock appreciation right at the time it becomes vested. Upon exercise, if
the Participant receives the appreciation inherent in the stock appreciation right in cash, the cash will be taxed as
ordinary income to the Participant at the time it is received so long as the right is exercised as it becomes vested.
If the Participant receives the appreciation inherent in a stock appreciation right in stock, the amount of such
appreciation will be taxed as ordinary income at the time it is received. The ordinary income the Participant
recognizes will be subject to employment taxes and income tax withholding by us. If a stock appreciation right
payable in cash is not required to be exercised as it becomes vested, or if a stock appreciation right payable in
stock (i) has a Stock appreciation right exercise price less than the fair market value of the underlying stock on
date of grant, (ii) is payable in a form other than shares of our publicly traded stock, or (iii) has a compensation
deferral feature other than deferral of income until the exercise of the right, then such right may subject a
Participant to certain adverse tax consequences under Code Section 409A, discussed below.

We are not entitled to a federal income tax deduction upon the grant or termination of a stock appreciation
right. However, upon the settlement of a stock appreciation right, we are entitled to a deduction equal to the
amount of ordinary income the Participant is required to recognize as a result of the settlement.

Stock Unit Awards. Stock unit awards are generally includable in income in the year received or made
available to the Participant without substantial limitations or restrictions. However, depending on their terms,
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stock unit awards may be subject to Code Section 409A, discussed below, which in certain circumstances will
result in adverse tax consequences to Participants. Generally, we will be entitled to deduct the amount the
Participant includes in income as a compensation expense in the year of payment.

Performance Stock and Performance Unit Awards. Participants generally will not recognize taxable income
upon the granting of performance-based awards. Instead, Participants will recognize as ordinary income, and we
will have as a corresponding deduction, any cash received in payment of an amount due under the performance-
based award. The ordinary income the Participant recognizes will be subject to employment taxes and tax
withholding by us.

Other Stock-Based Awards. The tax consequences associated with any other stock-based award will vary
depending on the specific terms of the award, including whether the award has a readily ascertainable fair market
value, whether or not the award is subject to forfeiture provisions or restrictions on transfer, the nature of the
property to be received by the Participant under the award, the applicable holding period, the nature of any
deferral feature, and the Participant’s tax basis.

Cash Awards. Awards payable in cash are includible in the Participant’s gross income when paid and
deductible by us when paid or accrued.

Deferred Compensation. As noted above in the description of the 2014 Plan, any deferrals made under the
2014 Plan, including awards granted under the plan that are considered deferred compensation, must satisfy the
requirements of Code Section 409A to avoid adverse tax consequences to Participants, which include the current
inclusion of deferred amounts in income and interest and a surtax on any amount included in income. The
Section 409A requirements include limitations on election timing, acceleration of payments, and distributions.
Section 409A applies to certain stock appreciation rights, stock unit awards, discounted stock options, and other
awards that provide the Participant with an opportunity to defer to recognition of income. We intend to structure
any awards under the 2014 Plan to meet the applicable tax law requirements under Code Section 409A in order to
avoid its adverse tax consequences.

Tax Withholding. Participants are responsible for payment of any taxes or similar charges required by law to
be withheld from an award or an amount paid in satisfaction of an award, which shall be withheld from other
compensation payable to the Participant or otherwise paid by the Participant on or prior to the payment or other
event that results in taxable income in respect of an award. The award agreement may specify the manner in
which the withholding obligation shall be satisfied with respect to the particular type of award.

Non-United States Taxpayers. If a Participant is subject to the tax laws of any country other than the United
States, the Participant should consult his or her own tax and legal advisors to determine the tax and legal
consequences of any award received under the Plan.

The foregoing statement is only a summary of the material federal income tax consequences of the Plan and
is based on our understanding of present federal tax laws and regulations.

A copy of the Amendment is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A.

Outstanding Options

Reference is made to our Annual Report Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2017 for information
concerning outstanding options under the 2009 Plan and the 2014 Plan.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE AMENDMENT TO THE
GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AMENDED AND RESTATED 2014 STOCK INCENTIVE

PLAN.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The following Report of the Audit Committee does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed
filed or incorporated by reference into any other filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates this
Report by reference therein.

The Audit Committee oversees the financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors. In
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the audited financial
statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC and the unaudited financial
statements included with Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC.

The Audit Committee met and discussed with management and the independent auditors the matters
required to be discussed under the rules and standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(“PCAOB”). These discussions included the clarity of the disclosures made therein, the underlying estimates and
assumptions used in the financial reporting, the reasonableness of the significant judgments and management
decisions made in developing the financial statements and the testing and evaluation of the system of internal
control over financial reporting. In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with the independent auditors
their independence from the Company and has received the written letter required by the PCAOB from the
independent auditors.

The Audit Committee also met and discussed with the independent auditors the overall scope and objectives
of the audit, the Company’s critical accounting policies and the specific results of the audit. Management was
present at all or some part of each of these meetings.

Pursuant to the reviews and discussions described above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board
of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.

Management is responsible for the Company’s financial reporting process, including its system of internal
controls, and for the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. The Company’s independent auditors are responsible for auditing those financial
statements. The Audit Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and review these processes. It is neither the
Committee’s duty nor responsibility to conduct auditing or accounting reviews or procedures. Members of the
Audit Committee are not employees of the Company and may not be, and do not represent themselves to be or to
serve as, accountants or auditors by profession or experts in the fields of accounting or auditing. Therefore,
members have relied, without independent verification, on management’s representation that the financial
statements have been prepared with integrity and objectivity and in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and on the representations of the independent auditors
included in their report on the Company’s financial statements. The Audit Committee’s oversight does not
provide it with an independent basis to determine that management has maintained appropriate accounting and
financial reporting principles or policies, or appropriate internal controls and procedures designed to assure
compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, consultations and
discussions with management and the independent auditors do not assure that the Company’s financial
statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, that the audit of the
Company’s financial statements has been carried out in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards or
that the Company’s independent accountants are in fact “independent.”

Respectfully Submitted,

James B. Roszak (Chair)
William H. Baribault
Susan L. Harris
Larry D. Tashjian
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of
October 10, 2017, by (i) each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding
shares of common stock; (ii) each of our executive officers and directors; and (iii) all of our executive officers
and directors as a group. Unless otherwise noted, we believe that each beneficial owner named in the table has
sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown, subject to community property laws where
applicable. An asterisk (*) denotes beneficial ownership of less than one percent.

Beneficial Ownership

Name
Number of
Shares(1)

Percent of
Class(1)

Directors and Executive Officers
Ronald F. Valenta(2)(3) 4,821,976 18.0%
James B. Roszak(2)(4) 115,377 (*)
Larry D. Tashjian(2)(5) 225,656 (*)
Manuel Marrero(2)(6) 147,452 (*)
Susan L. Harris(2)(8) 52,827 (*)
William H. Baribault(2)(9) 22,194 (*)
Charles E. Barrantes(2)(10) 221,250 (*)
Christopher Wilson(2)(11) 451,852 1.7%
Jeffrey Kluckman(2)(12) 232,297 (*)
Neil Littlewood(13) -0- (*)
Theodore M. Mourouzis(14)(15) 613,516 2.3%
Jody M. Miller(2)(16) 281,928 1.1%

All executive officers and directors as a group (twelve persons) 7,186,325 25.9%
5% Stockholders

Olowalu Holdings, LLC(17) 2,680,498 10.1%
2863 S. Western Avenue
Palos Verdes, California 90275

Neil Gagnon(18) 5,228,921 19.6%
1370 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 2400
New York, New York 10019

Ronald L. Havner, Jr.
and Lee Ann R. Havner (19) 3,083,390 11.6%

c/o Karl Swaidan
Hahn & Hahn LLP
301 East Colorado Boulevard, Suite 900
Pasadena, California 91101

Ebb Tide Investments Limited(20) 1,369,336 5.1%
Second Floor
Windsor Place
22 Queen Street
Hamilton, HM HX Bermuda

(1) Based on 26,620,188 shares of common stock outstanding as of October 10, 2017. In accordance with the
rules of the SEC, person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of shares that the person may acquire within
the following 60 days (such as upon exercise of options or warrants or conversion of convertible securities).
These shares are deemed to be outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of the
person beneficially owning such shares but not for purposes of computing the percentage of any other
holder.

(2) Business address is c/o General Finance Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103.
(3) Includes 4,533,498 (including 100,000 restricted shares) shares owned, 52,478 shares owned by

Mr. Valenta’s wife and minor children and 236,000 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options.
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(4) Includes 97,377 shares owned (including 11,111 restricted shares) and 18,000 shares that may be acquired
upon exercise of options.

(5) Includes 176,011 shares owned (including 11,111 restricted shares), 13,500 shares owned by Mr. Tashjian’s
children over which Mr. Tashjian exercises investment power, 30,000 shares owned by a family limited
partnership and 6,145 shares owned by a family trust.

(6) Includes 129,452 shares owned (including 11,111 restricted shares) and 18,000 shares that may be acquired
upon exercise of options.

(7) Not used.
(8) Includes 34,827 shares owned (including 11,111 restricted shares) and 18,000 shares that may be acquired

upon exercise of options.
(9) Consists of 22,194 shares owned (including 11,111 restricted shares).
(10) Includes 92,750 shares (including 25,000 restricted shares) owned and 128,500 shares that may be acquired

upon exercise of stock options.
(11) Includes 98,352 shares (including 16,667 restricted shares) owned and 353,500 shares that may be acquired

upon exercise of stock options
(12) Includes 78,788 shares (including 25,000 restricted shares) owned, 175 shares owned by Mr. Kluckman’s

child living in his residence and 153,334 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options.
(13) Business address is Suite 201, Level 2, 22-28 Edgeworth David Avenue, Hornsby, New South Wales,

Australia 2077
(14) Business address is 9155 Harrison Park Court, Indianapolis, Indiana 46216.
(15) Includes 424,530 shares owned, 2,819 shares owned by Mr. Mourouzis’ minor children and 186,167 shares

that may be acquired upon exercise of stock options.
(16) Includes 281,928 shares owned (including 193,288 restricted shares).
(17) Information is based upon Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13G filed on January 3, 2013. Olowalu Holdings,

LLC (“Olowalu”), is a Hawaiian limited liability company, of which Rick Pielago and Marc Perez are the
managers. Olowalu shares voting and investment power as to all of the shares shown with U.S.
Commonwealth Life A.I., a Puerto Rican company, and the Ronald Valenta Irrevocable Life Insurance
Trust No. 1, a California trust, of which Mr. Pielago is trustee. The Ronald Valenta Irrevocable Life
Insurance Trust No. 1 is an irrevocable family trust established by Ronald F. Valenta in December 1999 for
the benefit of his wife at the time, any future wife, and their descendants. Mr. Valenta, himself, is not a
beneficiary of the Trust, and neither he nor his wife or their descendants has voting or investment power, or
any other legal authority, with respect to the shares shown. Mr. Valenta disclaims beneficial ownership of
the shares held by the Trust. Mr. Pielago and Mr. Perez may be deemed to be the control persons of
Olowalu, and Mr. Pielago may be deemed to be the control person of the Ronald Valenta Irrevocable Life
Insurance Trust No. 1.

(18) Information is based upon Schedule 13G filed on January 24, 2017.
(19) Information is based upon Amendment No. 7 to Schedule 13D filed on August 22, 2017. The shares shown

consist of 1,581,390 shares owned by the Havner Family Trust, 2,000 shares held by Ronald L. Havner, Jr.
and 1,500,000 shares owned by JCS Ventures II, LLC, a limited liability company of which Mr. Havner and
Mrs. Havner act as managers.

(20) Information is based on Amendment No. 5 to Schedule 13G filed January 3, 2013. Ebb Tide Investments
Limited (“Ebb Tide”) is a Bahamas limited company, of which Colin James is the director. Ebb Tide shares
voting power with Magna Carta Life Insurance Ltd. (“Magna Carta”), a Bermuda limited company. Ebb
Tide, Magna Carta and HFD Family Trust (“HFD Trust”), a Cayman Islands Trust of which Rick J. Pielago
is the protector. The HFD Trust is an irrevocable family trust established by Ronald F. Valenta in August
2008 for the benefit of his minor children and their descendants. Mr. Valenta, himself, is not the beneficiary
of the HFD Trust, and neither he nor his minor children nor their descendants have voting or investment
power, of any other legal authority, with respect to the shares shown. Mr. Valenta disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares held by Ebb Tide, Magna Carta and the HFD Trust. Colin James may be deemed to
be the control person of Magna Carta, and Mr. Pielago may be deemed to be the control person of Ebb Tide
and the HFD Trust.
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COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors, executive officers
and 10% stockholders to file reports with the SEC on changes in their beneficial ownership of common stock and
to provide us with copies of the reports. We believe that all of these persons filed all required reports on a timely
basis in fiscal year 2017.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The following report of the Compensation Committee shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any previous filing by the Company under either the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that incorporates future Securities Act or Exchange Act filings in whole or in
part by reference.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the following Compensation
Discussion and Analysis section of the Company’s 2017 Proxy Statement. Based on our review and discussion,
we have recommended to the Board that the following Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the
Company’s 2017 Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee

Susan L. Harris (Chair)
William Baribault
James B. Roszak
Larry D. Tashjian

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

The Company’s compensation program aligns the interests of our executive officers with the interests of our
stockholders. The Company’s compensation programs do so by establishing short-term and long-term and
strategic goals to increase stockholder value and rewarding the achievement by executive officers of those goals.
The Compensation Committee periodically reviews and makes recommendations with respect to the adoption
and implementation of equity-based and non-equity based compensation plans for executive officers. We
therefore structure the compensation of our executive officers to reward the achievement of the strategic goals
that drive stockholder value.

Advisory Vote in Executive Compensation

At our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders we held our second advisory vote on executive compensation
and our second advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation. The 2016
non-binding, advisory vote on executive compensation was approved, and the Company’s stockholders voted to
hold a triennial vote on executive compensation. The Company held its initial advisory vote on executive
compensation at its annual meeting of stockholders in December 2013 at which time a non-binding, advisory
vote on executive compensation was approved. At our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders in December 2013,
we held our first advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on executive compensation and the
Company’s stockholders voted to hold a triennial vote on executive compensation.

Executive Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee of the Board is responsible for the establishment and development of the
Company’s compensation philosophy. The Compensation Committee establishes, implements and monitors the
structure of the Company’s executive compensation program.

The Compensation Committee designs the executive compensation program to achieve the following key
goals:

• Reinforce the business strategy;

• Balance rewards addressing both short-term and long-term strategic objectives;
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• Motivate executives to deliver a high degree of business performance without encouraging unnecessary
risk taking;

• Align executives’ interests with the stockholders’ interests; and

• Attract and retain talented executives whose skills and achievements will increase stockholder value.

In September 2017 the Company funded an off-market takeover bid (the “Bid”) to acquire the 49,188,526
publicly traded shares (the “Shares” or “Minority Interest”) of Royal Wolf Holdings Limited (“Royal Wolf”) not
owned by GFN and its subsidiaries. Following the funding of the Bid, the Company and its subsidiaries owned
98.9% of the outstanding Royal Wolf shares, and Royal Wolf’s shares were delisted from public trading in
October 2017. The Company expects that the compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares of Royal Wolf not
owned will be completed in November 2017 and that the Compensation Committee will resume making the
compensation goals and metrics for senior management of Royal Wolf.

The Royal Wolf Holdings Nomination and Remuneration Committee set the compensation goals and
metrics of the chief executive officer and senior management of Royal Wolf Holdings in fiscal year 2017. The
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of Royal Wolf Holdings established non-equity performance based
compensation for fiscal year 2017 for Mr. Littlewood under which 60% of his potential bonus was based on
Royal Wolf Holdings’ achievement of earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization and
after non-operating costs (“EBITDA”) goals, 25% on the deployment of man camp assets, 5% on the delivery of
a succession planning model, 5% on completion of acquisitions with targeted fleet metrics and 5% on achieving
utilization targets.

The Compensation Committee determines the structure and amount of all executive officer compensation,
including grants of equity and non-equity compensation, after receiving recommendations from management and
input from its independent compensation consultant, Semler Brossy.

The Compensation Committee believes the structure and implementation of the executive compensation
program in fiscal year 2017 implemented its compensation philosophies. Non-equity, performance-based
incentive compensation for fiscal year 2017, which set 53.3% of the potential annual bonus for our chief
executive officer, 40% of the potential bonus for our chief financial officer, 50% of our president and 50% of the
president of Pac-Van, Inc. was based upon achieving EBITDA. The remaining non-equity, performance-based
incentive compensation for these executives was based on the attainment of key performance indicators created
for each executive. The Compensation Committee believes this compensation program structure focuses the
executive team on increasing revenues and profitability, a key element of the Company’s business strategy. Other
non-financial objectives of performance-based incentive compensation of our chief executive officer and our
president included delivering the Company’s balance sheet, devoting time to developing the Company’s North
American operations, completing acquisitions, updating the Company’s strategic plan, further developing sales
and marketing programs and related goals, developing each subsidiary’s senior management and other goals. The
Compensation Committee believes that the compensation plans of Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. (“Lone Star”),
Pac-Van, Inc. (“Pac-Van”), Royal Wolf Holdings and Southern Frac, LLC (“Southern Frac”), and the risks taken
by their respective management teams to meet compensation plan goals, do not vary significantly between the
four businesses.

The Compensation Committee also believes that compensation plans and practices of the Company, Lone
Star, Pac-Van, Royal Wolf Holdings and Southern Frac do not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company. For fiscal year 2017, non-equity, performance-based compensation
goals established by the Compensation Committee were based upon a variety of metrics, which include EBITDA,
and key performance indicators. These objectives and metrics require executives to consider a variety of
operating results in pursuing their compensation goals. The Compensation Committee believes that the structure
of the non-equity, performance-based compensation emphasizes long-term results, thereby reducing the risk that
executives would take undue risk to achieve short-term goals. The Compensation Committee therefore believes
the structure of the compensation plans for annual bonuses and the vesting of equity awards stock do not create
risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.
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For the fiscal year 2017, the principal components of compensation for the principal executive officer, the
principal financial officer and the other three most highly compensated executive officers, or collectively the
Named Executive Officers, were:

1. Annual base salary;

2. Non-equity performance-based annual incentive compensation; and

3. Long-term equity incentive compensation.

Our Compensation Committee made all final compensation decisions for our Named Executive Officers for
fiscal year 2017, except for Mr. Littlewood for whom all final compensation decisions were made by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of Royal Wolf Holdings.

Elements of Compensation.

Base Salaries. Annual base salaries provide executive officers with a minimum level of cash compensation.
We establish base salaries at levels so that a significant portion of the total cash compensation such executives
can earn is performance-based (through annual incentive compensation). Base salaries are set based on factors, as
applicable, that include whether a salary level is competitive with comparable companies, the recommendations
of Mr. Valenta for the other Named Executive Officers and the business judgment of the members of the
Compensation Committee, as discussed further below.

Bonuses. Annual cash bonuses are designed to reward our executive officers, including each of the Named
Executive Officers and certain employees, for achievement of financial and operational goals and individual
performance objectives to enable us to meet long and short-term goals. In fiscal year 2017 the objectives related
to financial metrics, such as EBITDA goals, and the achievement of other corporate, operational and financial
goals. These goals and bonuses are determined annually at the discretion of the Compensation Committee in
consultation with Mr. Valenta as the Chief Executive Officer.

The Compensation Committee elected not to pay the portion of bonuses based on achieving EBITDA goals
to our chief executive officer, president and chief financial officer because the Company did not achieve its fiscal
year 2017 EBITDA goal. The president of Pac-Van, Inc., however, did receive a bonus based upon Pac-Van, Inc.
exceeding its fiscal year 2017 EBITDA goal. The Compensation Committee decided to pay a portion of the
annual cash bonuses for fiscal year 2017 performance was based upon the achievement of some of the
Company’s strategic goals by the Named Executive Officers and other officers. The Compensation Committee
determined that a portion of the fiscal year 2017 annual cash bonuses for each Named Executive Officer would
be paid based upon the achievement of some of the Company’s strategic goals; the Compensation used their
collective business judgment in making these decisions after assessing the achievement of those goals, the bonus
targets and the recommendations of Mr. Valenta. The Compensation Committee sets these goals after
considering a variety of factors. The Compensation Committee does not believe that the structure of the bonuses
or equity based compensation will require the executive officers to operate the Company’s businesses in ways or
using methods that will expose the Company to risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect
on the Company.

Equity-Based Compensation. Equity awards of stock options and restricted stock are long-term incentives
designed to reward long-term growth in the stockholder value. Stock option and restricted stock awards assist in
the retention of executives because they are not exercisable at the time of grant and achieve their maximum value
only if vesting conditions, which include performance goals and continued employment are met. Stock options
have value solely to the extent that the price of our common stock increases over the exercise price set as of the
date of grant. The Compensation Committee believes that our executive officers should have an incentive to
improve the Company’s performance by having an ongoing stake in the success of our business. The
Compensation Committee seeks to create this incentive by granting executive officers stock options and
restricted stock.
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Stock Option and Restricted Stock Grant Practices

Grants of stock options and restricted stock to all of our executive officers and other employees, including
the Named Executive Officers, must be approved by the Compensation Committee, which consists entirely of
independent directors. Grants occur only at meetings of the Compensation Committee and such grants are made
effective as of the date of the meeting or a future date, as in the case of the hiring of a new employee. Awards of
stock options and restricted stock are not timed in coordination with the release of material non-public
information. The exercise price of all stock options and restricted stock granted is equal to the closing market
price of our common shares on the date of grant so that the executive officer may not profit from the option
unless the price of our common shares increases.

The Compensation Committee determines stock option and restricted stock award levels in their discretion,
primarily based on the recommendations of Mr. Valenta, consideration of the importance of an individual’s
responsibilities and performance within the Company and equity awards at comparable companies.

Options and restricted stock granted by the Compensation Committee also are designed to help us retain
executive officers in that options and restricted stock are not exercisable at the time of grant, and achieve their
maximum value only if performance criteria are met or if the executive remains in the Company’s employ for a
period of years. All options and restricted stock granted to executive officers and employees in fiscal year 2017
vest ratably over three years based on continued employment. The Compensation Committee believes that these
vesting arrangements align the interests of option holders with stockholders by emphasizing a long-term view of
building stockholder value. The Compensation Committee also believes that multi-year vesting reduces the risks
that could arise from undertaking initiatives to realize annual EBITDA goals, such as through acquisitions or
capital expenditures, that could attain short-term goals while adversely effecting long-term stockholder value.

Grants of stock options and restricted stock under the 2009 Plan and the 2014 Plan are subject to the
recoupment provisions included in each plan which require each option holder to forfeit all or any portion of an
option grant and to reimburse the Company for all proceeds received from exercising stock options and restricted
stock if (i) payment, grant or vesting was predicated on the achievement of financial results that were
subsequently the subject of a material financial misstatement, (ii) the Board determines the award recipients
engaged in fraud or misconduct that caused or partially caused the material financial restatement of the Company
or any affiliate and (iii) a lower payment, award or vesting would have occurred based on the financial results.

Role of Executive Officers.

In general, Mr. Valenta attends all meetings of the Compensation Committee at which compensation of the
other Named Executive Officers or compensation policy is reviewed other than when his compensation is being
discussed. Mr. Valenta does not vote on items before the Compensation Committee. The Compensation
Committee and the Board solicit Mr. Valenta’s views on the performance of the executive officers who report to
him.

Compensation Surveys.

Each component of compensation we pay to our Named Executive Officers—salary, cash bonuses, stock
options and restricted stock—is based generally on the Committee’s assessment of each individual’s role and
responsibilities. Consideration of market rates is an additional factor reviewed by the Committee in determining
compensation levels. The Compensation Committee engaged Semler Brossy in fiscal year 2015 as its
compensation consultants to analyze the Company’s compensation program, to provide a benchmarking analysis
which compared the Company’s compensation program to industry peers and comparable companies and to
assist with the design and implementation of the Company’s compensation program.

The Compensation Committee also bases its payment of base salary and annual bonuses for Named
Executive Officers, other than the chief executive officer, on the attainment of objectives established by the
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Compensation Committee and based upon recommendations from Mr. Valenta. In establishing individual
bonuses for senior executives, the Compensation Committee considers growth in the enterprise value, common
stock price, EBITDA and other financial and corporate objectives, together with the executive officer’s
contribution to the Company’s growth and profitability.

Compensation of Executives

The Compensation Committee sets the base salaries, bonus and equity compensation for the Named
Executive Officers after consideration of benchmarking and other analyses from Semler Brossy, its independent
compensation consultant, and recommendations prepared by Mr. Valenta. Mr. Valenta used information relating
to each executive officer’s responsibilities and achievements in accomplishing the corporate objectives set by the
Compensation Committee for the previous year, his assessment of the individual performance of each Named
Executive Officer and to recommend to the Compensation Committee the annual incentive bonuses for each of
the other Named Executive Officers.

The implementation of the executive compensation program underlined our commitment to pay for
performance. Executives who achieved annual, long-term and strategic goals received compensation in
accordance with their compensation plans, while executives who failed to achieve their goals received
compensation corresponding to their performance.

In June 2017, the Compensation Committee considered the Company’s fiscal year 2017 revenues and
EBITDA and the recommendations of Mr. Valenta with respect to the individual performance of the other
Named Executive Officers and the payment of bonuses for fiscal year 2017. The Company did not meet its
EBITDA goal for fiscal year 2017, so the portion of the fiscal year 2017 bonus based upon EBITDA was not
paid, except in the case of the president of Pac-Van, Inc., because Pac-Van, Inc. exceeded its fiscal year 2017
EBITDA goal. The Compensation Committee considered the completion by the Named Executive Officers of
certain strategic and operational initiatives during fiscal year 2017 in awarding bonuses for fiscal year 2017.

Based on the review of the Compensation Committee and the consideration of Mr. Valenta’s
recommendations, Mr. Valenta’s received a bonus of $118,125 for fiscal year 2017. Mr. Valenta will retire as the
chief executive officer effective January 1, 2018.

Following its assessment of their completion of strategic and operational initiatives, the Compensation
Committee awarded cash bonuses for fiscal year 2017 to Mr. Barrantes of $80,000, to Mr. Miller of 125,000, to
Mr. Mourouzis of $125,000 and to Mr. Littlewood of $7,303. Mr. Barrantes, Mr. Miller, Mr. Mourouzis and
Mr. Littlewood received bonuses for the achievement of specific individual objectives, but no bonuses based on
EBITDA targets were awarded to Messrs. Barrantes, Miller or Littlewood.

Following its assessment of the completion of strategic and operational initiatives, the Compensation
Committee awarded a cash bonus to Mr. Barrantes equal to 64% of his target bonus based upon his completion of
his non-financial objectives: oversight of back office management complied with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
assisting with the closing of the refinancing of the North America senior credit facility, visiting field operations,
designing and implementing an enterprise financial management system, delivering presentations at investor
conferences and maintaining shareholder analysts who provided coverage of the Company.

Mr. Miller, our president, received a bonus equal to 50% of his target bonus based achieving non-financial
objectives: developing and mentoring the vice presidents of Lone Star and Southern Frac, sales and marketing
objectives, mentoring the senior management team of Pac-Van to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives and
full operational effectiveness, achieving information technology systems objectives, increasing North America
operations utilization, reducing stale inventory and implementing reporting and analytics to run the business
more effectively and to implement an enterprise financial management system.
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Mr. Mourouzis received a bonus equal to 96% of his target bonus based upon Pac-Van, Inc. exceeding its
fiscal year 2017 EBITDA goal and achieving other goals, including increasing utilization, reducing stale
inventory, accounts receivable collections, safety and capital expenditure management.

Mr. Littlewood’s bonus, the chief executive officer of Royal Wolf Holdings, received 3.8% of this target
bonus based upon the attainment of an individual goal of completing a detailed succession planning model.

The executive compensation program therefore reflected the Company’s compensation philosophies by
reducing executive compensation when the Company’s business goals were not met.

In June 2017, after consultation with Mr. Valenta, the Compensation Committee left unchanged fiscal year
2018 annual base salaries. The Compensation Committee determined that the corporate performance targets for
annual cash bonuses for fiscal year 2018 performance for each of the Named Executive Officers would be if the
Company achieves specific EBITDA goals and non-financial goals. The Committee believes that the goals, while
challenging, particularly in the current economic environment, are achievable. Neither the Committee nor
Mr. Valenta believe that the fiscal year 2018 goals will require the Named Executive Officers to take risks to
achieve their EBITDA goals that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Severance

Pursuant to separate employment agreements with Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes and Mr. Miller, we will make
severance payments equal to one year’s salary if such person’s employment is terminated by General Finance
without cause or by the employee for good cause, each as defined in their respective employment agreements.
Pursuant to employment agreements with Mr. Mourouzis and Mr. Littlewood, we will make a severance payment
equal to eight months’ and six months’ salary, respectively, if such person’s employment is terminated by their
respective employer without cause or by the employee for good cause, each as defined in their respective
employment agreements.

Each of these five employment agreements provide that each executive may be terminated for cause, and
General Finance would therefore not be required to pay severance equal to one year’s salary, if such executive
breaches his employment agreement, commits any act of personal dishonesty, fraud or breach of fiduciary duty
or trust, is convicted of or pleads guilty or no contest to any theft, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty or crime
involving moral turpitude or felony, committed acts which give rise to liability for discrimination or harassment,
violates directions from the Board or chief executive officer, acts in a manner that harms the reputation of the
Company, is found liable of violating securities or other laws, fails to advance or cooperate with any
investigation by the Company or misrepresents his experience or employment history.

Each of Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes, Miller and Mourouzis may terminate their employment for good reason
and receive severance equal to one year’s salary if the Company reduces their base salary, permanently relocates
their place of employment more than 40 miles from their current residence, hires a person to perform the job
functions currently performed by such executive or assigns such executive duties beneath the duties they
ordinarily perform.

We may also elect to pay six months’ compensation to Mr. Littlewood in lieu of providing six months’ prior
notice of termination of his employment.

Clawback Policy

In accordance with the Dodd-Frank, the Compensation Committee has adopted recoupment provisions in
the Company’s 2009 Plan, 2014 Stock Incentive Plan, the 2014 Restated Plan and in equity award agreements.
The Compensation Committee will adopt an amended clawback policy once the SEC has adopted final rules to
implement the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010.
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Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

Except for an expense allowance of $25,000 per year for Mr. Valenta and a car allowance of $650 per
month for Mr. Miller, we do not have programs in place to provide personal perquisites for our executive
officers. Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes and Mr. Miller participate in the medical and dental insurance of Lone Star
or Pac-Van at the expense of the Company. Messrs. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes, Miller and Mourouzis are also
eligible to participate in the 401(k) retirement plan of Pac-Van, Inc. Mr. Littlewood participates in the medical
and dental insurance of Royal Wolf, and Royal Wolf contributed to Mr. Allan’s retirement plan and contributes
to Mr. Littlewood’s retirement plan as required by Australian law. We do not have any other retirement plans
under which our executive officers may participate.

Tax & Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation—Code Section 162(m). Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code imposes a $1,000,000 limit on the annual deduction that may be claimed for compensation paid to each of
the chief executive officer and the three other highest paid employees of a publicly held corporation (other than
the chief financial officer). Certain performance-based compensation awarded under a plan approved by
stockholders is excluded from that limitation. Awards of stock options and our annual cash incentive awards are
designed in general to qualify for deduction as performance-based compensation. However, while the
Compensation Committee considers the tax deductibility of compensation, the Committee has and may approve
compensation that does not qualify for deductibility in circumstances it deems appropriate to promote varying
corporate goals.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. For the issuances of stock options, the Company follows the
fair value provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 718, Stock Compensation. FASB ASC Topic 718 requires recognition of employee share-based
compensation expense in the statements of income over the vesting period based on the fair value of the stock
option at the grant date. For a discussion of valuation assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts for
fiscal year 2017, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” and Note 9, “Equity Plans,” of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2017 Annual Report filed with the SEC on
September 8, 2017.

Report of the Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
contained in this Proxy Statement with management. Based on the Compensation Committee’s review of and the
discussions with management with respect to the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Compensation
Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy
Statement.

Respectfully Submitted,

Compensation Committee

Susan L. Harris (Chair)
William H. Baribault
James B. Roszak
Larry D. Tashjian
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table contains summary compensation information of the following executive officers, or our
“Named Executive Officers,” for fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus
Stock

Awards
Option

Awards(2)
All Other

Compensation(6) Total

Ronald F. Valenta 2017 $425,000 $118,125 $240,000 $ — $73,635 $ 856,760
Chief Executive Officer(4)(7) 2016 425,000 112,500 308,250 83,500 2,120 931,370

2015 425,000 125,000 354,250 149,000 2,340 1,055,590

Jody E. Miller 2017 $335,000 $125,000 $753,993 $ — $ 2,208 $1,216,201
President and CEO of GFN 2016 335,000 115,000 335,002 — 1,005 786,007
North America Leasing
Corporation(4)(5)

2015 — 170,000 160,001 — — 330,001

Charles E. Barrantes 2017 $280,000 $ 80,000 $ 72,000 $ 99,400 $50,782 $ 582,182
Chief Financial Officer and 2016 280,000 80,000 61,650 27,900 2,120 451,670
Executive Vice President(4)(7) 2015 280,000 60,000 81,750 41,500 2,340 465,590

Theodore M. Mourouzis 2017 $255,000 $125,000 $ — $ 60,200 $ 2,327 $ 442,527
Chief Executive Officer and
President of Pac-Van(4)

2016 250,000 104,000 — 76,000 2,158 432,158
2015 248,923 118,750 — 42,500 2,340 412,513

Neil R. Littlewood 2017 $365,128 $ 7,303 $139,819 $ — $ — $ 512,250
Chief Executive Officer, 2016 234,243 18,606 82,593 — — 335,442
Royal Wolf(1)(3) 2015 200,294 37,935 36,356 — — 274,585

(1) Australian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rates used were 0.76869 for fiscal year 2017, 0.74425 for fiscal
year 2016 and 0.7658 for fiscal year 2015.

(2) The amounts shown are derived from the amounts of compensation expense recognized by us relating to the
grants of stock options, as described in FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of valuation assumptions
used in the calculation of these amounts, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” and
Note 9, “Equity Plans,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the 2017 Annual
Report filed with the SEC on September 8, 2017.

(3) Stock awards represented compensation expense recognized for performance rights for Royal Wolf
Holdings (“RWH”) capital stock earned under the Royal Wolf Long Term Incentive Plan (“RWH LTI
Plan”), which was terminated subsequent to June 30, 2017. For a discussion of the RWH LTI Plan, see
Note 9 “Equity Plans” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2017 Annual
Report.

(4) Stock awards in fiscal year 2017, 2016 and 2015 represent non-vested equity shares, or restricted stock,
which value is computed by the number of shares granted times the closing market price of our common
stock on the date of grant.

(5) Jody Miller received a grant of 29,358 equity shares on June 15, 2015 at a value equal to the closing market
price of $5.45 per share at that date. He commenced receiving his base salary on July 1, 2015.

(6) All Other Compensation includes 401(k) plan contributions by the employer.
(7) All Other Compensation includes pay in lieu of vacation in fiscal year 2017 for Messrs. Valenta and

Barrantes of $71,515 and $48,463, respectively.
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Plan-Based Awards

The following table provides information concerning each grant of an award made to the Named Executive
Officers in fiscal year 2017 under the equity compensation plans.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name Grant Date

All Other
Option

Awards:
Number of
Securities

Underlying
Options (#)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards

($/Shares)

Grant Date
Fair Value
of Option

Awards ($)

All Other
Option

Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or
Units (#)

All Other
Option

Awards:
Number of
Securities

Underlying
Options (#)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($ Sh)

Grant Date
Fair Value
of Stock

and Option
Awards

($)

Ronald F. Valenta 6/13/2017 — $ — $ — 50,000 — $4.80 $240,000(1)

Charles E. Barrantes 2/7/2017 225,000 5.10 3.349146 — — — —
6/13/2017 — — — 15,000 — 4.80 72,000(1)

Jody E. Miller 10/12/2016 — — — 44,224 — 4.45 196,797(2)
2/7/2017 — — — 13,725 — 5.10 69,998(1)

6/13/2017 — — — 81,000 — 4.80 388,800(1)

(1) Amounts reflect the full grant date fair value of each non-vested equity, or restricted stock, award. The
number is calculated by multiplying the fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant by
the number of shares awarded. One-third of the restricted stock vests on each of the first three anniversaries
of the grant date based upon the Named Executive being employed by us on such dates. The shares of
restricted stock subject to these awards are entitled to receive dividends if and when and at the same rate
that would be paid to all of our common stockholders.

(2) Amounts reflect the full grant date fair value of each non-vested equity, or restricted stock, award. The
number is calculated by multiplying the fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant by
the number of shares awarded. One-half of the restricted stock vests on each of the first two anniversaries of
the grant date based upon the Named Executive being employed by us on such dates. The shares of
restricted stock subject to these awards are entitled to receive dividends if and when and at the same rate
that would be paid to all of our common stockholders.
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The following table provides information concerning outstanding equity awards as of June 30, 2017.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)

Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Unearned
Options (#)

Option
Exercise

Price
($/Sh)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock that
Have

Vested

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of
Stock

that Have
Vested
($)(2)

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock that
Have Not
Vested(5)

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of

Stock that
Have Not

Vested
($)(2)

Ronald F. Valenta 76,000 — — $1.06 9/15/2020 — — — $ —
80,000 — — 3.11 8/15/2021 — — — —
80,000 — — 3.15 6/7/2022 135,500 697,825 100,000 515,000

Charles E. Barrantes — 225,000(1) — 5.10 2/7/2027 — — — —
20,000 — — 1.28 1/26/2020 — — — —
28,500 — — 1.06 9/15/2020 — — — —
30,000 — — 3.00 6/23/2021 — — — —
30,000 — — 3.15 6/7/2022 — — — —
20,000 — — 4.43 6/7/2023 34,500 177,675 25,000 128,750

Jody E. Miller — — — — — 78,640 404,996 193,288 995,433

Theodore M. Mourouzis 80,000 — — 6.40 10/1/2018 — — — —
11,500 — — 1.06 9/15/2020 — — — —
27,000 — — 3.00 6/23/2021 — — — —
27,000 — — 3.15 6/7/2022 — — — —
20,000 — — 4.43 6/7/2023 — — — —

— 15,000(3) — 9.25 6/19/2024 — — — —
10,000 5,000(4) — 5.45 6/15/2025 — — — —
4,167 8,333(4) — 4.11 6/8/2026 14,500 74,675 — —

(1) These options vest in three equal annual installments on February 7 of each of 2018, 2019 and 2020 and
have a ten-year term.

(2) Market price assumes a price of $5.15 per share, the closing price for our common shares on June 30, 2017.
(3) These options vest in 39 months, subject to continued service with us, and have a ten-year term.
(4) These options vest in three equal installments from date of grant, subject to continued service with us, and

have a ten-year term.
(5) The non-vested stock equity, or restricted stock, vest in two-three equal installments from date of grant,

subject to continued service with us.

Employment Agreements

On February 11, 2009, we entered into an employment agreement with Ronald Valenta, under which he
agreed to serve to serve as our Chief Executive Officer. Under the employment agreement and base salary
increases approved by the Compensation Committee, Mr. Valenta received a base annual salary of $425,000
during fiscal year 2017 and is eligible to receive an annual bonus each fiscal year determined by the
Compensation Committee, provided he is employed on the last day of such year. We reimburse Mr. Valenta up to
$2,500 per month for a car allowance and health, dental, vision and supplemental disability premiums for
Mr. Valenta and his family. Mr. Valenta is entitled to a severance payment equal to one year’s salary if his
employment is terminated without cause, as defined in the employment agreement.

On September 11, 2006, we entered into an employment agreement with Charles E. Barrantes, under which
he agreed to serve as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Under the employment
agreement and base salary increases approved by the Compensation Committee, Mr. Barrantes received a base
annual salary of $280,000 during fiscal year 2017 and is eligible to receive an annual bonus each fiscal year
determined by the Compensation Committee, provided he is employed on the last day of such year. We
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reimburse Mr. Barrantes for health, dental, vision and supplemental disability premiums for himself and his
family. Mr. Barrantes is entitled to participate on the same basis in all offered benefits or programs as any other
employee. On June 30, 2009, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with
Mr. Barrantes that provides that Mr. Barrantes is entitled to a severance payment equal to one year’s salary if his
employment is terminated without cause, as defined in the employment agreement.

On June 1, 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Jody Miller, under which he agreed to
serve as our Executive Vice President. Under the employment agreement, Mr. Miller received a base annual
salary of $335,000 during fiscal year 2017, and is eligible to receive an annual bonus each fiscal year of up to
70% of his base salary, provided he is employed on the last day of such year. Mr. Miller is entitled to a severance
payment equal to one year’s salary if his employment is terminated without cause, as defined in the employment
agreement. We pay Mr. Miller an automobile allowance of $650 per month, and we reimburse Mr. Miller for
health, dental, vision and supplemental disability premiums for himself and his family. Mr. Miller is entitled to
participate on the same basis in all offered benefits or programs as any other employee.

In October 2010, Pac-Van, Inc. entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Mourouzis under he agreed
to serve as the President of Pac-Van, Inc. and which provided for a base salary of $175,000 per year and is
eligible to receive an annual bonus based on criteria developed by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Mourouzis
is entitled to eight months’ severance if his employment is terminated without cause, as defined in the
employment agreement.

Royal Wolf entered into an employment agreement with Neil Littlewood dated February 7, 2016. Under his
employment agreement Mr. Littlewood agreed to serve as the chief executive officer of Royal Wolf Holdings
commencing on July 1, 2016 until the agreement was terminated. The employment agreement provides that
Mr. Littlewood would be paid an annual base salary of A $475,000 (including superannuation contributions), an
annual discretionary bonus targeted at 40% of the annual base salary and long-term incentives in each fiscal year
targeted at 40% of the annual base salary. There is no severance or similar obligation to Mr. Littlewood under his
employment agreement except that Royal Wolf may pay six months’ compensation to Mr. Allan in lieu of
providing notice of termination of his employment as described above.

The employment agreements of Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes, Mr. Miller and Mr. Mourouzis will terminate
upon the date of their death or in the event of a physical or mental disability that renders either of them unable to
perform his duties for 60 consecutive days or 120 days in any twelve-month period. Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes,
Mr. Miller and Mr. Mourouzis may terminate their respective employment agreements at any time upon 30 days’
notice to us, and we may terminate these agreements at any time upon notice to Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes,
Mr. Miller and Mr. Mourouzis.

In approving the compensation of Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes, Mr. Miller and Mr. Mourouzis, the Board of
Directors (and for Mr. Littlewood, the Royal Wolf Remuneration Committee) reviewed information provided by
management regarding the compensation of comparable level officers of public companies, including companies
in the equipment leasing business. The Board and the Royal Wolf Remuneration Committee also considered the
size of the Company, the experience and prior compensation of Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes, Mr. Miller,
Mr. Mourouzis and Mr. Littlewood, and the scope of the services that each would be required to render
(particularly given the lack of support staff and the need to implement policies and procedures).

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control

The employment agreements of Mr. Valenta, Mr. Barrantes and Mr. Miller provide that each is entitled to a
lump sum severance payment of twelve months base salary if we terminate their employment without “cause” or
he terminates his employment for “good reason.” There is no similar obligation to Mr. Mourouzis or
Mr. Littlewood under their respective employment agreements following a change of control.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Effective January 31, 2008, we entered into a lease with an affiliate of Ronald F. Valenta for our corporate
headquarters in Pasadena, California. The rent is $7,393 per month, effective March 1, 2009, plus allocated
charges for common area maintenance, real property taxes and insurance, for approximately 3,000 square feet of
office space. The term of the lease is five years, with two five-year renewal options, and the rent is adjusted
yearly based on the consumer price index. On October 11, 2012, we exercised our option to renew the lease for
an additional five-year term commencing February 1, 2013. Rental payments were $110,000 in each of fiscal
year 2015 and fiscal year 2016 and $113,000 in fiscal year 2017.

The premises of Pac-Van’s Las Vegas branch are owned by and were leased from the acting branch
manager through December 31, 2016. From January 1, 2017 through May 12, 2017, the use of the premises was
rented from the acting branch manager on a month-to-month basis. Effective May 12, 2017, we entered into a
lease agreement through December 31, 2020 for rental of $10,876 per month and the right to extend the term of
the lease for three two-year options, with the monthly rental increasing at each option period from $11,420 to
$12,590 per month. Rental payments on these premises totaled $118,000 during fiscal year 2015 and fiscal year
2016 and $124,000 during fiscal year 2017.

We have not adopted a formal written policy regarding transactions with related persons. However, in
general, any such material transaction would require approval of the Board, with any interested director
abstaining.
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STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH DIRECTORS

Stockholders who want to communicate with the Board or any individual director should write to: Secretary,
General Finance Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103. The letter should indicate that
you are a stockholder of General Finance Corporation and set forth the number of shares you hold and how the
shares are held if they are not registered in your name. Depending upon the subject matter, the Secretary will:

• Forward the communication to the director or directors to whom it is addressed;

• Delegate the inquiry to management where it is a request for information about the Company or a
stock-related matter; or

• Not forward the communication, if it is primarily commercial in nature, or if it relates to an improper or
irrelevant topic, or is repetitive or redundant.

STOCKHOLDER RECOMMENDATIONS FOR BOARD NOMINEES

The Company’s Bylaws require that a stockholder’s notice of a person or persons the stockholder wishes to
nominate as director or submit a proposal for vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be delivered in
writing to the Company’s Secretary at 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103 not less than 60 days nor
more than 90 days prior to the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. If the Company does not
publicly disclose the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders at least 70 days prior to the date of the
meeting, a stockholder’s notice must be received by the Company’s Secretary not later than the close of business
on the 10th day following the day on which such notice of the date of meeting was mailed or such public
disclosure of such meeting was made.

We intend to hold our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in December 2018. As a result, if, for example,
we hold our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on December 6, 2018 and publicly disclose or notify
stockholders by mail of the date of the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders at least 100 days prior to
December 6, 2018, any notice given by a stockholder pursuant to these provisions of our Bylaws must be
received no earlier than September 7, 2018 and no later than October 7, 2018.

To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice must include the specified information concerning the proposal
or nominee as described in our Bylaws. A stockholder who wishes to submit a proposal or nomination is
encouraged to seek independent counsel about our Bylaws and legal requirements. The Company will not
consider any proposal or nomination that does not meet the requirements of the Company’s Bylaw and SEC
requirements for submitting a nomination.

Stockholders who pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act wish to present proposals for inclusion in
the proxy materials to be distributed in connection with our proxy statement for the 2018 annual meeting must
submit their proposals and proof of ownership of our common stock, in accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the
Exchange Act, to our corporate secretary at our principal executive offices no later than the close of business on
June 18, 2018 (120 days prior to the anniversary of this year’s mailing date). To be in proper form a
stockholder’s notice must include the specified information concerning the nominee or proposal required by our
Bylaws. Any nomination or proposal which is not in the proper form or which is not submitted on a timely basis,
as described above, will not be considered by the Company to be included in our proxy statement. The Company
reserves the right to exclude any proposal that does not comply with these or other applicable requirements.
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OTHER MATTERS

Management does not know of any matters to be presented to the Annual Meeting other than those set forth
above. However, if other matters properly come before the Annual Meeting, it is the intention of the persons
named in the accompanying proxy to vote said proxy in accordance with the recommendation of the Board and
authority to do so is included in the proxy.

AVAILABILITY OF ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

We will furnish without charge a copy of our 2017 Annual Report, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, including the financial statements and financial statement schedule thereto, to any
stockholder who so requests by writing to: Secretary, General Finance Corporation, 39 East Union Street,
Pasadena, California 91103.

The 2017 Annual Report is not incorporated into this proxy statement and is not to be considered to be a
part of our proxy solicitation materials.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Christopher A. Wilson
General Counsel, Vice President and Secretary

Dated: October 16, 2017
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ANNEX A

First Amendment to
General Finance Corporation

Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan

Section 3 of the General Finance Corporation Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan is
hereby amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:

3. Shares Subject to the Plan. Subject to Section 13 below, there shall be available for issuance under the
Plan an aggregate of 2,500,000 Shares of Company Stock. The Shares deliverable pursuant to Awards shall be
authorized, but unissued Shares, or Shares that the Company otherwise holds in treasury or in trust. In addition,
any Shares that for any reason will never be issued to a Participant or Beneficiary pursuant to an Award (for
example, due to settlement of the Award in cash rather than in Shares, or the Award’s forfeiture, cancellation or
expiration) will again be available for future Awards. Further, and to the extent permitted under Applicable
Laws, the maximum number of Shares available for delivery under the Plan shall not be reduced by any Shares
issued under the Plan through the settlement, assumption, or substitution of outstanding awards or obligations to
grant future awards as a condition of the Company’s or an Affiliate’s acquiring another entity. For purposes of
clarity, Shares that are tendered or withheld in payment of all or part of the exercise price of an Award or in
satisfaction of the Withholding Taxes, and Shares that are reacquired with cash tendered in payment of the
exercise price of an Award, shall not be included in or added to the number of Shares available for issuance
under the Plan.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the documents incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 

contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, referred to in this n

Annual Report on Form 10-K as the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, referred to in 

this Annual Report on Form 10-K as the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause 

results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may

include, without limitation, statements relating to our plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions and are intended to be

made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Some of the forward-looking 

statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” 

“seek,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates” or other comparable terms. A aa number of important factors could cause actualtt

results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties discussed in “Risk Factors” should 

be considered in evaluating our forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update or 

revise any forward-looking statements. 
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PART I

Item 1.  Business 

References to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” refer to General Finance Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GFN”), and 
its consolidated subsidiaries. These subsidiaries include GFN U.S. Australasia Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“GFN U.S.”); 
GFN Insurance Corporation, an Arizona corporation (“GFNI”); GFN North America Leasing Corporation, a Delaware corporation
(“GFNNA Leasing”); GFN North America Corp., a Delaware corporation (“GFNNA”); GFN Realty Company, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“GFNRC”); GFN Manufacturing Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GFNMC”), and its subsidiary, 
Southern Frac, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (collectively “Southern Frac”); GFN Asia Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd, an
Australian corporation (“GFNAPH”), and its subsidiary, GFN Asia Pacific Finance Pty Ltd, an Australian corporation (“GFNAPF”);
Royal Wolf Holdings Limited, an Australian corporation (“RWH”), and its Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries (collectively,
“Royal Wolf”); Pac-Van, Inc., an Indiana corporation, and its Canadian subsidiary, PV Acquisition Corp., an Alberta corporation
(collectively “Pac-Van”); and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Lone Star”).

Overview 

Founded in 2005, we are a leading specialty rental services company offering portable storage, modular space and liquid 
containment solutions, with a diverse and expanding lease fleet of 80,712 units as of June 30, 2017. Our 87 branch locations across
North America and the Asia-Pacific offer a wide range of portable storage units, including our core 20-feet and 40-feet steel containers,
office container, mobile office and modular space products and steel tanks that provide our customers a flexible, cost-effective and 
convenient way to meet their temporary storage and space needs. Our units are easily customized to satisfy our customers’ specific
application needs and include numerous value-added components. We provide our storage solutions to a diverse base of over 
44,000 customers across a broad range of industries, including the commercial, construction, transportation, industrial, energy,
manufacturing, mining, retail, education and government sectors. Our customers utilize our storage and space units for a wide variety of 
applications, including the temporary storage of materials, supplies, equipment, retail merchandise inventories, documents and liquid 
storage and for office use.

We focus on leasing rather than selling our units. Approximately 65% of our total non-manufacturing revenues for the year 
ended June 30, 2017 (“FY 2017”) were derived from leasing activities. We believe our business model is compelling because it is
driven by lease fleet assets that:

generate a recurring revenue stream with average lease durations of over 12 months; 
possess long useful lives of 20 to 30 years with high residual values;
return the original equipment cost through revenue within four years on average;r
operate at high lease fleet utilization levels, historit cally between 70% and 85%; 
require low maintenance expenditures; and 
earn attractive margins. 

Our lease fleet is comprised of three distinct specialty rentf al equipment categories that possess attractive asset characteristics and 
serve our customers’ on-site temporary needs and applications. These categories match the sectors we serve and which we collectively 
refer to as the “portable services industry”—portable (or mobile) storage, modular space and liquid containment. 

Our portable storage category is segmented into two products: (1) storage containers, which primarily consist of new and used 
steel shipping containers under International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) standards, that provide a flexible, low cost 
alternative to warehousing, while offering greater security, convenience and immediate accessibility; and (2) freight containers, which
are either designed for transport of products by road and rail and are only offered in our Asia-Pacific territory. 

Our modular space category is segmented into three products: (1) office containers, which are referred to as portable container
buildings in the Asia-Pacific, are either modified or specifically manufactured containers that provide self-contained office space with
maximum design flexibility. Office containers in the United States are oftentimes referred to as ground level offices (“GLOs”);
(2) modular buildings, which provide customers with flexible space solutions and are often modified to customer specifications and 
(3) mobile offices, which are re-locatable units with aluminum or wood exteriors and wood (or str eel) frames on a steel carriage fitted 
with axles, and which allow for an assortment of “add-ons” to provide convenient temporary space solutions.

Our liquid containment category includes portable liquid storage tanks that are manufactured 500-barrel capacity steel containers
with fixed axles for transport. These units can be utilized for a variety of applications across a wide range of industries, including 
refinery, petrochemical and industrial plant maintenance, oil and gas services, environmental remediation and field services, 
infrastructure building construction, marine services, pipeline construction and maintenance, tank terminal services, waste management, 
wastewater treatment and landfill services.
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Summary Organization Chart (1) (2)y g

(1) Summary organization chart is illustrative and does not reflect our legal operating structure.

(2) Reflects consolidated revenues for FY 2017.

(3) We will be acquiring the 49.0% noncontrolling interest during the first half of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 (“FY 2018”). Reference is made to Note 13

of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion. 

Industry Overview

We compete in three distinct, but related, sectors of the specialty rental services industry: portable storage, modular space and 

liquid containment, which we refer to collectively as the “portable services industry.” 

Portable Storage 

The storage industry includes two principal markets, fixed self-storage and portable storage. ff The fixed self-storage market 

consists of permanent structures located away from customer locations used primarily by consumers to temporarily store excessr

household goods. We do not participate in the fixed self-storage market with permanent structures. The portable storage market, in 

which we primarily operate, differs from the fixed self-storage market in that it brings the storage solution to the customer’s location

and addresses the need for secure, temporary storage with immediate access to the storage unit. The advantages of portable storage 

include convenience, immediate accessibility, improved security and lower costs. In contrast to fixed self-storage, the portable storage 

market is primarily used by businesses and offers a flexible, secure, cost-effective and convenient alternative to constructing permanent 

warehouse space or storing items at an offsite facility. A broad range of industries, including the construction, industrial, commercial,

retail and government sectors, utilize portable storage equipment to meet both their short-term and permanent storage needs. 

The portable storage industry is fragmented in each of our geographic markets, with numerous participants in local markets

leasing and selling portable storage units. While we are not aware of any published third-party analysis of either the Asia-Pacific or 

North American portable storage markets, we believe the portable storage sector has experienced steady growth since the 1990s and isaa

achieving increased market share compared to other storage alternatives because of an increasing awareness of the benefits that portablet

storage units offer, including the availability, convenience, security and cost benefits of portable storage, as well as an increasing 

number of new applications for portable storage units.

Modular Space

Modular space solutions, including modular buildings, mobile offices and portable container buildings, are used primarily by 

businesses to address either temporary or permanent space needs. We believe modular space delivers four core benefits compared to 

permanent buildings or structures: reusability, timely solutions, lower costs and flexibility. Modular buildings may offer customers

significant cost savings over permanent construction and can generally be installed more quickly because site work and fabrication 
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can take place concurrently. In addition, modular solutions are not site specific and can be configured in a number of ways to meet 

multiple needs. Finally, modular buildings are reusable and will generally serve a wide variety of uses during their life span. A variety 

of industries utilize modular space solutions, including construction, resources, government, education, retail and special events, among 

others. 

The Modular Building Institute, in its 2017 Relocatable Buildings Annual Data Report, estimated that the North American 

modular space (or relocatable) sector generated approximately $4.0 billion in annual revenue. The sector has experienced growth over 

the last thirty plus years as the number of applications for modular space has expanded and recognition of the product’s positive 

attributes has grown. By outsourcing their space needs, customers are able to achieve flexibility, preserve capital for core operations,

and convert fixed costs into variable costs. The IBIS World Industry Report published in October 2016 estimated that the portable 

container buildings market in Australia generated revenue of AUS$2.0 billion ($1.5 billion), of which approximately AUS$1.3 billion 

($1.0 billion) related to the markets in which we offer a competing product. We believe that we are well positioned to benefit from any 

growth in the North American and Asia-Pacific modular space markets.

We expect that the modular space market will grow over the long-term, driven in part by increasing awareness of the advantages

of modular space. Additionally, we believe that the advantages of modular space over permanent buildings and structures of reusability, 

timely solutions, lower costs, and flexibility are highly valued in many of the end markets we serve. We further believe the increased 

penetration of modular space solutions in additional end markets will also continue to drive market growth. 

Liquid Containment 

Portable liquid storage tank containers are used in environmental and industrial applications to temporarily store hazardous and 

nonhazardous liquids and semi-solids. The tanks are used by customers across a wide variety of end markets, including chemical,

refinery and industrial plant maintenance, environmental remediation, infrastructure building construction, marine services, oil and gas 

exploration and field services, pipeline construction and maintenance, tank terminal services, wastewater treatment and waste

management and landfill services. Liquid containment end market demand is recurring and is driven by the non-discretionary nature of 

required customer maintenance cycles, an increasing enforcement of existing environmental regulations, a growing outsourcing of

liquid containment solutions and an increasing level of vendor consolidation. We believe that the rental industry in the U.S. for liquid ff

containment equipment is fragmented and generated approximately $1.4 billion of annual rental revenues in 2013 – 2014 but, as a result a

of the decline in oil and gas prices during the latter part of our year ended June 30, 2015, the size of the liquid containment sector hast

contracted. While this is a relatively new product line for our North American leasing operations, we believe that over time we can 

leverage our branch network, existing relationships and operating philosophies to successfully compete in this sector. Our research

indicated that many of the companies that used containment solutions also used portable storage and mobile office products. 

Competitive Strengths 

Leading Provider with Strong Presence in Served Marketsg

We believe we are a leading provider of portable storage, modular space and liquid containment solutions in all of the territories

we serve. In North America, Pac-Van is a recognized national provider of portable storage, modular buildings and mobile offices on a

national, regional and local basis. Lone Star is a market leader in portable liquid storage tank rental and related services in the Permian n

Basin in West Texas and the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas. In the Asia-Pacific area, we believe Royal Wolf is the leading provider 

in Australia and New Zealand of portable storage containers, portable container buildings and freight containers. Royal Wolf is

represented in all major metropolitan areas, and we believe it maintains the largest branch network and container fleet, with an 

estimated 37% market share, of any storage container company in Australia and New Zealand. 

Superior Service Focus

Our operating infrastructure in each of our markets is designed to ensure that wer  consistently meet or exceed customer 

expectations. Our scalable management information systems and administrative support services enhance our customer service 

capabilities by enabling our operating management teams to access real time information on product availability, customer reservations, 

customer usage history and rates on a national, regional and local level. We believe these capabilities enable us to provide superior uu

customer service, allowing us to attract new and retain existing customers. With the goal of delivering “best in class” customer service, 

we began collecting customer responses on net promoter scores (“NPS”) in North America at Pac-Van which track customer 

willingness to recommend our products and services, and for FY 2017 our customers gave us a NPS of 85%, which we believe is the

leading score in our sector. In FY 2017, we began collecting customer responses on NPS in the Asia Pacific at Royal Wolf and our uu

customers there gave us a NPS of 61%. In addition, over 85% of our consolidated total leasing revenues in FY 2017 were derived from 

repeat customers, which we believe is a result of our superior customer service. 
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Extensive Reach and Capabilities 

Through our expansive branch network of 87 locations, we maintain national service capabilities in our markets. In North

America, our branches serve 47 of the top 100 U.S. Metropolitan Statistical Areas, or MSAs. With our expansion into Alberta and

British Columbia, we are now also able to serve the western provinces in Canada. Our Lone Star branches are strategically positioned to 

be able to respond quickly and maximize service opportunities with customers in the Permian Basin and Eagle Ford Shale. We also

have branch offices located in every state in Australia and on both the North and South Islands of New Zealand. We are the only

portable storage container company in these Asia-Pacific markets with a national infrastructure and workforce.

Geographic, Product and End Market Diversification

Our specialty rental units are used in a wide variety of applications, and we have established strong relationships with a

diversified customer base in both our North American and Asia-Pacific venues. Our customers range from large companies with a 

national presence to small local businesses. On a consolidated basis, during FY 2016 we served over 44,000 customers in over 20

industries. In FY 2017, our largest customer in each venue accounted for less than 3% of the respective venue’s revenues and our 20 

largest customers in each venue accounted for less than 30% of the respective venue’s revenues. We believe that the breadth of our 

products and services limits the impact of changes within any given customer or industry. 

High Quality Fleet with Attractive Asset Characteristics

Our branch offices maintain our lease fleet to consistent quality standards. Maintenance costs are expensed as incurred and 

branch managers and operations staff are responsible for managing a maintenance program aimed at providing equipment to customers

that meets or exceeds customer expectations and industry standards. All of our lease fleet carries signage reflecting its respective 

brands, which is important to ongoing name recognition in our markets. Our lease fleet possesses aa attractive asset characteristics,

including long economic useful lives with high residual values, predictable and recurring revenue streams, low maintenance expense, 

rapid payback periods, high incremental leasing margins and favorable tax attributes. We believe these characteristics allow us to 

generate high returns on invested capital relative to other rental services sectors and a level of discretion in investing this capital.

Experienced Management Team

We believe our management team’s experience and long tenure with our company and within the industry give us a strong 

competitive advantage. Our current senior executive management team, led by our Chief Executive Officer, Ronald F. Valenta, who has

been with us since our inception, has successfully entered new markets, expanded our customer base and integrated a number of 

meaningful acquisitions. He will step down as Chief Executive Officer and assume the title of Executive Chairman of the Board in

January 2018. Jody Miller, who became President in January 2017, will become our Chief Executive Officer in January 2018 and has 

been Chief Executive Officer of GFNNA Leasing since June 2015. He has spent over 25 years in the equipment rental industry. 

Neil Littlewood, who became Chief Executive Officer of Royal Wolf in July 2016, has over 13 years of senior experience in theff

rental/hire industry and Pac-Van’s Chief Executive Officer and President, Theodore M. Mourouzis, joined Pac-Van in 1997 and has

been integral to our successful growth in North America. 

Lone Star’s management team has extensive experience in the oil and gas industry and emphasizes safety training and 

monitoring for all employees.

Our senior management, as well as corporate, regional and branch managers across all of our operating companies, has been 

integral in developing and maintaining our high level of customer service, deploying technology to improve operational efficiencies and 

successfully integrating acquisitions. 

Business Strategy 

Our business strategy consists of the following:

Focus on High Margin Core Leasing Business 

We focus on growing our core leasing business because it provides recurring revenues from specialty rental assets that (1) have

long useful lives of over 20 years; (2) generate rapid payback of unit investment through revenue in less than four years on average; and 

(3) have high residual values of up to 70% of original equipment cost. We have successfully increased leasing revenues as a
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percentage of our consolidated non-manufacturing revenues from 29% in fiscal year 2007 to 65% for FY 2017. We believe that we can 

continue to generate substantial demand for our leasing products as the industry is still relatively underdeveloped in our markets,

particularly in the Asia-Pacific region. With new uses for our products continually emerging, we believe many more applications for 

our specialty rental solutions are still yet to be developed.

Generate Organic Growth

We define organic growth as an increase in lease revenues on a year-over-year basis at our branches in operation for at least one

year, excluding leasing revenue attributed to same-market acquisitions. We continue to focus on increasing the number of our lease fleet 

units. We believe that our high quality lease fleet and superior customer service enable us to increase our lease rates and utilization rates

over time. We generate organic growth within our existing markets through sales and marketing programs designed to increase brand

recognition, expand market awareness of the uses of our specialty rental units and differentiate our products from our competitors.

Leverage Our Infrastructure 

Our branch network infrastructure covers a broad geographic area and is capable of serving significant additional customer 

volume while incurring a minimal amount of incremental fixed costs. With our established branch network and infrastructure we 

generate significant adjusted earnings before interest, income taxes, impairment, depreciation and amortization and other non-operating

costs and income (“Adjusted EBITDA”) margins on incremental units deployed. Our objective is to add volume by organically growing 

the lease fleet across our locations and through strategic acquisitions. Asset purchases of “tuck-in” competitors and adding new units to 

our fleet allow us to more effectively leverage our infrastructure. Between June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2017, our lease fleet grff ew from 

approximately 16,000 units to over 80,000 units, representing a 18% compound annual growth rate, and our Adjusted EBITDA margin

expanded from 17% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 to 22% in FY 2017. 

Opportunistically Enter New Geographic Markets 

We believe a long-term opportunity exists for us to significantly expand the size of our branch network in North America by 

opening up to 30 new locations in attractive markets. Additionally, we expect to open select satellite branch locations in our Asia-

Pacific territory to expand our service reach to attractive but more remote areas of Australia and New Zealand. 

Pursue Select Strategic Acquisitions

Acquisitions represent an attractive means for us to further leverage our infrastructure, add complementary product lines, enter 

new geographic regions and accelerate our growth and margin expansion opportunities. We operate in fragmented industries, and we

seek to identify acquisition candidates that we believe would be earnings accretive. We have a proven integration model that we have 

effectively used to integrate 44 acquisitions since May 31, 2007.

Continue New Product Innovation 

We have a history of developing innovative new product concepts to better service our customers’ needs. Our in-house capabilities and 

third party modification capabilities allow us to customize units to meet customer specifications. We have introduced many new 

product innovations, including temporary prison holding cells, hoarding units, blast-resistant units, workforce living accommodations,

temporary retail frontage units and observatory units customized from storage containers. In the Asia-Pacific area we offer over 100 

container-based designs for the portable services industry. We believe these innovative new product offerings differentiate us in the 

market. 

Products and Services 

Portable Storage 

Our portable storage products primarily consist of steel storage containers and freight containers. Storage containers are steel 

structures, which are generally eight feet wide and eight and one-half feet high; and are built to ISO standards for carrying ocean cargo. 

They typically vary in size from 10 feet to 48 feet in length, with 20-foot and 40-foot length containers being the most common. Storage 

containers consist of new and used shipping containers that provide a flexible, low cost alternative to warehousing, while offering

greater security, convenience and immediate accessibility. Storage containers include general purpose dry storage, refrigerated and d

specialty containers in a range of standard and modified sizes, designs and capacities. Specialty containers include blast-resistant, 

hoarding and hazardous waste units. 
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Our freight containers are specifically designed for transport of products by road and rail, and include curtain-side, refrigerated and bulk 

cargo containers, together with a range of standard and industry-specific dry freight containers. Freight container products are only

offered in our Asia-Pacific territory. These products are designed for long useful lives. A portion of our fleet consists of usd ed storage

containers of eight to thirteen years in age, a time at which their useful life as ocean-going shipping containers is over according to the

standards promulgated by the ISO. Because we do not have the same stacking and strength requirements that apply in the ocean-going 

shipping industry, we have no need for these containers to meet ISO standards. We purchase thest e containers in large quantities,

refurbish them by removing any rust and paint them with a rust inhibiting paint, and further customize them, and add our decalst  and 

branding. 

Modular Space

Our modular space products include office container products, modular buildings and mobile offices. Our office container 

products (portable building containers and office containers, or GLOs) are either modified or r specifically-manufactured containers that 

provide secure and convenient office space with maximum design flexibility. Floor plans can either be all office space, with features

similar to those found in mobile offices, or a combination of office and storage space. Due to their construction, office containers 

provide greater security than traditional field offices, and since they sit at ground level they do not require stairs for entry and exit. rr

Modular buildings are factory-built, highly customizable portable structures constructed for diverse applications, ranging from schoolsm

to restaurants to medical offices and ranging in size from 1,000 to over 30,000 square feet. Mobile offices are factory built, single-unit 

structures that are re-locatable and used primarily for temporary office space. Mobile offices are generally built on frames that are 

connected to axles and wheels and have either a fixed or removable hitch for easy transportation. Mobile offices can be equipped with 

HVAC systems, lighting, electrical wiring, phone jacks, desk tops, shelving and other features normally associated with basic office 

space. Mobile offices generally have wood siding, carpeting, high ceilings, custom windows and glass storefront doors, which provide a

professional, customer-friendly building in which to conduct business. In addition to offering modular buildings for rent, in the Asia-tt

Pacific area, we also provide customers with the ability to customize buildings using our in-house engineering team. 

Liquid Containment 

Our liquid containment products, primarily portable liquid storage tanks, are manufactured steel containers with fixed steel axles

and rear wheels for transport designed to hold liquids and semi-solids. Our product line currently focuses on 500-barrel capacity steel

tanks, but also includes acid, gas buster, oil test tanks and various specially-built tanks. Products typically include features such as

guardrails, safety stairways, multiple entry ways, a sloped bottom for easy cleaning, an epoxy lining and various feed and drain lines. A

number of value-added services are offered with liquid containment products, including transportation, on-site setup and the servicing 

of equipment 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
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The tables below provide details of our lease fleet by product category and unit types at June 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015; and for

FY 2017, the year ended June 30, 2016 (“FY 2016”) and the year ended June 30, 2015 (“FY 2015”). 

FY 2017

Product

Category Unit Type Description Industry Applications

Number of Units as

of June 30, 2017

Average

Monthly Lease Rate

Average

Utilization

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

Storage

Containers

Dry storage,

refrigerated 

and 

specialty 

containers

Classroom equipment storage, 

Construction equipment and tool 

storage, Disaster shelters, 

Landscaping sheds, Recreational 

equipment storage, Retail 

inventory storage

51,528 $121 A$139 75% 86%

Freight

Containers

Dry freight,

curtain-

side, 

refrigerated, 

bulk cargo

containers

Freight transportation 8,272 NA A$135 NA 70%

Office

Containers

Storage 

containers, 

modified to

include

office space

General administrative office 

space, Military installations, 

Workforce living accommodations,

Bank branches,

Classrooms /Education,

Construction offices, Daycare 

facilities, Dormitories, General

administrative office space, 

Healthcare facilities, Rental

facilities, Retail space, Shelters

11,157 $321 A$268 78% 74%

Modular

Buildings

Portable

structures 

used for a

variety 

of 

applications

1,167 $774 NA 81% NA

Mobile

Offices

Relocatable

wood-

framed 

temporary 

office space

4,491 $282 NA 78% NA

Portable

Liquid

Storage

Tanks

Steel tanks,

acid tanks,

gas buster

tanks and 

oil test 

tanks

Well-site liquid containment needs,

Expansion / upgrade projects,

Highway

construction/Groundwater sewage,

Infrastructure projects, Major 

industrial projects, Mining pit 

pump work, Municipal sewer and 

water projects, Non-residential

construction projects, Pipeline

construction and maintenance,

Refinery turnarounds

4,097 $533 NA 48% NA
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FY 2016

Product

Category Unit Type Description Industry Applications

Number of Units as

of June 30, 2016

Average

Monthly Lease Rate

Average

Utilization

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

Storage

Containers

SEE PRECEDING CHART

50,276 $121 A$139 74% 85%

Freight

Containers 8,868 NA A$132 NA 70%

Office

Containers
9,673 $317 A$308 80% 70%

Modular

Buildings 1,142 $772 NA 81% NA

Mobile

Offices 4,590 $278 NA 76% NA

Portable

Liquid

Storage

Tanks

4,056 $699 NA 43% NA
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FY 2015

Product

Category Unit Type Description Industry Applications

Number of Units as

of June 30, 2015

Average

Monthly Lease Rate

Average

Utilization

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

North

America

Asia-

Pacific

Storage
Containers

SEE PRECEDING CHART

45,757 $114 A$141 76% 86%

Freight
Containers 9,128 NA A$129 NA 72%

Office
Containers 8,115 $299 A$479 85% 75%

Modular
Buildings 1,139 $770 NA 79% NA

Mobile
Offices 4,690 $259 NA 75% NA

Portable
Liquid
Storage
Tanks

4,027 $1,314 NA 71% NA

Ancillary Products and Services

We deliver and, where necessary, install our products directly on customers’ premises. These services are either provided by our 
in-house personnel and transportation equipment or outsourced to third parties. We also provide ancillary products such as steps, ramps, 
furniture, portable toilets, security systems, shelving, mud pumps, hoses, splitter valves, tee connectors and other items to our customers 
for their use in connection with leased equipment. In addition, with our liquid containment products, a variety of spill prevention and nn
secondary containment products are rented to our customers to ensure compliance with the Environmental Protection Agency’s Spill
Prevention, Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) rule/regulations. Spill containment systems, or berms, are designed to protect against 
leaks or spills by covering the land under a steel tank with an impermeable plastic that has barrier walls. In the case of a spill, the liquid 
is captured within the containment system, thereby limiting danger to the environment.

In response to the reduced demand of its portable liquid storage tanks, our North American manufacturing operations began
manufacturing a variety of other steel-based products during FY 2016, including: 

Chassis
Storm Shelters 
Blast-Resistant Modules 
Specialty Tanks 

Designed for transporting containers safely on the road, the chassis are made with high quality components, are fully 
customizable and all chassis sales are backed with both a five year limited warranty on axles as well as a five year warranty on 
workmanship.
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Storm shelters are designed for above ground installation, thereby protecting homeowners from a natural disaster. The shelters 

come in two different wall designs (corrugated or smooth) and in two different standard sizes. Custom sizes are also available to

accommodate specific needs. All storm shelters are Texas Tech Wind Institute Certified and compliant with ICC 500 2014 and FEMA

361. 

Blast resistant modules, designed to protect individuals and materials from external explosions, come in three standard sizes of 8 

by 20 feet, 8 by 40 feet and 12 by 40 feet. All modules have an 8 PSI blast rating and can be fabricated with a ballistic rating upon

request.

Specialty tanks consist primarily of portable fuel tanks and tanks used in the agriculture industry to store chemicals. In particular, 

portable fuel tanks allow the end user to work more efficiently and can reduce costs by accessing fleet fuel on the job site. Specialty 

tanks are manufactured similar to liquid containment tanks for the oil and gas industry using a structural steel understructure. 

Sales

We complement our core leasing business by selling existing lease fleet assets or assets purchased specifically for resale. The

sale of lease fleet units has historically been a cost effective method of replenishing and upgrading the lease fleet. We also provide

additional services when selling units. These services range from delivery to full scale turnkey solutions. In a turnkey solution, we 

provide not only the underlying equipment but also a full range of project related services, which may include foundation, specialty 

interior finishes, and landscaping, as may be necessary to make the equipment fully operational for the customer.

Product Lives and Durability

Our portable storage, modular space and liquid containment units have long estimated useful lives of 20-30 years. The age of our 

rental equipment, which can be a key price factor in some rental businesses, has only a modest impact on rental rates. This high value

retention is due to the fact that our lease fleet units have virtually no technology obsolescence risk, do not possess engines, have few 

moving parts, have low maintenance requirements and are used in non-destructive applications, all differentiating characteristics from 

many other classes of rental equipment. 

Ongoing maintenance to our fleet is performed on an as-needed basis and is intended to maintain the value and rental-ready

condition of our units. Maintenance requirements on portable storage units can include removing rust and dents, patching small holes,

repairing floors, painting and replacing seals around the doors. Maintenance requirements for modular space units can include repairs of 

floors, doors, air conditioning units, windows, roofs and electric wiring. Maintenance requirements for liquid containment units include

cleaning the unit to eliminate any residual material and inspecting the lining. Maintenance is performed by in-house fleet technicians 

and third-party vendors, depending on the branch and complexity of the work. Maintenance and repair costs of our lease fleet are

included as direct costs of leasing operations and expensed as incurred whether performed by in house technicians or by third party 

vendors. We believe our maintenance program ensures a high quality fleet that supports both leasing and sales operations.

Our lease fleet units are recorded at cost and depreciated on the straight-line basis, in accordance with accounting principlesd

generally accepted in the United States, up to 20 years after the date they are put in service, down to their estimated residual values.

Because we have a history of selling units for gains, we believe our lease fleet’s estimated residual value is at or below net realizable

value.

Geographic Network 

Our service locations are segmented into two operating areas: North America and Asia-Pacific. In North America, these service 

locations are called branches and in our Asia-Pacific area they are referred to as Customer Service Centers, or “CSCs.” Our Northrr

American branch network consists of 52 branch locations in the United States and three in Canada, and our Asia-Pacific network 

consists of 21 CSCs in Australia and 11 in New Zealand.

Our network enables us to maintain product availability and provide customer service within regional and local markets.

Customers benefit because they are provided with improved service availability, reduced time tod  occupancy, better access to sales

representatives, the ability to inspect units prior to rental and lower freight costs. We, in turn, benefit because we are able to spread 

regional overhead and marketing costs over a large lease base, redeploy units within our network to optimize utilization, discourage

potential competitors by providing ample local supply and service local customers in a more cost efficient manner. Through our 

network, we develop local market knowledge and strong customer relationships while our corporate-based marketing group manages 

our brand image, web presence and lead generation programs.
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The following maps show our existing branch and CSC locations as of June 30, 2017. 

North America

Asia-Pacific

In North America, branch offices are generally headed by a branch manager and are organized into four regions, which are

managed by four regional vice presidents each with more than 15 years of experience in the industry. In addition to a branch manager,aa

each branch may also have its own sales force. We are introducing a transportation department that will deliver and pick up lease fleet 

units from customers in certain remote areas. Branch managers are integral to our success and performance-based incentive bonuses are 

a portion of their compensation. 

Our two Lone Star branch locations allow us to be near our customers’ production and drilling sites. In addition to benefitting

from greater product availability and timely service, these branch locations enable many of our customers to realize lower transportation 

costs, which is a significant value proposition as they aim to control costs. These locations are managed by a general manager working

closely with the organization’s Department of Transportation (“DOT”) compliance and safety officer. Each location also has a 

superintendent that oversees the operations and yard foremen, who are responsible for the drivers and mechanics. 

Asia-Pacific 

We believe that our Asia-Pacific CSC network is the largest of any storage container company f in Australia and New Zealand,

and management estimates that we have approximately 37% market share in the region. We are represented in all major metropolitan 

areas and are the only container leasing and sales company with a nationally integrated infrastructure and workforce. A typical CSC 

consists of a leased site of approximately two to five acres with a sales office, forklifts and all-weather container repair workshop.
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CSC office staffing ranges from two to 15 people and include a branch manager supported by the appropriate level of sales, operations

and administrative personnel. Yard and workshop staffing usually ranges between one and 12 people and can consist of welders, spray 

painters, boilermakers, forklift drivers and production supervisors. CSC inventory usually ranges between 150 and 700 storage

containers at any one time, depending on market size and throughput demand. Each CSC has a branch manager who has overall 

supervisory responsibility for all activities of the CSC. Branch managers report to one of our State Managers for Australia and Salesd

Managers (North and South Islands) for New Zealand who in turn report to an Executive General Manager who reports to the CEO.

Performance-based incentive bonuses are a portion of the compensation for the CSC, State, Island and branch managers. Each branch 

has its own sales force, forklifts to load, transport and unload units and a storage yard staff responsible for unloading and stacking units. 

Steel units can be stored by stacking them three-high to maximize usable ground area. Our larger branches also have a fleet 

maintenance department to make modifications to the containers and maintain the branch’s forklifts and other equipment. Our smaller 

branches perform preventative maintenance tasks and outsource major repairs. 

We lease all of our branch locations and Royal Wolf’s corporate and administrative offices in Hornsby, New South Wales. All of 

our major leased properties have remaining lease terms of up to 22 years and we believe that satisfactory alternative properties can be

found in all of our markets, if we do not renew these existing leased properties. 

Reference is made to “Item 2. Properties” for a more detailed description of our geographic locations. 

Customers and End Markets 

We have a diverse customer base consisting of over 44,000 customers, who operate in a broad variety of over 20 industries in our uu

North American and Asia-Pacific venues. Our customers consist of large national corporations, as well as many local companies and

organizations. As a result, in each venue no customer contributed more than 3% of the respective venue’s FY 2017 revenues. Our end 

markets include construction, commercial, transportation, industrial, energy, manufacturing, mining, retail, education and government. 

We believe the end market and geographic diversification of our customer base reduces the business exposure to a significant dor wnturn 

in any particular industry or geography. 

The diversity for our leasing operations is depicted in the following charts showing total revenue breakdown by end markets for

FY 2017: 
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The following provides an overview of the end markets served by our leasing operations:

Construction - general contractors, residential homebuilders and subcontractors
Industrial - industrial and manufacturing customers including a broad array of manufacturers, telecommunications, 
distribution, utilities, refuse, recycling and bottling companies
Commercial - businesses that provide service to both commercial businesses and individual consumers, including
wholesalers, health care facilities, veterinary offices, entertainment companies and religious institutions 
Oil & Gas and Mining - Customers in specific sectors of the extractive industries
Government - federal agencies, state and local governments, fire departments, correctional institutions, and the
U.S. military 
Retail - large national chains, small local stores, shopping centers and restaurants
Education - public schools, private schools and day care facilities
Consumer – mass market of individuals or groups, not businesses, such as families, sporting teams and community 
groups in the Asia-Pacific area
Moving & Transportation - freight providers for primarily road and rail transport in the Asia-Pacific area 
Other - all other customers 

We differentiate ourselves from competitors in several ways. In our portable storage and modular space businesses, we provide a
diverse set of competitively priced products and, in our Asia-Pacific market, we leverage our engineering team to provide customized 
units upon customer request. In our liquid containment business, we leverage long-standing customer relationships and not only provide
liquid containment units, but also bundle units with transportation, on-site set-up, and the servicing of equipment 24 hours a day, 7 days
a week. Our customer-centric approach is designed to ensure that our businesses consistently meet or exceed customer expectations. We
believe this focus on customer service attracts new and retains existing customers. With the goal of delivering “best in class” customer 
service, we began collecting customer responses on net promoter scores (“NPS”) in North America at Pac-Van during FY 2015, which
track customer willingness to recommend our products and services, and from October 2014 to June 2015 our customers gave us a NPS
of 82%. In FY 2016 and FY 2017, our customers gave us a NPS of 83% and 85%, respectively. In FY 2017, we began collecting
customer responses on NPS in the Asia Pacific at Royal Wolf and our customers there gave us a NPS of 61%. In addition, over 85% of 
our consolidated total leasing revenues in FY 2017 were derived from repeat customers, which we believe is a result of our superior 
customer service. 

Sales and Marketing 

In North America, members of our sales teams act as primary customer service representatives and are responsible for fielding
calls, obtaining credit applications, quoting prices, following up on quotes and handling orders. Our sales teams are responsible for 
developing and managing local relationships, as well as handling both inbound and outbound calls. They also assist customers in
defining their space needs, assess potential opportunities, quote deals, close transactions and obtain the necessary documentation. Upon
completing a lease or a sale, the sales team works closely with the local branch operations team to ensure that customer expectations are 
met or exceeded, relative to equipment quality and delivery timing. Our marketing group is primarily responsible for advertising
campaigns, producing company literature, creating promotional sales tools and oversight of customer relationship management systems. 
We market services through a number of promotional vehicles, including the internet, signage on our equipment, telemarketing, 
targeted mailings, trade shows and advertising in publications. We believe this approach to marketing is consistent with the local nature 
of our business and allows each branch to employ a customized marketing plan that fosta ers growth within its particular market. We 
provide ongoing training to our sales teams, monitor call quality and survey our customers to ensure that customer interactions meet our 
quality and service standards. Our lease fleet carries signage reflecting our brands, which is important to ongoing name recogna ition. 

Our sales and marketing strategy in the Asia-Pacific is designed to reach thousands of potential customers. Communication with
potential customers is predominantly generated through a combination of internal advertising and search engine optimization (or SEO),r
print media advertising, telemarketing, web-site, customer referrals, signage and decal awareness, direct mail, television and radio. The 
customer hiring or buying process is being driven by customer awareness of the products combined with price shopping. We believe 
that while a typical customer may shop a limited number of suppliers, the customer does not spend much time doing so because the 
potential cost savings is relatively low compared to the value of their time. Our goals are to be one of the suppliers that potential
customers call and to make the experience as easy as possible for that customer. 
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Fleet Management and Information Systems 

Fleet Management 

Fleet information is updated daily at the branch level, which provides management with the ability to monitor branch operations

on a daily, weekly, monthly and ad hoc basis with on-line access to utilization, leasing and sale fleet unit levels and revenues by branch

or geographic region. In managing our fleet, we regularly relocate containers between branches to meet changes in regional demand and aa

optimize inventory levels. We have close relationships with the national road and rail hauling companies that enable us to transport the

majority of containers interstate at attractive rates. 

Ongoing maintenance to our North American leasing fleet is performed on an as-needed basis and is intended to maintain theff

value and rental-ready condition of our units. We use both in-house fleet technicians and third-party vendors to perform maintenance, 

depending on the branch and complexity of the work. Maintenance requirements on containers are generally minor and include 

removing rust and dents, patching small holes, repairing floors, painting and replacing seals around the doors. Maintenance 

requirements for container offices, mobile offices and modular buildings tend to be more significant than for storage equipment and t

may involve repairs of floors, doors, air conditioning units, windows, roofs and electric wiring. Portable liquid storage tanks require 

simple maintenance, including cleaning the unit to eliminate any residual material and inspecting and repairing the lining, if needed. 

Whether performed by us or a third party, the cost of maintenance and repair of our lease fleet is included as direct costs of leasing 

operations and is expensed as incurred. We believe our maintenance program ensures a high quality fleet that supports both leasing and 

sales operations. 

In the Asia-Pacific, most of our fleet is comprised of new and refurbished and customized storage containers, manufactured steel

containers and record storage units, along with our freight and accommodation units. These products are designed for long useful lives.

A portion of our fleet consists of used storage containers of eight to thirteen years in age, a time at which their useful life as ocean-going

shipping containers is over according to the standards promulgated by ISO. Because we do not have the same stacking and strength 

requirements that apply in the ocean-going shipping industry, we have no need for these containers to meet ISO standards. We purchaseuu

these containers in large quantities, refurbish them by removing any rust and paint them with a rust inhibiting paint, further customize 

them and add our decals and branding. We maintain our steel containers on a regular basis by painting them on average once every 

three to five years, removing rust, spot welding and occasionally replacing the wooden floor or other parts. This periodic maintenance 

keeps the container in good condition and is designed to maintain the unit’s value and rental rates comparable to new units. 

Information Systems

We utilize management information systems across each of our businesses to support fleet management and targeted marketing 

efforts, and we believe they are tailored to satisfactorily meet each of our businesses’ specific needs for efficient operation.

In our North American portable storage and modular space business, we utilize the Microsoft Dynamics NAV, or Navision,

software at all of our branches to monitor operations at branches on a daily, weekly, monthly and ad hoc basis. Lease fleet informationff

is updated daily at the branch level and verified through routine physical inventories by branch personnel, providing management with

online access to utilization, lease fleet unit detail and rental revenues by branch and geographic region. In addition, an electronic file for 

each unit showing its lease history and current location and status rr is maintained in the information system. Branch salespeople utilize 

the system to obtain information regarding unit condition and availability. The database tracks individual units by serial number and 

provides comprehensive information including cost, condition and other financial and unit specific information. In FY 2016 we

upgraded our Navision platform to the current version and installed a new rental module called Armada. In FY 2018 we intend on 

adding a business intelligence corporate performance management software package to our information system platform. 

In our Asia-Pacific portable storage and modular space businesses, our management information systems, including Armada,

Navision and TCM, are scalable and provide us with critical information to manage our business. Utilizing our systems, we track a 

number of key operating and financial metrics including utilization, lease rates, profitability, customer trends and fleet data. All our 

branches use RMI/Navision and our support office provides financial, inventory and customer reports for branch managers. In FY 2017, 

we upgraded our Navision platform in the Asia-Pacific to the current version and replaced RMI with a new rental module called 

Armada. 

Our North American manufacturing business utilizes the enterprise resource planning (ERP) business system, SyteLine, which

provides comprehensive functionality, including order processing, inventory, purchasing, planning and scheduling, production, cost 

management, project tracking, accounting and customer service.
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Product Procurement

North America 

Our North American leasing operations closely monitor fleet capital expenditures, which include fleet purchases and any

capitalized improvements to existing units. Pac-Van’s top four suppliers of units for FY 2017 represented approximately 40% of all 

fleet purchases and the top ten suppliers represented approximately 66% of all fleet purchases. We purchase our Pac-Van lease fleet ff

from a network of third-party suppliers. All of our mobile offices are built by an established network of manufacturing partners to

standard specifications, which may vary depending on regional preferences. In addition, we build these units to meet state building code 

requirements and generally obtain multi-state certificates enabling us to move equipment among our branch network to meet changing 

demand and supply conditions. Like mobile offices, we procure modular buildings from an established network of manufacturing

partners to meet state building requirements and generally obtain multiple state certificates for each unit.

On October 1, 2012, we acquired 90% of the membership interests of Southern Frac. Southern Frac manufactures primarily

portable liquid storage containers in Waxahachie, Texas for oil and gas exploration and production, but it can also manufacture for, 

among others, the chemical and industrial, environmental remediation, waste water treatment and waste management sectors. During

FY 2016, Southern Frac introduced other high-quality steel-based products, including container chassis, under the name “Southern rr

Fabrication Specialties.”

Our North American leasing operations has historically purchased its tank fleet from several manufacturers but expects Southern

Frac to be its primary supplier of steel tanks going forward. However, if needed, we have an established network of steel tank 

manufacturing partners located throughout the United States. Lone Star purchases its other containment solutions, pumps and hoses 

from a network of other manufacturing providers. 

We believe that Southern Frac will continue to provide a substantial portion of the portable liquid storage containers 

requirements to our North American leasing operations, including a portion of their GLO requirements, as well as generate leasing

referrals. 

Capital investments are adjusted to match business needs and to respond to changing economic conditions. We do not generally

enter into long-term purchase contracts with manufacturers, and we can modify our capital investment activities in response to market 

conditions. Our North American leasing operations supplement fleet spending with acquisitions. Although the timing and amount of 

acquisitions are difficult to predict, management considers its acquisition strategy to be opportunistic and attempts to adjust its fleet 

spending patterns as favorable acquisition opportunities become available. 

Asia-Pacific 

In the Asia-Pacific area, we purchase marine cargo containers from a wide variety of international shipping lines and container

leasing companies and new container products directly from storage container manufacturers in China. We believe we are the largest 

buyer of both new and used storage container products for the Australia and New Zealand markets. The majority of used storage 

containers purchased are standard 20-foot and 40-foot units which we convert, refurbish or customize. We purchase new storage

container products in the Asia-Pacific area under purchase orders issued to container manufacturers, which the manufacturers matt y or 

may not accept or be able to fill. There are several alternative sources of supply for storage containers. Though we are not dependent 

upon any one manufacturer in purchasing storage container products, if one or more suppliers did not timely fill our purchase orders or 

did not properly manufacture the ordered products, our reputation and financial condition also could be harmed. The top four suppliersuu

represented approximately 74% of all fleet purchases during FY 2017. 

Competition 

Portable Storage

The portable storage markets in North America, Australia and New Zealand are highly fragmented. In most locations within its 

markets, Pac-Van and Royal Wolf compete with several national and regional competitors. Our largest competitors in the portable

storage sector in North America are Mobile Mini, Algeco Scotsman, McGrath RentCorp, Haulaway, Allied Leasing, Eagle Leasing and

National Trailer Storage. We believe we are the market share leader in Australia and New Zealand. Our primary competitors in these 

markets include CGM-CMA Group, and the SCF Group (Simply Containers) as well as smaller, full and part-time operators. Local

competitors are regionally focused, and are usually more capital-constrained. Therefore, in general, they are heavily reliant on monthly 

sales performance, have slow growing rental fleets and have limited ability to handle larger volume contracts or customer accounts. Weuu

believe that participants in this sector compete on the basis of customer relationships, price,f service, as well as breadth and quality of d

equipment offered. 
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Modular Space

The modular space sector is highly competitive in each of the markets in which we compete. Our largest North American

competitors, ModSpace, Williams Scotsman (Algeco Scotsman), Mobile Modular (McGrath RentCorp) and Mobile Mini have greater 

market share or product availability in some markets, as well as greater financial resources and pricing flexibility. Other regaa ional 

competitors include Acton Mobile, Vanguard Modular, Design Space and Satellite Shelters. In the Australian portable container 

buildings market, Royal Wolf maintains a small presence and competes primarily with three large participants who manufacture their 

own units and most of whom offer units for both lease and sale to customers. These competitors are Coates Hire, Atco Structures &

Logistics and Ausco Modular (Algeco Scotsman). We believe we compete on the basis of service, quality, customer relationships and 

price. We believe that our reputation for customer service and a wide selection of units allow us to compete effectively. The major 

barrier to entry for new participants is the degree of market penetration necessary to create a wide profile with contractors and clients.aa

Penetrating and competing with the range of products and number of depots and agencies offered by incumbent operators tend to inhibit 

new entrants. As we already maintain a national sale and distribution network, established supply channels and a strong profile in our 

target markets, many of the barriers to entry applicable to other new entrants are not applicable to us.

Liquid Containment 

The liquid containment sector is highly competitive. We compete in this sector based upon product availability, product quality,

price, service and reliability. As with the other industries we serve, the competition consists of national, regional and local companies.

Some of the national competitors, notably BakerCorp, Rain For Rent and Adler Tanks (McGrath RentCorp), have significantly larget r 

tank lease fleet and may have greater financial and marketing resources, more established relationships and greater name recognition in

the market than we do. As a result, the competitors with these advantages may be better able to attract customers and provide their tt

products and services at lower rental rates. t

Employees

As of June 30, 2017, we had a total of 771 employees. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement 

and management believes its relationship with employees is good. We have never experienced any material labor disruption and are 

unaware of any efforts or plan to organize our employees. The employee groups are as follows: 

North America     Asia-Pacific    

Leasing Manufacturing     Corporate    Leasing

Corporate executive — — 5 — 

Regional executive and administrative staff 52 10 2 19  

Senior and branch management 56 — — 30  

Sales and marketing 81 — — 78 

Branch operations and administration 277 — — 120 

Manufacturing — 41 — —  

466 51 7 247  
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Executive Officers of the Registrant 

The following information is provided as of June 30, 2017 regarding our executive officers. No family relationship exists 

between any executive officer. 

Name Age  Position

Ronald F. Valenta 58 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Presidentff

Jody Miller 50 President and Chief Executive Officer of GFN North America Leasing

Corporation

Charles E. Barrantes 65 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Christopher A. Wilson 50 General Counsel, Vice President and Secretary

Jeffrey A. Kluckman 56 Executive Vice President, Business Development

Neil Littlewood 56 Chief Executive Officer of Royal Wolf Holdings Limited

Theodore Mourouzis 54 Chief Executive Officer and President of Pac-Van, Inc.

Ronald F. Valenta has served as a director and as our Chief Executive Officer since our inception and Chairman of the Board 

since June 2014. He will step down as Chief Executive Officer and assume the title of Executive Chairman of the Board in January rr

2018. From 1988 to 2003, Mr. Valenta served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Mobile Services Group, Inc., a portable

storage company he founded. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Valenta was a director of the National Portable Storage Association, a storage 

industry non-profit organization that he co-founded. From 1985 to 1989, Mr. Valenta was a Senior Vice President of Public Storage, 

Inc. From 1980 to 1985, Mr. Valenta was employed by the accounting firm of Arthur Andersen & Co. in Los Angeles. 

Jody Miller became our President in January 2017 and will become our Chief Executive Officer in January 2018. He has been

our Executive Vice President and the Chief Executive Officer of GFN North America Leasing Corporation since June 2015. Prior to

joining us, Mr. Miller spent over 25 years in the equipment rental industry, including at Mobile Mini, Inc. as Executive Vice President

and Chief Operations Officer for five years, Mobile Services Group, Inc. as Senior Vice President for five years, and RSC Holdings, 

Inc. as Regional Vice President for seven years. Prior to that, he worked in smaller rental businesses in various leadership roles.

Mr. Miller is a 1990 graduate of Central Missouri State University.

Charles E. Barrantes has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since September 2006. Prior to

joining us, Mr. Barrantes was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for Royce Medical Company from early 2005 to its sale ff in late

2005. From 1999 to early 2005, he was Chief Financial Officer of Earl Scheib, Inc., a public company that operated over 100 retail 

paint and body shops. Mr. Barrantes has over 35 years of experience in accounting and finance, starting with more than a decade with 

Arthur Andersen & Co.

Christopher A. Wilson has served as our General Counsel, Vice President and Secretary since December 2007. Prior to joining 

us, Mr. Wilson was the general counsel and assistant secretary of Mobile Services Group, Inc. from February 2002 to December 2007. 

Mr. Wilson practiced corporate law as an associate at Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP from 1998 to February 2002. Mr. Wilson 

graduated with a B.A. from Duke University in 1989 and a J.D. from Loyola Law School of Los Angeles in 1993. 

Jeffrey A. Kluckman became our Executive Vice President, Business Development in September 2011. Prior to joining us, among

other things, he held the role of vice president of mergers and acquisitions for portable storage solutions provider Mobile Mini, Inc. and, 

earlier, similar positions with Mobile Services Group, Inc., which was acquired by Mobile Mini in 2008, and RSC Equipment Rental, 

Inc. In his near 20-year background in the rental services sector, including the mobile storage, modular space and equipment rental 

industries, Mr. Kluckman successfully completed more than 145 transactions. Mr. Kluckman received an accounting degree from

Northern Illinois University. 

Neil Littlewood became Chief Executive Officer of Royal Wolf in July 2016. He joined Royal Wolf in March 2013 in the role of 

Executive General Manager, North East. Neil has over 13 years of senior experience in the rental/hire industry including executive roles

at Coates Hire and Australian Temporary Fencing. Prior to this, Neil spent 20 years as an Army Officer including being in charge of 

recruiting for the Australian Army and retiring as Lieutenant Colonel. He is a graduate of the Royal Military College Duntroon and 

holds a Bachelor of Arts and Masters in Management from the University of New South Wales. 
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Theodore Mourouzis became Chief Executive Officer of Pac-Van, Inc. in April 2017 and has served as its President since August 

2006. He previously served as its Chief Operating Officer since 1999 and as its Vice President of Finance from 1997 until 1999. Prior to 

his employment with Pac-Van, Mr. Mourouzis was a controller for a 3M joint venture, served four years in management consulting

with Deloitte & Touche, and was president of a picture framing distributor and the chief financial officer of its holding company. Heaa

received his undergraduate degree from Stanford University in 1985 and a Masters of Business Administration from The Wharton 

School of the University of Pennsylvania in 1991. 

Trademarks 

North America 

We own trademarks important to our North American leasing operations, including Pac-Van®, “We’ve Put Thousands of U.S.

Businesses In Space®,” “Expect More. We’ll Deliver®” and the “Container King” logo in Canada. Material trademarks are registered in

the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Registrations for such trademarks in the U.S. will last indefinitely as long as we continue to use nn

and maintain the trademarks and renew filings with the applicable governmental offices. 

Asia-Pacific 

We entered into a licensing agreement with Triton Corporation in May 2008 for the use of the “Royal Wolf” name and trademark 

in connection with its retail sales and leasing of intermodal cargo containers and other container applications in the domestic storage

market within Australia and New Zealand and surrounding islands in the Pacific Islands region. We paid Triton Corporation $740,000 

to license the trademark. The license will continue in perpetuity as long as Royal Wolf continues to use the “Royal Wolf” name and 

trademark as the exclusive name for its business and mark for its products, subject to the termination provisions of the license. The 

license may be terminated by the licensor upon 30 days notice in the event Royal Wolf breaches its obligations under the license and 

will terminate automatically if Royal Wolf becomes insolvent or ceases to sell products under r the trademark for a continuous period of 

30 months. GFN sold the “Royal Wolf” name and trademark to Royal Wolf in May 2011 in connection with the Australian initial public

offering of Royal Wolf Holdings Limited. There are no claims pending against Royal Wolf challenging its right to use the “Royal

Wolf” name and trade mark within Royal Wolf’s region of business.

Available information 

Our Internet website address is www.generalfinance.com. This reference to our Internet website does not incorporate by

reference the information contained on or hyperlinked from our Internet website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such 

information should not be considered part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Internet websites for Royal Wolf, Pac-Van, Lone

Star and Southern Frac (Southern Fabrication Specialties) arerr www.royalwolf.com.au, www.pacvan.com, www.lonestartank.com and 

www.southernfrac.com (www.southernfabricationspecialties.com), respectively. We are required to file Annual Reports on Form 10-K 

and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on a regular basis and are required to

disclose certain material events in a current report on Form 8-K. The public may read and obtain a copy of any materials we file with 

the SEC through our Internet website noted above, which is hyperlinked to the SEC’s Internet website that contains reports, proxy and

information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s Internet website is

located at http://www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, you should consider the risks described below that we 
believe may be material to investors in evaluating us. This section contains forward-looking statements, and in considering these
statements, you should refer to the qualifications and limitations on our forward-looking statements that are described in SAFE
HARBOR STATEMENT before the beginning of Item 1. 

Economic conditions and global capital and credit market disruptions may adversely affect our business, financial condition and

results of operations. 

An economic slowdown in the United States and/or globally, including reduced oil or gas prices and non-residential construction
spending, would adversely affect our business. Worsening conditions could adversely affect, among other things, the collection of our 
trade receivables on a timely basis, resulting in additional reserves for uncollectible accounts; and, in the event of continued contraction 
in product sales and leasing, could lead to a build-up of inventory and lease fleet levels and a decline in revenues. In addition, we
engage in borrowing and repayment activities under our revolving credit facilities on an almost daily basis and have not had anynn
disruption in our ability to access our revolving credit facilities as needed. However, disruptions in the global capital and credit markets, 
such as those that occurred in the global financial crisis durn ing the latter part of the past decade, could increase the likelit hood that one or 
more of our lenders may be unable to honor its commitments under our revolving credit facilities, which could have an adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We operate with a significant amount of indebtedness, borrowed primarily under senior secured credit facilities, which include 

various restrictions, including liens on all or substantially all of our assets, varill able interest rates and contains restrictive covenants. 

Our substantial indebtedness could have adverse consequences, such as:

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, which could 
reduce the availability of our cash flow to fund future operating capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general
corporate purposes;
expose us to the risk of increases in interest rates, as our borrowings on our secured senior credit facilities are at variable rates
of interest;
require us to sell assets to reduce indebtedness or influence our decisions about whether to do so;r
increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; 
limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;
prohibit us from making strategic acquisitions or pursuing business opportunities; and 
limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenants in our indebtedness, among other things, our ability to borrow 
additional funds. 

Violating covenants in these agreements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations; including substantially increasing our cost of borrowing and restricting our future operations, if not cured or waived. In
addition, the lenders may be able to terminate any commitments they had made to supply us with further funds. Accordingly, we may 
not be able to fully repay our debt obligations, if some or all of our debt obligations are accelerated upon an event of default.

Our senior credit agreements also contain various restrictive covenants that limit the operations of our business. Among other 
things, these agreements include covenants and restrictions relating to: 

payments and distributions to GFN; 
liens, loans and investments;
debt and hedging arrangements; 
mergers, acquisitions and asset sales;
transactions with affiliates; and 
changes in business activities. 

In addition, we may incur substantial debt to complete business combinations. The incurrence of debt could result in:

default and foreclosure on our assets if our operating revenues after a business combination are insufficient to repay our debt
obligations;
our immediate payment of all principal and accrued interest, if any, if the debt security is payable on demand; and 
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our inability to obtain necessary additional financing if the agreements governing such indebtedness restrict our ability to
obtain such financing while the debt instrument is outstanding. 

The amount our North American leasing operations can borrow under its senior credit agreement depends in part on the value of 
its lease fleet. If the value of the lease fleet declines under appraisals our lenders receive, the amount we can borrow will decline by a 
similar amount. Several covenants with our lenders are affected by changes in the value of the lease fleet. We would be in breach of 
certain of these covenants if the value of the North American lease fleet drops below specified levels. If this happens, we may not be y
able to borrow the amounts we need to expand our business both organically and through acquisitions, make payments and distributions 
to GFN, and we may be forced to liquidate a portion of our existing fleet.

While we believe we will remain in compliance with the covenants in agreements governing such indebtedness in the foreseeable 
future and that our relationships with our senior lenders are good, there is no assurance our lenders would consent to an amendment or dd
waiver in the event of noncompliance; or that such consent would not be conditioned upon the receipt of a cash payment, revisedu
principal payout terms, increased interest rates or restrictions in the expansion of the credit facilitief s for the foreseeable future; or that 
our senior lenders would not exercise rights that would be available to them, including, among other things, demanding payment of 
outstanding borrowings. In addition, our ability to obtain additional capital or alternative borrowing arrangements at reasonable rates
may be adversely affected. All or any of these adverse events would further limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to downturns
in our business. 

See also the significant risks related primarily to our 9.00% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock (the 
“Series C Preferred Shares” or “Series C Preferred Stock”) and our 8.125% Senior Notes Due 2021 (the “Senior Notes”). In addition, 
reference is made to Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding our indebtedness. 

Demand for a substantial portion of our lease fleet and manufacturing products in North America is, to a significant degree, 

dependent on the levels of expenditures and drilling activity by the oil and gas industry and can fluctuate significantly in a ll short 

period of time. A substantial or an extended decline in oil and gas prices could result in lower expenditures and reduced drilling byll

the oil and gas industry, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cashff  flows.

Demand for a substantial portion of our lease fleet and manufacturing products in North America depends, to a significant
degree, on the level of expenditures by the oil and gas industry for the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas tt
reserves and can fluctuate significantly in a short period of time. These expenditures are generally dependent on numerous factors and 
events over which we have no control, including the industry’s view of current and future oil and natural gas prices, future economic 
growth and the resulting impact on demand for oil and natural gas. Declines, as well as anticipated declines, in oil and gas prices could 
result in the reduction of drilling activity, project modifications, delays or cancellations, general business disruptions and delays in 
payment of, or nonpayment of, amounts that are owed to us. The oil and gas industry has historically experienced volatile prices for oil
and gas and periodic downturns, which have been characterized by diminished demand for oilfield services and downward pressure on
vendor prices charged. A significant and/or extended downturn in the oil and gas industry could result in a reduction in demand for our d
products, specifically our portable liquid containment products and services in North America, reduce the amounts we are able to
borrow under our senior secured credit facilities and could adversely affect our finaff ncial condition, results of operations and cash flows. d

Changes in regulatory, or governmental, oversight of hydraulic fracturing could materially adversely affect the demand for our rr

portable liquid containment products. 

Oil and gas exploration and extraction (including the use of tanks for hydraulic fracturing of gas and oil shale) are subject to
numerous local, state and federal regulations. The hydraulic fracturing method of extraction has come under scrutiny in several states
and by the federal government due to the potential adverse effects that hydraulic fracturing, and the liquids and chemicals used, may
have on water quality and public health. In addition, the disposal of wastewater from the hydraulic fracturing process into injection 
wells may be proven to increase the rate of seismic activity near drill sites and could result in regulatory changes, delays or interruption r
of future activity. Changes in these regulations could limit, interrupt or stop exploration and extraction activities, which would 
negatively impact the demand for our portable liquid containment products and services in North America. 

We may need additional capital which we may be unable to obtain. 

Our business is capital intensive and any inability to obtain capital in the amounts and at the times when needed, may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, including substantially increasing our cost of 
borrowing and restricting our future operations and impairing our ability to grow, improve and 
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maintain our leased assets. We have a significant amount of our outstanding senior indebtedness maturing in the foreseeable future. Wett

may not have sufficient cash flow from our operations to repay amounts coming due. If we are unable to refinance this indebtedness, it 

could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Declines in demand for our products and services could also lead to increased borrowings and reduced collateral values which

could lower the amounts we can borrow under our senior credit facilities; which could, in turn, restrict our ability to grow our business. 

We are subject to fluctuations in the rates of exchanges in the translation of our foreign operations into the U.S dollar for financial ff

reporting purposes.

Fluctuations in the rates of exchange for the U.S. dollar against the Australian, New Zealand and Canadian dollars could

significantly affect our results of operations through lower than anticipated reported revenues and profitability as a result of the

translation of our foreign operations’ financial results into U.S. dollars.

A write-off of all or a part of our goodwill and intangibles would hurt our operating results and reduce our stockholders’ equity. 

As a result of our acquisitions, we have recorded significant amounts of goodwill and intangible assets. Goodwill represents the

excess of the total purchase price of these acquisitions over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We are not permitted to amortize 

goodwill under U.S. accounting standards and, instead, we review goodwill (as well as intangible assets) for impairment. Impairment 

may result from, among other things, deterioration in the performance of acquired businesses, adverse market conditions and adverse

changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of tht e acquired business. In the event impairment 

is identified, a charge to earnings would be recorded. Although it does not affect our cash flow, a write-off of all or a part of our 

goodwill or intangibles would adversely affect our operating results and equity. 

Reference is made to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding goodwill and 

intangible assets. 

Future acquisitions of businesses and greenfield expansions could subject us to additional business, operating and industry risks, 

the impact of which cannot presently be evaluated, and which could adversely impact our capital structure. ll

We intend to pursue acquisition opportunities and greenfield expansions in an effort to diversify our investments and grow our 

business. Any business we acquire may cause us to be affected by numerous risks inherent in the target’s business operations. If we

acquire a business in an industry characterized by a high level of risk, we may be affected by the currently unascertainable risks of that 

industry. Although we will endeavor to evaluate the risks inherent in a particular industry or target business, we cannot assure that we

will be able to properly ascertain or assess all of the significant risk factors. 

In addition, the financing of any acquisition we complete could adversely impact our capital structure as any such financing 

would likely include the borrowing of additional funds and/or the issuance of additional equity securities. Increasing our indebtedness 

could increase the risk of a default that would entitle the holder to declare all of such indebtedness due and payable and/or to seize any 

collateral securing the indebtedness. In addition, default under one debt instrument could in turn permit lenders under other debt 

instruments to declare borrowings outstanding under those other instruments to be due and payable pursuant to cross default clauses. aa

The issuance of additional equity securities may significantly reduce the equity interest of our stockholders and/or adversely affect 

prevailing market prices for our common stock. 

In addition, integrating acquired businesses, greenfield expansions and assets into our business can be difficult and risky,

especially if the acquired business or assets involve an industry segment with which our management has limited experience or whereww

there are limited synergies with our current businesses. Our integration of acquired businesses and realization of all synergies or 

efficiencies that we believe may result from such acquisitions or expansions may not come into fruition, which could negatively impact 

our business.

Reference is made to Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding acquisitions.

While part of our long-term business strategy is to acquire additional businesses, there is no assurance that we will be able to tt

identify businesses that we can acquire upon terms we believe acceptable, or if such acquisitions require additional financing, that 

we could obtain such additional financing. 
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We cannot ascertain the availability of businesses to acquire, nor the capital requirements for future transactions. We cannot 
assure that, if required, additional financing will be available on acceptable terms, if at all.a  To the extent that additional financing proves 
to be unavailable when needed to consummate a particular acquisition, we would be compelled to either restructure the transaction or 
abandon that particular acquisition. In addition, if we consummate a future acquisition, we may require additional financing to fund the
operations or growth of the target business. The failure to secure additional financing may impact the continued development or growthr
of the target business and could adversely impact our operating results.

Our long-term growth plan may include the expansion of operations into markets outside of North America and the Asia-Pacific

area. Such international expansion may not prove successful, and may divert significant capital, resources and management’s timff e 

and attention and adversely affect our on-going operations. 

To date, we have conducted all of our business within North America and the Asia-Pacific area. However, we may in the future 
enter international markets, including possibly South America and the European markets, which would require substantial amounts of 
management time and attention. Our products and overall business approach may not be accepted in other markets to the extent neh eded 
to make our international expansion profitable. In addition, the additional demands on management from these activities may detract 
from our efforts in our current markets and adversely affect our operating results therein. Any international expansion will expose us to 
the risks normally associated with conducting international business operations, including unexpected changes in regulatory 
requirements, changes in foreign legislation, possible foreign currency controls, currency exchange rate fluctuations or devaluations,
tariffs, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, difficulties in obtaining and managing vendors and distributors,
potential negative tax consequences and asset management difficulties.

Our long-term growth plan involves an element of risk and could strain f our management resources.

We intend to pursue a growth strategy involving organic and non-organic growth. There is a no guarantee that such growth will 
occur or be successful. We may incur significant capital expenditures inff  connection with expansion plans that may not be realized or 
may not deliver the earnings that are expected. In addition, our expansion plans may, in the future, give rise to unforeseen risks or 
problems, and our future performance will depend in large part on our ability to manage our long-term planned growth that could straind
our existing management, human and other resources. To successfully manage this growth, we must continue to add competent 
managers and employees and improve our operating, financial and other internal procedures and contt rols. We also must effectively 
motivate, train and manage employees. If we do not manage our growth effectively, it would adversely affect our future operating 
results.

Failure to retain key executives could adversely affect our operations and could impede our ability to execute our business plan and 

growth strategy.

Our growth strategies, operational guidance, capital allocation and capital markets support are managed largely by our existing
corporate officers; as well as the senior management teams at our operating units in the Asia-Pacific area and North America. The 
continued success of our businesses will depend largely on the efforts and abilities of our corporate executives and the operatf ional
senior management teams. These key personnel have an understanding of our businesses that cannot be readily duplicated. However,
we do not have key-man insurance on any of these key personnel. The loss of any of these key personnel could impair our ability to
execute our business plan and growth strategy and could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. t

We may issue shares of our capital stock that would reduce the equity interest of our stockholders and could cause a change in 

control of our ownership. 

We may seek to finance future transactions, including business combinations, or improve our financial position by issuing 
additional shares of our common stock and/or preferred stock. The issuance of any number of shares of our common stock or of our uu
preferred stock:

may significantly reduce the equity interest of investors; 
may subordinate the rights of holders of common stock if preferred stock is issued with rights senior to those afforded to our 
common stock; 
may cause a change in control if a substantial number of our shares of common stock are issued, which may affect, among
other things, our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards, if any, and could result in the resignation or removal of 
our present officers and directors; and ff
may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock. 

Because we have depended to a large extent on the success of our leasing operations, the failure to effectively and quickly remarket 

lease units that are returned could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. 
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Historically, our average monthly lease fleet utilization has averaged between 70% and 85% and the typical lease term has
averaged over twelve months. These factors have provided us with a fairly predictable revenue stream. However, if utilization rh ates
decline or should a significant number of our lease units be returned during any short period of time, we would have to re-lease a large
supply of units at similar rates to maintain historic revenues from these operations. Our failure to effectively maintain historical 
utilization rates or remarket a large influx of units returning from leases could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations 
and cash flows.

The supply and cost of used ISO containers fluctuates, which can affect our pricing.

We purchase, remanufacture and modify used ISO containers in order to expand our rental fleet. If used ISO container prices 
increase substantially, these price increases could increase our expenses, particularly if we are not able (due to competitive reasons or 
otherwise) to raise our rental rates to absorb this increased cost. Conversely, an oversupply of used ISO containers may cause container 
prices to fall. In such event, competitors may then lower the rental rates on their storage units. As a result, we may need to lower our 
rental rates to remain competitive. Therefore, fluctuations in the used ISO container market could cause our revenues and our eff arnings 
to decline. 

Our lease fleet is subject to residual value risk upon disposition, and may not sell at the prices or in the quantities we expect.

A significant portion of our revenues are from unit sales out of our lease fleet. The market value of any given unit of our lease 
fleet could be less than its depreciated value at the time it is sold. The market value of used rental equipment depends on several factors,
including: 

the market price for new equipment of a like kind; 
the age of the equipment at the time it is sold, as well as wear and tear on the equipment relative to its age;n
the supply of used equipment on the market;
technological advances relating to the equipment;
worldwide and domestic demand for used equipment; and 
general economic conditions.

We include in operating income the difference between the sales price and the depreciated value of an item of equipment sold. 
Changes in our assumptions regarding depreciation could change our depreciation expense, as well as the gain or loss realized upon uu
disposal of lease fleet. Sales of units from our lease fleet at prices that fall significantly below its carrying value will have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Unionization by some or all of our employees could cause increases in operating costs. 

Our employees are not presently covered by collective bargaining agreements. Unions may attempt to organize our employees in 
the future. We are unable to predict the outcome of any continuing or future efforts to organize our employees, the terms of any future 
labor agreements, or the effect, if any, those agreements might have on our operations or financial performance.ff

We are subject to laws and governmental regulations and actions that affect our operating results and financial condition. 

Our business is subject to regulation and taxation under a wide variety of foreign and U.S. federal, state and local laws,
regulations and policies including those imposed by the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act and NASDAQ, as well as applicable labor laws. Although we have policies and procedures designed to
comply with applicable laws and regulations, failure to comply with the various laws and regulations may result in civil and criminal 
liability, fines and penalties, increased costs of compliance, additional taxation and restatement of our financial statements.

There can also be no assurance that, in response to current economic conditions or the current political environment or otherwise, 
laws and regulations will not be implemented or changed in ways that adversely affect our operating results and financial condition,
such as recently adopted legislation that expands health care coverage costs or facilitates union activity or federal legislative proposals 
to increase taxation and operating costs.

Our effective tax rate may change and become less predictable as our business expands, making our future after-tax results less

predictable.
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We continue to consider expansion opportunities domestically and internationally for our leasing businesses. Since the our 

effective tax rate depends on business levels, personnel and assets located in various jurisdictions, further expansion into new markets

or acquisitions may change the effective tax rate in the future and may make it, and consequently our after-tax results, less predictable 

going forward. In addition, the enactment of future tax law changes by federal, state and international taxing authorities may impact our 

income tax provision and deferred tax liabilities. 

Failure to comply with internal control attestation requirements could lead to loss of public confidence in our financial statements 

and negatively impact our stock price.

As a public reporting company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including Section 404, and the 

related rules and regulations of the SEC, including expanded disclosures and accelerated reporting requirements. Compliance with 

Section 404 and other related requirements has increased our costs and will continue to require additional management resources. We 

may need to continue to implement additional finance and accounting systems, procedures and controls to satisfy new reportingtt

requirements, and there is no assurance that future assessments of the adequacy of our internal controls over financial reporting will be

favorable. If we are unable to obtain future unqualified reports as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, 

investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our internal control over financial reporting, which could, among other things, tt

adversely affect our stock price. 

Our self-insured loss reserves through our captive insurance company may be inadequate to cover our ultimate liability.

We have insurance policies with coverage that we believe are adequate, including auto liability, general liability, directors

and officers liability and workers compensation. Effective on February 1, 2017, we became self-insured for auto liability and general 

liability through GFNI, our wholly-owned captive insurance company. Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a loss a

has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred 

but not reported. We record reserves (included in “Trade payables and accrued liabilities” in our consolidated balance sheets) to cover 

estimated losses for our self-insured general liability and auto liability. The determination of these loss reserves is based upon a number uu

of factors, including current and historical claims activity, claims payment patterns and developments in any existing claims.

Accordingly, reserves do not represent an exact calculation of liability and can be affected by both internal and external events, such as 

adverse developments on existing claims or changes in claims handling procedures, administrative costs and legal fees, inflation, and 

legal trends and legislative changes. Loss reserves are adjusted from time to time to reflect new claims, claim developments, or 

systemic changes, and such adjustments are reflected in the results of the periods in which the loss reserves are changed. Though we

believe the loss reserves recorded at our consolidated balance sheet dates are adequate, because of the uncertainties that surround 

estimating losses we cannot be certain that such reserves will cover the ultimate liability. If our loss reserves are insufficient to cover 

our actual losses, we would incur additional charges that could be material to our consolidated results of operations and financial

condition. 

We are exposed to various possible claims relating to our business and our insurance may not fully protect us. 

We are exposed to various possible claims relating to our business. These possible claims include those relating to: (i) personal

injury or death caused by container products, mobile offices or modular units leased or sold by us; (ii) accidents involving our vehiclesuu

and our employees; (iii) employment-related claims; (iv) property damage; (v) commercial claims and (vi) environmental

contamination. We believe that we have adequate insurance coverage for the protection of our assets and operations. However, our 

insurance may not fully protect us for certain types of claims, such as claims for punitive damages or for damages arising from

intentional misconduct, which are often alleged in third-party lawsuits. 

In addition, we may be exposed to uninsured liability at levels in excess of our policy limits. If we are found liable for any 

significant claims that are not covered by insurance, our liquidity and operating results could be materially adversely affected. It is 

possible that our insurance carriers may disclaim coverage for any class action and derivative lawsuits against us. It is also possible that 

some or all of the insurance that is currently available to us will not be available in the future on economically reasonable terms or not 

available at all. In addition, whether we are covered by insurance or not, certain claims may have the potential for negative publicity 

surrounding such claims, which may adversely impact our operating results, value of our public securities, or give rise to additional 

similar claims being filed.

Disruptions in our information technology systems could limit our ability to effectively monitor and control our operations and

adversely affect our operations. 

Our information technology systems facilitate our ability to monitor and control our operations and adjust to changing market 

conditions. Any disruption in our information technology systems or the failure of these systems to operate as expected could, 

depending on the magnitude of the problem, adversely affect our operating results by limiting our capacity to effectively transact 

business, monitor and control our operations and adjust to changing market 
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conditions in a timely manner. Like other companies, our information technology systems may be vulnerable to a variety of 
interruptions due to our own error or events beyond our control, including, but not limited to, cyber-security breaches, natural disasters,
terrorist attacks, telecommunications failures, computer viruses, hackers and other security issues. The failure of these systems to 
operate effectively could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to us or our customers. This could include the improper use of 
personal information or other “identity theft.” Each of these situations or data privacy breaches may cause delays in customer service,
reduce efficiency in our operations, require significant capital investments to remediate the problem, or result in negative publicity thatu
could harm our reputation and results. 

In addition, the delay or failure to implement information system upgrades and new systems effectively could disrupt our 
business, distract management’s focus and attention from our business operations and growth initiatives and increase our 
implementation and operating costs, any of which could negatively impact our operations and operating results. 

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, which may make it difficult for stockholders to resell common stock 

when they want or at a price they find attractive.

We expect that the market price of our common stock will fluctuate. Our common stock price can fluctuate as a result of a
variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include: 

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results; 
changes in interest rates and other general economic conditions; 
significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving
us or our competitors;
operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us; 
news reports relating to trends, concerns, litigation, regulatory changes and other issues in our industry; 
geopolitical conditions such as acts or threats of terrorism or military conflicts;
relatively low trading volume; and 
significant concentration of ownership in our common stock.

If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if theytt issue unfavorable commentary or 

downgrade our common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts publish aboy ut 
us and our business. We do not control these analysts. The price of our stock could decline if one or more equity analysts downgrade
our stock or if those analysts issue other unfavorable commentary or cease publishing reports about us or our business. 

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, which may limit the return on your investment in us.

Except for payment of dividends on our preferred stock, we intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in 
the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable a
future. 

Significant Risks Related Primarily to Our Leasing Operations in North America g y g p

General or localized economic downturns or weakness may adversely affect our customers, in particular those in the oil and gas and 

construction industries, which may reduce demand for our products and services and negatively impact our future revenues and a

results of operations. 

A significant portion of our revenues in our North American leasing operations is derived from customers who are in industries
and businesses that are cyclical in nature and subject to changes in general economic conditions, including the oil and gas and thed
construction industries. Although the variety of our products, the breadth of our customer base and the number of markets we serve 
throughout North America limit our exposure to economic downturns, general economic downturns or localized downturns in markets
where we operate could reduce demand for our products, especially in the construction or oil and gas industries, and negativelyr impact y
our future revenues, results of operations and cash flows. 

In the oil and gas industry, lower or the perception of lower or unstable domestic oil or gas prices have an adverse effect on our 
portable liquid containment business. Such market conditions cause customers to limit or stop exploration and extraction activities, 
resulting in lower rental demand and rates for our portable liquid containment products. Also, a weak U.S. economy may negatively 
impact infrastructure construction and industrial activity. Any of these factors would adversely affect our cash flows and financial a
performance and could result in excess lease fleet or impairment charges. 
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We may be brought into tort or environmental litigation or held responsible for cleanup of spills if the customer fails to perform, or ff

an accident occurs in the use of our tank container products, which could materially adversely affect our business, future operating 

results or financial position.

Our portable liquid tank containers and containment products are used by customers to store non-hazardous and certain 
hazardous liquids on customer sites. Customers are responsible for proper operation of our r fleet equipment while on lease and returning
a cleaned and undamaged container upon completion of use, but we cannot always assure that these responsibilities are fully met in allt
cases. Our operations are subject to operational hazards, including accidents or equipment issues that can cause pollution and other 
damage to the environment. Hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry, such as, but not limited to, accidents, blowouts,
explosions, pollution and other damage to the environment, fires and hydrocarbon spills, may delay or halt operations at extraction sites 
which we service. These conditions can cause:

personal injury or loss of life;
liabilities from accidents by our fleet of trucks and other equipment; t
damage to or destruction of property, equipment and the environment; and 
the suspension of operations.

In the event of a spill or accident, we may be brought into a lawsuit or enforcement action by either our customer or a third party 
on numerous potential grounds, including that an inherent flaw in a container tank contributed to the accident or that the container tank 
had suffered some undiscovered harm from a previous customer’s use. In the event of a spill caused by our customers, we may be held 
responsible for cleanup under environmental laws and regulations concerning obligations of suppliers of rental products to effect 
remediation. In addition, applicable environmental laws and regulations may impose liability on us for conduct of third parties, or for 
actions that complied with applicable regulations when taken, regardless of negligence or fault. Substantial damage awards have also 
been made in certain jurisdictions against lessors of industrial equipment based upon claims of personal injury, property damage, and 
resource damage caused by the use of various products. While we try to take reasonable precautions that our lease equipment is in good 
and safe condition prior to lease and carry insurance to protect against certain risks of loss or accidents, liability could adversely impactd
our profitability. 

We maintain insurance coverage that we believe to be customary in the industry against these hazards. We may not be able to 
maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable. In addition, insurance may not be available to cover any or all r
of the risks to which we are subject, or, even if available, the coverage provided by such insurance may be inadequate, or insurance uu
premiums or other costs could make such insurance prohibitively expensive. It is likely that, in our insurance renewals, our premiums 
and deductibles will be higher, and certain insurance coverage either will be unavailable or considerably more expensive than it has
been in the recent past. In addition, our insurance is subject to coverage limits, and some policies exclude coverage for damages 
resulting from environmental contamination.

We face significant competition in the modular space industry, especially from several national competitors in the United States whoee

have greater financial resources and pricing flexibility than we do. If we are unable to compete successfully, we could lose 

customers and our future revenues could decline. 

Although our competition varies significantly by market, the modular space markets in which we compete are dominated 
primarily by four participants and are highly competitive. In addition, we compete with a number of large to mid-sized regionalr
competitors, as well as many smaller, full and part-time operators in many local regions. The modular space industry is highly
competitive, subject to stiff pricing competition and almost all of the competitors have portable storage product offerings. The primary
modular national competitors with portable storage product offerings have greater financial resources and pricing flexibility. If they
focus on portable storage and are unable to compete successfully, we could lose customers and our future revenues and results of 
operations could decline.

Failure to comply with applicable regulations could harm our business and financial condition, resulting in lower operating results 

and cash flows. 

Similar to conventionally constructed buildings, companies in the modular building industry are subject to regulations by 
multiple governmental agencies at the federal, state and local level relating to environmental, zoning, health and safety, labot r and 
transportation, among other matters. New governmental regulations in these or other areas may increase our acquisition cost of new
rental equipment, limit the use of or make obsolete some of our existing fleet, or increase our costs of rental operations. Failure to
comply with these laws or regulations could impact our business or harm our reputation and result in higher capital or operating 
expenditures or the imposition of penalties or restrictions on our operations. Compliance with building codes and regulations entails a
certain amount of risk as state and local 
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government authorities do not necessarily interpret building codes and regulations in a consistent manner, particularly where at pplicable aa

regulations may be unclear and subject to interpretation. These regulations often provide broad discretion to governmental authorities 

that oversee these matters, which can result in unanticipated delays or increases in the cost of compliance in particular markets. The

construction and modular industries have developed many “best practices” which are constantly evolving. Some of our peers and 

competitors may adopt practices that are more or less stringent than ours. When, and if, regulatory standards are clarified, the effect of 

the clarification may be to impose rules on our business and practices retroactively, at which time, we may not be in compliance with

such regulations and we may be required to incur costly remediation. If we are unable to pass these increased costs on to our customers,

our profitability, operating cash flows and financial condition could be negatively impacted.

The portable storage industry in North America is highly competitive, and we face intense competition that may lead to our inability 

to increase or maintain our prices, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

The portable storage industry in North America is highly competitive and fragmented. Many of the markets in which we operate 

are served by numerous competitors, ranging from national companies to smaller multi-regional companies and small, independent

businesses with a limited number of locations. Some of these competitors currently offer products outside of our offerings or may have

better brand recognition in some market sectors. If these competitors use their brand awareness to promote products that compete with

our product offerings, customers may choose these competitors’ products over ours, and we could lose business. A number of our 

competitors are competing aggressively on the basis of pricing and may drive down prices. Additionally, general economic factors 

could drive down market prices. To the extent that we choose to match our competitors’ declining prices, it could harm our results of 

operations as we would have lower margins. To the extent that we choose not to match or remain within a reasonable competitive

distance from our competitors’ pricing, it could also harm our results of operations, as we may lose rental volume.m

The portable liquid containment rental industry is highly competitive, and competitive pressures could impair our ability to increase

market share and to rent or sell, equipment at favorable prices.

The portable liquid containment rental industry is highly competitive. We compete against national, regional and local 

companies, some of which are significantly larger than we are and have greater financial and marketing resources than we have. Some

of our competitors also have longer operating histories, lower cost rental equipment and lower cost structures and more established 

relationships with equipment manufacturers than we have. In addition, certain of our competitors are more geographically diverse than

we are and have greater name recognition among customers than we do. As a result, our competitors that have these advantages may be aa

better able to attract customers.

We believe that local relationships, equipment quality, service levels and fleet size are key competitive factors in the portable

liquid containment industry. From time to time, we or our competitors may attempt to compete aggressively by lowering rental rates or aa

prices. Competitive pressures could adversely affect our future revenues and operating results by depressing the rental rates. To the 

extent we lower lease rates or increase our fleet size in order to retain or increasr e market share, our operating margins would be d

adversely impacted. In addition, we may not be able to match a larger competitor’s price reductions or fleet investment because of its 

greater financial resources, all of which could adversely impact our future operating results.

Seasonality of the portable liquid containment industry may impact future quarterly results. 

Activity may decline in our second quarter months of November and December and our third quarter months of January and 

February. These months may have lower rental activity in parts of the country where inclement weather may delay, or suspend, 

customer projects. The impact of these delays may be to decrease the number of frac tank containers on lease until companies are able

to resume their projects when weather improves. These seasonal factors may impact our future quarterly results in each year’s second

and third quarters. 

Significant increases in raw material costs could increase our operating costs significantly and harm our future results of 

operations. 

We purchase raw materials, including metals, lumber, siding and roofing and other products, to construct and modify modular 

buildings and to modify containers to its customers’ requirements. We also maintain a truck fleet to deliver units to and return units rr

from customers. During periods of rising prices for raw materials, especially oil and fuel for delivery vehicles, and in particular when 

the prices increase rapidly or to levels significantly higher than normal, we may incur significant increases in operating costs and may 

not be able to pass price increases through to customers in a timely manner, which could harm our future results of operations.

A key for success in the oil and gas industry in North America is our ability to continue to employ and retain skilled and unskll illed kk

personnel. Any difficulty we experience replacing or adding personnel could adversely affect our business.
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We may not be able to find enough skilled and unskilled labor to meet our needs, which could limit our growth. Oil and gas

business activity historically decreases or increases with the prices of oil and natural gas. We may have problems retaining and finding

enough laborers in the future, particularly if the demand for our portable liquid containment products and fluid management services rr

increases significantly in a relatively short period of time. Other factors may also inhibit our ability to find enough workerstt  to meet our 

employment needs. 

We believe that a key to our success in the oil and gas industry in North America is our ability to continue to employ and retain

skilled and unskilled personnel. Our inability to employ or retain personnel generally could have a significant adverse effect on our 

operations.

A substantial portion of the revenues of Lone Star are earned from a limited number of major customers, and the loss of any one or 

more of these customers could adversely affect our results of operations.y

Lone Star earns a substantial portion of its revenue from a limited number of major customers. One or more of these customers 

could cancel their leases and cease doing business with Lone Star for a variety of reasons beyond our control. The loss of one or more 

of these major customers could adversely affect our results of operations. 

Failure by our manufacturers to sell and deliver products in a timely fashion may harm our reputation and financial condition. 

We currently purchase new modular buildings and components, mobile offices and container products directly from

manufacturers. Although we are not dependent on any one manufacturer and are able to purchase products from a variety of suppliers, 

the failure of one or more of our suppliers to timely manufacture and deliver storage containers to us could adversely affect our 

operations. We purchase new modular buildings and components, mobile offices and storage containers under purchase orders issued to

various manufacturers, which the manufacturers may or may not accept or be able to fill. We have no contracts with any supplier. If 

these suppliers do not timely fill our purchase orders, or do not properly manufacture the ordered products, our reputation and financial

condition could be harmed. 

Some zoning laws restrict the use of our storage units and therefore limit our ability to offer products in all markets. 

Many of our customers use our storage units to store goods on their own properties. Local zoning laws in some of our markets 

prohibit customers from maintaining mobile offices or storage containers on their properties or require that mobile offices or storage

containers be located out of sight from the street. If local zoning laws in one or more of our geographic markets were to ban or restrict 

our products from being stored on customers’ sites, our business in that market could suffer. 

As Department of Transportation regulations increase, our operations could be negatively impacted and competition for qualified

drivers could increase. 

We operate in the United States pursuant to operating authority granted by the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”). Our 

company drivers must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those relating to drug and alcohol testing 

and hours-of-service. Such matters as equipment weight and dimensions also are subject to government regulations. Our safety record 

could be ranked poorly compared to our peer firms. A poor fleet ranking may result in the loss of customers or difficulty attracting and 

retaining qualified drivers which could affect our results of operations. Should additional rules be enacted in the future, compliance withmm

such rules could result in additional costs.

Significant Risks Related Primarily to Our Leasing Operations in the Asia-Pacific g y g p

The future performance of Royal Wolf depends on customer demand for portable container solutions as well as the expansion of the 

portable container solutions products market in Australia. 

Any reduction in customer demand, failure of customer demand to grow, or failure of Royal Wolf to meet changes in customer 

demand or preferences may adversely affect Royal Wolf’s businesses, operational performance, growth prospects and financial

position. For example, if expected growth in the portable container buildings market fails to come to fruition, or if businesses and 

individuals no longer demand portable container buildings at current levels, Royal Wolf’s return on its portable container building 

investments could be negatively impacted. The demand for Royal Wolf’s assets is dependent on the key industry segments into which 

Royal Wolf sells and lease assets, such as oil and gas, mining, construction, industrial and retail. A significant reduction in the business

climate in these industry segments, could negatively impact Royal Wolf’s results of operations.
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The success and ability to drive future growth is dependent to a large extent on brand reputation. 

Royal Wolf believes its brand reputation is a key driver in its success and its ability to drive future growth. Any adverse change aa

to the reputation of Royal Wolf may adversely affect the Company’s businesses, operational performance and financial condition.

Royal Wolf licenses the “Royal Wolf” trademark in Australia, New Zealand and surrounding islands in the Asia-Pacific region. There is 

a risk that use of the “Royal Wolf” brand by third parties in jurisdictions in which Royal Wolf does not own the trademark may 

adversely impact the Royal Wolf brand and consequently its business.

Royal Wolf’s ability to achieve its long-term business strategy is dependent to a certain extent on its supply chain and purchatt sing.

Royal Wolf’s long-term business strategy assumes a certain level of growth in Australian and New Zealand demand for container 

based solutions. Royal Wolf’s ability to meet this demand is dependent, to a certain extent, on the ability of Royal Wolf to purchaseuu

storage containers economically and on a timely basis. Historically, Royal Wolf has successfully worked with shipping lines and

international container leasing companies to purchase used containers, and with manufacturers and brokers, including in China, to

purchase new containers, but there can be no guarantee of this in the future. Changes to shipping line practices with respect to used 

containers, and adverse changes in trade practices, regulations and relations between Australia and its trading partners, including China,

could adversely impact Royal Wolf’s ability to purchase containers or impact the price at which Royal Wolf is able to purchase 

containers. 

Historically, Royal Wolf has relied on internal supply chain and sourcing arrangements, international suppliers and the logistics 

industry to relocate containers. Changes to these arrangements, constraints on the supply chain, failure of suppliers to deliver or deliver 

in a timely manner or material increases in the price of new or used containers could have an adverse impact on Royal Wolf’s bun siness, 

operational performance, profit margins and financial results. Royal Wolf purchases new storage container products under purchase 

orders issued to container manufacturers, which the manufacturers may or may not accept or be able to fill. There are several alternative

sources of supply for storage containers. Though Royal Wolf is not dependent upon any one manufacturer in purchasing storage 

container products, the failure of one or more of its suppliers to timely deliver containers to Royal Wolf could adversely affect its

operations. If these suppliers do not timely fill Royal Wolf’s purchase orders or do not properly manufacture the ordered products,

Royal Wolf’s reputation and financial condition also could be harmed.

Royal Wolf conducts its business in a highly competitive sector. 

Royal Wolf’s faces competition in the portable buildings, freight and portable storage markets. Royal Wolf also faces potentially 

significant competition from modular industry companies who have non-container portable building offerings, especially several

national competitors in Australia who have greater financial resources and pricing flexibility than Royal Wolf. As a result, Royal Wolf 

is subject to potential competition from new domestic and foreign competitors and the provision of new products or services, aggressive 

pricing and lease rates offered by existing competitors. Competition varies by region and Royal Wolf may not always be able to match

its competitors in service levels, functionality and price in each or all regions. The emergence of a new competitor with international rr

reach, or increased focus on the rental model by existing competitors, particularly with an extensivrr e distribution network, could have an

adverse effect on Royal Wolf’s business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Also, continued service 

improvement by competitors may result in Royal Wolf’s customers using substitutes in place of some of Royal Wolf’s products. Royal 

Wolf may not always be able to match its competitors in both functionality and price, which could negatively impact Royal Wolf’s 

revenues. In addition, some of Royal Wolf’s unique products are the subject of patent applications only and there is no guarantee that 

those applications will become effective. If the patent applications do not become effective, there is a risk that Royal Wolf’s

competitors could produce similar rival products, which may have an adverse effect on Royal Wolf. 

Royal Wolf is subject to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Royal Wolf is subject to exchange rate fluctuations, particularly as it sources a substantial portion of its portable container

solutions fleet from China in purchases, which are U.S. dollar-denominated. While Royal Wolf has a hedging policy to mitigate thist

risk, unhedged exchange rate fluctuations in the Australian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar and, to a lesser extent, the New Zealand w

dollar, may adversely affect the financial performance of Royal Wolf, including its financial position, cash flows, distributions, growth

prospects and share price. 
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Royal Wolf is subject to Australian and New Zealand taxation and tariff regulation. 

Significant recent reforms and current proposals for further reforms to tax laws in the jurisdictions within which Royal Wolf 

operates may give rise to uncertainty. The precise scope and impact of future changes to tax laws may not be known. Royal Wolf is also 

subject to import tariffs with respect to the portable container products it sources from overseas. Any changes to such tax or tariff laws 

(including the imposition of, or increases to, such taxes or tariffs), their interpretation or the manner in which they are administered by

the relevant government agency or the current rate of company income tax or import tariff may impact the operational or financial 

performance of Royal Wolf (or customers in its key end markets). 

Royal Wolf may face a tightening labor force and is subject to Workplace Health and Safety regulations. 

Royal Wolf’s ability to remain productive, profitable and competitive and to effect its planned growth initiatives depends on its 

ability to attract and retain workers. Tightening of the labor market in key regions due to a shortage of suitably skilled workers may

inhibit Royal Wolf’s ability to hire and retain employees. Additionally, rising wages paid to employees may pose a risk to Royal Wolf’s 

margins if it is unable to pass on such higher costs through price increases. 

Royal Wolf is also subject to Workplace Health and Safety regulations. If Royal Wolf is not able to maintain its working 

conditions to meet Workplace Health and Safety regulations it may impact Royal Wolf’s operations and ability to attract and retaa ain

workers and also result in contravention of those regulations, which may give rise to potential criminal and civil liability and also

damage Royal Wolf’s brand and reputation.

Significant Risks Related Primarily to Our Manufacturing Operations in North America g y g p

Demand for our manufacturing products in North America is to a significant degrdd ee dependent on the levels of expenditures and 

drilling activity by the oil and gas industry, primarily in Texas, and can fluctuate significantly in a short period of time. The viability TT

of our manufacturing operations during times of reductions in domestic drilling activity and demand for our portable liquid 

containment products may be significantly reliant on the commercial success of other steel-based products to industry sectors

outside of the oil and gas market. 

The substantial downturn in the domestic oil and gas industry since the second quarter of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 has 

resulted in lower expenditures and reduced drilling, which in turn has had a material adverse effect on the results of operations and cash

flows of our manufacturing operations in North America. In order to remain commercially viable and diversify outside of the portable rr

liquid containment business, our manufacturing operations have focused on introducing steel-based products for non-oil and gas

markets, which include a chassis product line targeted to the North American transportation market, the production of GLOs for the

portable storage market, the production of storm shelters for the consumer market, the production of blast-resistant modules for the 

industrial market and the production of specialty portable fuel tanks for the agricultural market. While we closely monitor the situation 

and are hopeful of the commercial success of these new steel-based products, there is nof  assurance that such commercial success or 

viability will be attained. In FY 2016, operating losses from reduced demand of our portable liquid containment tanks and related

products and the manufacturing inefficiencies inherent in the introduction of new product lines resulted in the recording of a goodwill 

impairment charge.

Significant competition in the oil and gas industry in which Southern Frac produces its portable liquid containment products matt y a

result in its competitors offering new or better products and services or lower prices, which could result in a loss of customers and a

decrease in revenues.

The portable liquid storage tank container manufacturing industry is highly competitive. Southern Frac competes with other 

manufacturers of varying sizes, some of which have substantial financial resources. Manufacturers compete primarily on the quality of 

their products, customer relationships, service availability and cost. Barriers to entry are low. As a result, it is possible that additional t

competitors could enter the market at any time. If Southern Frac is unable to successfully compete with other portable liquid st torage 

tank container manufacturers it could lose customers and our revenues may decline. 

Seasonality of the portable liquid containment industry may impact future quarterly results. 

While the oil and gas industry is extremely volatile, historically, activity may typically decline in our second quarter months of 

November and December and our third quarter months of January and February. These months may have lower rental activity in parts

of the country where inclement weather may delay, or suspend, customer projects. The impact of these delays may be to decrease the

number of frac tank containers sold until companies are able to resume their projects when weather improves. These seasonal factors 

may impact Southern Frac’s future operating results in each fiscal year’s second and third quarters. 
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Difficulties Associated with Fixed Capacity Levels

Southern Frac’s ability to increase manufacturing capacity may require significant investments in equipment and personnel. To

the extent that we make investments to increase manufacturing capacity and demand for our products is not sustained, our results of 

operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. Conversely, if we choose not to make investments to increase

manufacturing capacity, our ability to meet customer demand for our products and increase revenues may be adversely affected. 

Additionally, operating our facilities at near full capacity levels may cause us to incur labor costs at premium rates in order to meet r

customer requirements, experience increased maintenance expenses or require us to replace our machinery and equipment on an

accelerated basis, each of which could cause our results of operations and financial condition to be adversely affected. 

Implementation of Operational Improvements

As part of our ongoing focus on being a low-cost provider of high quality products, we periodically analyze our business to 

further improve our operations. Our continued analysis may include identifying and implementing opportunities for: (i) further 

rationalization of manufacturing capacity; (ii) streamlining of selling, general and administrative overhead; or (iii) efficient investment 

in new equipment and the upgrading of existing equipment. We may be unable to successfully identify or implement plans targeting

these initiatives, or fail to realize the benefits of the plans we have already implemented, as a result of operational difficulties, a

weakening of the economy or other factors. Cost reductions may not fully offset decreases in the prices of our products due to the time

required to develop and implement cost reduction initiatives. Additional factors, such as inconsistent customer ordering patterns, rr

increasing product complexity and heightened quality standards, may also make it more difficult to reduce our costs. It is also possible

that as we incur costs to implement improvement strategies, the initial impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash

flow may be adverse and we may not be able to successfully realize sufficient cost savings to mitigate this adverse impact. 

Southern Frac’s business could be harmed if we fail to maintain proper inventory levels.

Southern Frac is required to maintain sufficient inventories to accommodate the needs of its customers including, in many cases, 

short lead times on delivery requirements. We purchase raw materials on a regular basis in an effort to maintain our inventory at levels

that we believe are sufficient to satisfy the anticipated needs of our customers based upon orders, customer volume expectations, 

historic buying practices and market conditions. Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in the use of higher-priced 

inventory to fill orders reflecting lower selling prices, if steel prices have significantly decreased. These events could adversely affect 

our financial results. Conversely, if we underestimate demand for our products or if our suppliers fail to supply quality products in a 

timely manner, we may experience inventory shortages. Inventory shortages could result in unfilled orders, negatively impacting our 

customer relationships and resulting in lost revenues, which could harm our business and adversely affect our financial results. 

Southern Frac’s future operating results may be affected by fluctuations in raw material prices, and it may be unable to pass on any 

increases in raw material costs to its customers.

Southern Frac’s principal raw material is steel. The steel industry as a whole has been cyclical, and at times availability and steel d

prices can be volatile due to a number of factors beyond our control. These factors include general economic conditions, domestic and

worldwide demand, the influence of hedge funds and other investment funds participating in commodity markets, curtailed production

from major suppliers due to factors such as the closing or idling of facilities, accidents or equipment breakdowns, repairs or catastrophic 

events, labor costs or problems, competition, new laws and regulations, import duties, tariffs, energy costs, availability and cost of steel

inputs (e.g., ore, scrap, coke and energy), currency exchange rates and other factors. This volatility, as well as any increases in raw 

material costs, could significantly affect our steel costs and adversely impact our financial results. If our suppliers increase the prices of 

our critical raw materials, we may not have alternative sources of supply. In addition, in an environment of increasing pricesf for steel 

and other raw materials, competitive conditions may impact how much of the price increases we can pass on to our customers. To the

extent we are unable to pass on future price increases in our raw materials to customers, our financial results could be adversely 

affected. Also, if steel prices decrease, competitive conditions may impact how quickly we must reduce our prices to our customers, and 

we could be forced to use higher-priced raw materials to complete orders for which the selling prices have decreased. Decreasing steel 

prices could also require us to write-down the value of our inventory to reflect current market pricing. 

The loss of key supplier relationships could adversely affect Southern Frac. 

Southern Frac has developed relationships with certain steel and other suppliers which have been beneficial to us by providing

more assured delivery and a more favorable all-in cost, which includes price and shipping costs. If any of those relationships were 

disrupted, it could have an adverse effect on delivery times and the overall cost and quality of 
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our raw materials, which could have a negative impact on our business. In addition, we do not have long-term contracts with any of our 
suppliers. If, in the future, we are unable to obtain sufficient amounts of steel and other products at competitive prices and t on a timely 
basis from our traditional suppliers, we may be unable to obtain these products from alternative sources at competitive prices to meet 
our delivery schedule, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 

The costs of manufacturing Southern Frac’s products and its ability to supply customers could be negatively impacted if we

experience interruptions in deliveries of needed raw materials or supplies. 

If, for any reason, Southern Frac’s supply of steel is curtailed or it otherwise is unable to obtain the quantities it needs atf
competitive prices, our business could suffer and our financial results could be adversely affected. Such interruptions could result from
a number of factors, including a shortage of capacity in the supplier base of raw materials, energy or the inputs needed to make steel or 
other supplies, a failure of suppliers to fulfill their supply or delivery obligations, financial difficulties of suppliers resulting in the
closing or idling of supplier facilities, other significant events affecting supplier facilities, significant weather events and other factors,
all of which are beyond our control.

The loss of significant volume from key customers could adversely affect Southern Frac. tt

A significant loss of, or decrease in, business from any of its key customers could have an adverse effect on Southern Frac’s
sales and financial results if it cannot obtain replacement business. In addition, certain of its top customers may be able to exert pricing
and other influences on Southern Frac, requiring it to market, deliver and promote its products in a manner that may be more costly. 
Moreover, Southern Frac generally does not have long-term contracts with its customers. As a result, although its customers
periodically provide indications of their product needs and purchases, they generally purchase Southern Frac’s products on an 
order-by-order basis, and the relationship, as well as particular orders, can be terminated at any time. 

Significant Risks Related Primarily to Our Series C Preferred Stock g y

We cannot assure that quarterly dividends on, or any other payments in respect of, the Series C Preferred Shares will be made timely

or at all.

We cannot assure that we will be able to pay quarterly dividends on the Series C Preferred Shares or to redeem the Series C
Preferred Shares, if we wanted to do so. Quarterly dividends on our Series C Preferred Shares will be paid from funds legally available aa
for such purpose when, as and if declared by our board of dirf ectors. Certain factors may influence our decision, or adversely affect our 
ability, to pay dividends on, or make other payments in respect of, our Series C Preferred Shares, including, among other thingt s:

the amount of our available cash or other liquid assets, including the impact of any liquidity shortfalls caused by the below-
described restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to generate and transfer cash to us;
our ability to service and refinance our current and future indebtedness; 
changes in our cash requirements to fund capital expenditures, acquisitions or other operational or strategic initiatives;
our ability to borrow or raise additional capital to satisfy our capital needs; 
restrictions imposed by our existing, or any future, credit facilities, debt securities or leases, including restricted payment and t
leverage covenants that could limit our ability to make payments to holders of the Series C Preferred Shares; 
limitations on our subsidiaries’ ability to distribute cash to us due to third parties holding equity interests in those subsidiaries; 
and 
limitations on cash payments to shareholders under Delaware law, including limitations that require dividend payments be
made out of surplus or, subject to certain limitations, out of net profits for the thn en-current or preceding year in the event there 
is no surplus.
Our ability to maintain a Fixed Charge Ratio, as defined, of no less than 2.00.

Based on its evaluation of these and other relevant factors, our board of directors may, in its sole discretion, decide not to declare 
a dividend on the Series C Preferred Shares for any quarterly period for any reason, regardless of whether we have funds legally 
available for such purpose. In such event, a holder’s sole recourse will be its rights as a holder of Series C Preferred Shares, which 
includes the right to cumulative dividends and, under certain specified circumstances, to additional interest and limited conditional
voting rights.
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GFN’s ability, as a holding company, to make payments in respect of the Series C Preferred Shares depends on the ability of our

subsidiaries to transfer funds to us. 

GFN is a holding company and, accordingly, substantially all of our operations are conducted through our subsidiaries. As a f
result, GFN’s cash flow and ability to make dividend payments to our stockholders depend on the earnings of our subsidiaries, the t
distribution from our subsidiaries and compliance with the covenants governing the indebtedness of our subsidiaries, including, without 
limitation, covenants of the senior credit facilities of our subsidiaries that permit dividends and other payments from such subsidiaries tou
GFN. Payments by our subsidiaries to GFN are also contingent upon those subsidiaries’ earnings and business considerations. 
Furthermore, GFN’s right to receive any assets of any of our subsidiaries upon their liquidation, reorganization or otherwise, and thus
the ability of a holder of Series C Preferred Stock to benefit indirectly from such distribution, will be subject to the prior rr claims of the
subsidiaries’ creditors. 

The terms of the revolving senior secured credit facility with a syndicate led by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells 
Fargo”) limit the ability of our North American Leasing operations to upstream funds to GFN that would be used to pay dividends on
the Series C Preferred Stock. If the amount of the dividends payable on the Series C Preferred Stock exceeds the amount of the funds
our North American Leasing operations are permitted to pay GFN, and GFN is unable to generate sufficient cash from its other 
subsidiaries for a dividend payment, GFN may not be able to make the required dividend payment on the Series C Preferred Stock. Our 
ability to pay dividends or make other payments to the holders of our Series C Preferred Shares will be adversely affected if the senior tt
credit facility prohibits the transfer of funds to GFN. 

The Series C Preferred Shares represent perpetual equity interests.

The Series C Preferred Shares represent perpetual equity interests in us and, unlike our indebtedness, will not entitle the holders
thereof to receive payment of a principal amount at a particular date. As a result, holders of the Series C Preferred Shares may be
required to bear the financial risks of an investment in the Series C Preferred Shares for an indefinite period of time. In addition, the 
Series C Preferred Shares will rank junior to all our indebtedness and other liabilities, and to any other senior securities wer  may issue in
the future with respect to assets available to satisfy claims against us. In addition, the lack of a fixed mandatory redemption date for the n
Series C Preferred Shares will increase your reliance on the secondary market for liquidity purposes.rr

Investors should not expect us to redeem the Series C Preferred Shares on the date the Series C Preferred Shares become 

redeemable by the Company or on any particular date afterwards. 

The shares of Series C Preferred Shares have no maturity or mandatory redemption date and are not redeemable at the option of 
investors under any circumstances. By their terms, the Series C Preferred Shares may be redeemed by us ataa  our option either in whole or 
in part at any time on or after May 17, 2018 or, under certain circumstances, may be redeemed by us at our option, in whole, sooner 
than that date. Any decision we may make at any time regarding whether to redeem the Series C Preferred Shares will depend upon a n
wide variety of factors, including our evaluation of our capital position, our capital requirements and general market conditions at that 
time. However, investors should not assume that we will redeem the Series C Preferred Shares at any particular time, or at all.

Increases in market interest rates may adversely affect the trading price of our Series C Preferred Shares.

One of the factors that will influence the trading price of our Series C Preferred Shares will be the dividend yield on the Series C 
Preferred Shares relative to market interest rates. An increase in market interest t rates may reduce demand for our Series C Preferred 
Shares and would likely increase our borrowing costs and potentially decrease funds available for distribution. Accordingly, higher 
market interest rates could cause the market price of our Series C Preferred Shares to decrease.

The Series C Preferred Shares have not been rated and the lack of a rating may adversely affect the trading price of the Seriesf  C 

Preferred Shares. 

We have not sought to obtain a rating for the Series C Preferred Shares, and the shares may never be rated. It is possible, 
however, that one or more rating agencies might independently determine to assign a rating to the Series C Preferred Shares or that we
may elect to obtain a rating of our Series C Preferred Shares in the future. In addition, we may elect to issue other securitiet s for which 
we may seek to obtain a rating. The market value of the Series C Preferred Shares could be adversely affected if:

any ratings assigned to the Series C Preferred Shares in the future or to other securities we issue in the future are lower 
than market expectations or are subsequently lowered or withdrawn; 
or ratings for such other securities would imply a lower relative value for the Series C Preferred Shares. 

I-33 



The interests of holders in the Series C Preferred Shares could be diluted by our issuance of additional shares of preferred stock, tt

including additional Series C Preferred Shares, and by other transactions. 

Our charter currently authorizes the issuance of up to one million shares of preferred stock in one or more classes or series, and 

we will be permitted, without notice to or consent of the holders of Series C Preferred Shares, to issue additional Series C Preferred 

Shares or other securities that have rights junior to such shares, up to the maximum aggregate number of authorized shares of our 

preferred stock. The issuance of additional preferred stock on a parity with or senior to our Series C Preferred Shares would dilute the 

interests of the holders of our Series C Preferred Shares, and any issuance of preferred stock senior to or on a parity with our Series Cuu

Preferred Shares or of additional indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends on, redeem or pay the liquidation 

preference on our Series C Preferred Shares. We cannot assure that quarterly dividends on, or any other payments in respect of, the

Series C Preferred Shares will be made timely or at all and there are effectively no provisions relating to our Series C Preferff red Shares

that protect the holders of our Series C Preferred Shares in the event of a highly leveraged or other transaction, including a merger or 

the sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all our assets or business; any of which might adversely affect the holders of our 

Series C Preferred Shares.

A holder of Series C Preferred Shares has extremely limited voting rights.ii

Voting rights as a holder of Series C Preferred Shares will be extremely limited. However, in the event that six quarterly

dividends, whether consecutive or not, payable on Series C Preferred Shares are in arrears or a listing failure has occurred and is

continuing, the holders of Series C Preferred Shares will have the right, voting togethrr er as a class with all other classes or series of 

parity securities upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, to elect two additional directors to srr erve on our 

board of directors.

The Series C Preferred Shares are not convertible, and purchasers may not realize a corresponding benefit if the trading price of 

our common stock rises.

The Series C Preferred Shares are not convertible into our common shares and do not have exchange rights or entitled or subject

to any preemptive or similar rights. Accordingly, the market value of the Series C Preferred Shares may depend to some degree on, 

among other things, dividend and interest rates for other securities and other investment alternatives and our actual and perceived ability 

to make dividend or other payments in respect of our Series C Preferred Shares rather than the trading price of our common stock. In 

addition, our right to redeem the Series C Preferred Shares on or after May 17, 2018 or in the event of a change in control could impose

a ceiling on their value. 

Significant Risks Related Primarily to Our Senior Notesg y

The Senior Notes are not rated, and the issuance of a credit rating could adversely affect the market price of the Senior Notes. ss

At their issuance, the Senior Notes were not rated by any credit rating agency. However, the Senior Notes may subsequently be

rated by one or more of the credit rating agencies. If the Senior Notes are rated, the rating could be lower than expected, and such a d

rating could have an adverse effect on the market price of the Senior Notes. Furthermore, credit rating agencies revise their ratings from 

time to time and could lower or withdraw any rating issued with respect to the Senior Notes. Any real or anticipated downgrade or 

withdrawal of any ratings of the Senior Notes could have an adverse effect on the market price or liquidity of the Senior Notes.

Ratings reflect only the views of the issuing credit rating agency or agencies and are not recommendations to purchase, sell or

hold any particular security, including the Senior Notes. In addition, ratings do not reflect market prices or suitability of a security for a

particular investor, and any future rating of the Senior Notes may not reflect all risks related to us and our business or the structure or 

market value of the Senior Notes.

We are the sole obligor of the Senior Notes, and our direct and indirect subsidiaries do not guarantee our obligations under the 

Senior Notes and do not have any obligation with respect to the Senior Notes. Furthermore, your right to receive payment on the

Senior Notes will be structurally subordinated to the liabilities of our subsidiaries.

GFN is a holding company with no business operations or assets other than the capital stock of its direct and indirect

subsidiaries. Consequently, we will be dependent on loans, dividends and other payments from these subsidiaries to make payments of 

principal and interest on the Senior Notes. However, our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities, and they will have no 

obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay the amounts due under the Senior Notes or to make any funds available to pay those

amounts, whether by dividend, distribution, loan or other payments. Holders of the Senior Notes will not have any direct claim on the

cash flows or assets of our direct and indirect subsidiaries. 
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The ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other payments to us will depend on their cash flows and earnings, 
which, in turn, will be affected by all of the factors discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. The ability of our direct and indirect a
subsidiaries to pay dividends and make distributions to us may be restricted by, among other things, applicable laws and regulations and 
by the terms of the agreements into which they enter. If we are unable to obtain funds from our direct and indirect subsidiaries as a
result of restrictions under their debt or other agreements, applicable laws and regulations or otherwise, we may not be able to pay cash
interest or principal on the Senior Notes when due. 

The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all indebtedness of our subsidiaries. While the indenture governing the Senior 
Notes will limit the indebtedness and activities of these subsidiaries, holders of indebtedness of, and trade creditors of, our subsidiaries,r
are entitled to payments of their claims from the assets of such subsidiaries before those assets are made available for distribution to us,
as direct or indirect shareholder. Accordingly, in the event that any of our subsidiaries becomes insolvent, liquidates or otherwise
reorganizes: 

the creditors of such subsidiary (including the holders of the Senior Notes) will have no right to proceed against such
subsidiary’s assets; and 
the creditors of such subsidiary, including trade creditors, will generally be entitled to payment in full from the sale or other 
disposal of assets of such subsidiary before we, as direct or indirect stockholder, will bet  entitled to receive any distributions 
from such subsidiary.

GFN’s ability, as a holding company, to make payments in respect of the Senior Notes depends on the ability of our subsidiaries to 

transfer funds to us.

GFN’s cash flow and ability to make payments in respect of the Senior Notes depends on the earnings of our subsidiaries, the 
distribution from our subsidiaries and compliance with the covenants governing the indebtedness of our subsidiaries, including, without 
limitation, covenants of the senior credit facilities of our subsidiaries that permit dividends and other payments from such subsidiaries to u
GFN. Payments by our subsidiaries to GFN are also contingent upon those subsidiaries’ earnings and business considerations.
Furthermore, GFN’s right to receive any assets of any of our subsidiaries upon their liquidation, reorganization or otherwise, and thus
the ability of a holder of Senior Notes to benefit indirectly from such distribution, will be subject to the prior claims of the subsidiaries’ 
creditors.

The terms of the revolving senior credit facility with a syndicate led by Wells Fargo limit the ability of our North Americanff
Leasing operations to upstream funds to GFN that would be used to pay interest on the Senior Notes. If the amount of the interest 
payable on the Senior Notes exceeds the amount of the funds our North American Leasing operations are permitted to pay GFN, and
GFN is unable to generate sufficient cash from its other subsidiaries for an interest payment, GFN may not be able to make the required 
interest payment on the Senior Notes. Our ability to pay interest or principal to the holders of our Senior Notes will be advert sely 
affected if the senior credit facility prohibits the transfer of funds to GFN. 

We may be unable to repurchase the Senior Notes upon a change of control.

In the event of a “change of control,” as defined in the indenture governing our Senior Notes, we must offer to purchase the
Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase. In
the event that we are required to make such offer with respect to the Senior Notes, h there can be no assurance that we would have 
sufficient funds available to purchase any Senior Notes, and we may be required to refinance the Senior Notes. There can be no
assurance that we would be able to accomplish a refinancing or, if a refinancing were to occur, f that it would be accomplished on 
commercially reasonable terms. The revolving credit facilities of our subsidiaries prohibit us from repurchasing any of the Senior Notes,
except under limited circumstances. The revolving credit facilities of our subsidiaries also provide that certain change of control events 
would constitute a default. In the event a change of control occurs at a time when we are prohibited from purchasing the Senior Notes,r
we could seek the consent of the lenders under the revolving credit facilities of our U.S. subsidiaries to purchase the Senior Notes. If we 
did not obtain such consent, we would remain prohibited from purchasing the Senior Notes. In this case, our failure to purchase would 
constitute an event of default under the indenture governing the Senior Notes.

Changes in the credit markets could adversely affect the market price of the Senior Notes. ff

The market price for the Senior Notes will be based on a number of factors, including:

the prevailing interest rates being paid by other companies similar to us; and 
and the overall condition of the financial markets. 
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The condition of the credit markets and prevailing interest rates have fluctuated in the past and can be expected to fluctuate in the 

future. Fluctuations in these factors could have an adverse effect on the price and liquidity of the Senior Notes. 

An increase in market interest rates could result in a decrease in the relative value of the Senior Notes.ee

In general, as market interest rates rise, Senior Notes bearing interest at a fixed rate generally decline in value. Consequently, if 

you purchase these Senior Notes and market interest rates increase, the market values of your Senior Notes may decline. We cannot 

predict the future level of market interest rates. 

We could enter into various transactions that could increase the amount of our outstanding debt, or adversely affect our capital 

structure or credit rating, or otherwise adversely affect holders of the Senior Notes. 

Subject to certain exceptions relating to incurring certain liens or entering into certain sale and leaseback transactions, the terms

of the Senior Notes do not prevent us from entering into a variety of acquisition, divestiture, refinancing, recapitalization or other highly

leveraged transactions. As a result, we could enter into any such transaction even though the transaction could increase the total amount 

of our outstanding indebtedness, adversely affect our capital structure or credit rating or otherwise adversely affect the holders of the

Senior Notes. 

Redemption may adversely affect your return on the Senior Notes.

We have the right to redeem some or all of the Senior Notes prior to maturity. We may redeem the Senior Notes at times when

prevailing interest rates may be relatively low compared to rates at the time of issuance of the Senior Notes. Accordingly, you may not u

be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the Seniot r Notes.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments 

None.
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Item 2.  Properties

We lease the locations in our North American leasing operations, except for Pac-Van’s corporate offices and two branch

locations. Most of the major leased properties have remaining lease terms of at least one year and we believe that satisfactory alternativey

properties could be found in all of our North American markets, if necessary. The following table shows information about our branches 

and other properties in North America as of June 30, 2017: 

             Location Function/Uses

United States:

Albany, GA Leasing and sales

Atlanta, GA Leasing and sales

Austin, TX Leasing and sales

Bakersfield, CA Leasing and sales

Boston, MA Leasing and sales

Charleston, WV Leasing and sales

Charlotte, NC Leasing and sales

Chicago, IL (owned) Leasing and sales

Cincinnati, OH Leasing and sales

Cleveland, OH Leasing and sales

Columbus, OH Leasing and sales

Corpus Christi, TX Leasing and sales

Dallas, TX Leasing and sales

Denver, CO Leasing and sales

Des Moines, IA Leasing and sales

Detroit, MI Leasing and sales

Elkhart, IN Leasing and sales

Elko, NV Fleet storage

Chino-Los Angeles, CA Leasing and sales

Green Bay, WI (c) Leasing and sales

Houston, TX Leasing and sales

Indianapolis, IN Leasing and sales

Indianapolis, IN (owned) Corporate office

Jacksonville, FL Leasing and sales

Kansas City, MO Leasing and sales

Kenedy, TX (a) Leasing and sales

Kermit, TX (b) Leasing and sales

Las Vegas, NV Leasing and sales

Lexington, KY Leasing and sales

Little Rock, AK Leasing and sales

Louisville, KY Leasing and sales

Madison, WI Leasing and sales

Memphis, TN (owned) Leasing and sales

Miami, FL Leasing and sales

Milwaukee, WI Leasing and sales

Nashville, TN Leasing and sales

New Brunswick (Trenton), NJ Leasing and sales

Orlando, FL Leasing and sales

Paducah, KY Leasing and sales

Philadelphia, PA Leasing and sales

Phoenix, AZ (c) Leasing and sales

Pittsburgh, PA Leasing and sales

Portland, OR Leasing and sales

Milan, IL (Quad Cities) Leasing and sales

Raleigh, NC Leasing and sales

Salt Lake City, UT Leasing and sales

San Antonio, TX Leasing and sales

Seattle, WA Leasing and sales

Springfield, MO Leasing and sales
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St. Louis, MO Leasing and sales

Toledo, OH Leasing and sales

Watford City, ND Leasing and sales

Wichita, KS Leasing and sales

Yakima, WA Leasing and sales

Canada:

Edmonton, AB (c) Leasing and sales

Calgary, AB Leasing and sales

Vancouver, BC Leasing and sales

(a) There is another associated location in Karnes, TX, but it does not conduct leasing and sales. 

(b) There is another associated location in Goldsmith, TX, but it does not conduct leasing and sales. 

(c) There is also a fleet maintenance and modification facility in this market.

Southern Frac’s 40,000 square foot manufacturing facility located in Waxahachie, Texas is on a 7.4 acre property, which we 

purchased in December 2012. In addition, Southern Frac has two contiguous leased properties that include administrative offices and 

warehouse space, as well as additional parking, with lease terms through February 2019 and March 2019 with a three-year renewal

option on each lease.

We lease our GFN corporate headquarters in Pasadena, California, effective January 31, 2008, from an affiliate of our chief 

executive officer, who is also the chairman of the board of directors. The term of the lease is five years, with two five-year renewal

options, and the rent is adjusted yearly based on the consumer price index. On October 11, 2012, we exercised our option to renew the 

lease for an additional five-year term commencing February 1, 2013. We also lease a small office in Northbrook, Illinois. The term of 

the lease is through October 31, 2017. 

We locate our Asia-Pacific CSCs (or branches) in markets with attractive demographics and strong growth prospects. Within

each market, we have located our CSCs in areas that allow for easy delivery of portable storage units to our customers over a wide

geographic area. In addition, when cost effective, we seek high visibility locations. Our CSCs maintain an inventory of portable storage 

units available for lease, and most of our CSCs also provide storage of units under lease at the site (“on-site storage”). Several CSCs 

have multiple leases of adjoining or contiguous properties and the CSCs are all leased. The following table shows information about our a

CSCs and other properties by country (Australia and New Zealand) at June 30, 2017 and we believe these properties are suitable and 

adequate: 

             Location Functions/Uses

Australia:

Adelaide Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Albury Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Brisbane – Banyo Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Brisbane – Armada Place Banyo (special 

projects and modifications) Leasing and sales (not a CSC)

South Brisbane Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Cairns

Cairns Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Canberra Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Melbourne East – Clayton Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Melbourne West - Sunshine Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Darwin Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Geraldton Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Gold Coast Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Gosford – Central Coast Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Hobart - Tasmania Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Launceston - Tasmania Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Hornsby Head office (Not a CSC)

Sydney – Moorebank Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Sydney – Blacktown (Containertech) Warehouse and sales (Not a CSC)

Newcastle Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Perth – Bassendean Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Rockhampton Leasing, on-site storage and sales
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Toowoomba Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Townsville Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Wollongong Leasing, on-site storage and sales

New Zealand:

Auckland – Jarvis Way Head Office, Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Christchurch Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Dunedin Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Hamilton Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Napier Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Nelson Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Palmerston North Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Silverdale/Albany Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Tauranga/Bay of Plenty Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Wellington Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Whangarei Leasing, on-site storage and sales

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

We are not involved in any material lawsuits or claims arising out of the normal course of our business. We have insurance 

policies to cover general liability and workers compensation related claims. In our opinion, the ultimate amount of liability not covered 

by insurance under pending litigation and claims, if any, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, opt erating

results or cash flows. 

Reference is made to Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of commitments and 

contingencies, including any legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol “GFN.” The following tables set 

forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low closing sales prices for our common stock. 

Common Stock

High Low

Year Ended June 30, 2016:

Fourth Quarter $ 4.74 $ 4.06

Third Quarter 5.05 3.55

Second Quarter 4.93 3.65

First Quarter 5.61 3.30

Year Ended June 30, 2017:

Fourth Quarter $ 5.20 $ 4.70

Third Quarter 5.70 4.95

Second Quarter 5.60 4.00

First Quarter 4.67 4.20

Record Holders 

As of August 1, 2017, there were 68 holders of record of our common stock. The number of record holders was determined from 

the records of our transfer agent and does not include beneficial owners of our common stocks whose shares are held in the names of 

various security brokers, dealers and registered clearing agencies. We believe that there are thousands of beneficial owners.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of dividends in the future will be contingent upon 

our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any dividends will be within the 

discretion of our board of directors. It is the present intention of our board of directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our r

business operations and, accordingly, our board does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Sales of Unregistered Securities 

Information required is not applicable or has been previously included in either a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in a Current nn

Report on Form 8-K.
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Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information concerning our equity compensation plans (see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements) as of June 30, 2017: 

(c)

Number of securities

remaining available

for future issuance

under equity

compensation plans

(excluding securities

reflected in column

(a))

(a)

Number of securities

to be issued upon

exercise of

outstanding options,

warrants and rights

(b)

Weighted-average exercise

price of outstanding

options, warrants and

rightsPlan category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2,061,057 $ 4.92 550,194 (i)    

Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders — — —           

Total 2,061,057 $ 4.92 550,194 (i)   

(i) Reduced by the issuance under the equity compensation plans of 913,370 restricted (non-vested equity) and non-restricted 

shares.
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Stock Performance Graph 

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC, nor 

should such information be incorporated by reference into any future filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, excer pt to the

extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference in such filing.

The following graph compares the five-year cumulative total return on our common stock with the cumulative total returns

(assuming reinvestment of dividends) on the Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”) Small Cap and the Russell 2000 if $100 were invested in our 

common stock and each index on June 30, 2012.

Period Ending

Index 06/30/12 06/30/13 06/30/14 06/30/15 06/30/16 06/30/17  

  General Finance Corporation 100.00 144.41 295.03 162.11 131.99 159.94  

  Russell 2000 Index 100.00 124.21 153.57 163.53 152.52 190.05  

  S&P Small Cap 600 Index 100.00 125.18 157.14 167.70 167.65 205.32  
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables summarize our selected financial data for each of the five years ended June 30, 2017 and should be read in

conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and 

“Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Consolidated Statement of Operations Information: 

Year Ended June 30,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Sales:

Lease inventories and fleet     $ 103,003   $ 116,448   $ 90,275   $ 111,439   $ 95,764

Manufactured units 19,140 19,647 13,981 6,179 4,895

122,143 136,095 104,256 117,618 100,659

Leasing 123,400 151,010 199,569 168,233 176,269

245,543 287,105 303,825 285,851 276,928

Operating income 29,491 40,041 43,043 14,383 19,066

Other expense, net (9,883) (13,272) (21,301) (19,860) (19,938)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 19,608 26,769 21,742 (5,477) (872)

Net income (loss) 11,413 15,149 13,045 (3,286) (847)

NNet income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 3,545 3,904 3,475 (9,025) (6,620)

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic     $ 0.16   $ 0.16   $ 0.13   $ (0.35)   $ (0.25)

Diluted 0.16 0.15 0.13 (0.35) (0.25)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Information:

June 30,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Trade and other receivables, net     $ 34,360   $ 61,474   $ 47,641   $ 38,067   $ 44,390

Inventories 31,858 27,402 36,875 34,609 29,648

Lease fleet, net 290,165 396,552 410,985 419,345 427,275

Total assets 473,166 664,915 684,377 673,574 675,314

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 32,238 53,838 37,590 43,476 42,774

Senior and other debt 162,951 299,303 353,940 352,220 355,638

Total equity 234,141 257,885 234,356 224,612 223,248
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Selected Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data 

The following table sets forth unaudited operating data for each quarter of the years ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2017. This

quarterly information has been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of 

management, contains all significant adjustments necessary to state fairly the information set forth herein. These quarterly results are

not necessarily indicative of future results, growth rates or quarter-to-quarter comparisons.

First

Quarter

Second

Quarter

Third

Quarter

Fourth

Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016:

Revenues  $ 63,786  $ 83,267  $ 66,469  $ 72,329

Gross profit 5,089 7,643 5,606 6,534

Operating income (a) 3,999 8,688 953 743

Net income (loss) (535) 1,880 (2,275) (2,356)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (2,020) 97 (3,282) (3,820)

Net income per common share:

Basic  $ (0.08)  $ 0.00  $ (0.13)  $ (0.15)

Diluted (0.08) 0.00 (0.13) (0.15)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017:

Revenues  $ 62,798  $ 72,327  $ 68,464  $ 73,339

Gross profit 6,222 6,795 6,183 6,908

Operating income 3,663 7,097 3,610 4,696

Net income (loss) (744) 1,370 (1,071) (402)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (2,137) (639) (2,079) (1,765)

Net income per common share:

Basic  $ (0.08)  $ (0.02)  $ (0.08)  $ (0.07)

Diluted (0.08) (0.02) (0.08) (0.07)

(a) Fourth quarter includes non-recurring severance costs and CEO retirement compensation at Royal Wolf of $727, a non-cash 

trade name impairment charge of $387 and lower of cost or net realizable value write-downs of $1,350. 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated 

financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion 

includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ significantly from those 

anticipated or discussed in those forward-looking statements as a result of various factors; including, but not limited to, those described 

in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” 

References to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” refer to General Finance Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GFN”), and 

its consolidated subsidiaries. These subsidiaries include GFN U.S. Australasia Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“GFN U.S.”);

GFN Insurance Corporation, an Arizona corporation (“GFNI”); GFN North America Leasing Corporation, a Delaware corporation

(“GFNNA Leasing”); GFN North America Corp., a Delaware corporation (“GFNNA”); GFN Realty Company, LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company (“GFNRC”); GFN Manufacturing Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GFNMC”), and its subsidiary, 

Southern Frac, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (collectively “Southern Frac”); GFN Asia Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd, an 

Australian corporation (“GFNAPH”), and its subsidiary, GFN Asia Pacific Finance Pty Ltd, an Australian corporation (“GFNAPF”); 

Royal Wolf Holdings Limited, an Australian corporation (“RWH”), and its Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries (collectively,

“Royal Wolf”); Pac-Van, Inc., an Indiana corporation, and its Canadian subsidiary, PV Acquisition Corp., an Alberta corporation

(collectively “Pac-Van”); and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Lone Star”). 

Overview 

Founded in October 2005, we are a leading specialty rental services company offering portable (or mobile) storage, modular 

space and liquid containment solutions in these three distinct, but related industries, which we collectively refer to as the “portable

services industry.” 

We have two geographic areas that include four operating segments; the Asia-Pacific (or Pan-Pacific) area, consisting of Royal

Wolf (which leases and sells storage containers, portable container buildings and freight containers in Australia and New Zealand) and 

North America, consisting of Pac-Van (which leases and sells storage, office and portable liquid storage tank containers, modulh ar 

buildings and mobile offices), and Lone Star (see above), which are combined to form our “North American Leasing” operations, and 

Southern Frac (which manufactures portable liquid storage tank containers and other steel-related products). As of June 30, 2017, our 

two geographic leasing operations lease and sell their products through twenty-one customer service centers (“CSCs”) in Australia,

eleven CSCs in New Zealand, fifty-two branch locations in the United States and three branch locations in Canada. At that date, we had 

247 and 524 employees and 42,230 and 38,482 lease fleet units in the Asia-Pacific area and North America, respectively.

Our lease fleet is comprised of three distinct specialty rental equipment categories that possess attractive asset characteristics and 

serve our customers’ on-site temporary needs and applications. These categories match the sectors comprising the portable services

industry. 

Our portable storage category is segmented into two products: (1) storage containers, which primarily consist of new and used 

steel shipping containers under International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) standards, that provide a flexible, low cost 

alternative to warehousing, while offering greater security, convenience and immediate accessibility; and (2) freight containers, which 

are either designed for transport of products by road and rail and are only offered in our Asia-Pacific territory.

Our modular space category is segmented into three products: (1) office containers, which are referred to as portable container

buildings in the Asia-Pacific, are either modified or specifically manufactured containers that provide self-contained office space with

maximum design flexibility. Office containers in the United States are oftentimes referred to as ground level offices (“GLOs”);

(2) modular buildings, which provide customers with flexible space solutions and are often modified to customer specificationsd and 

(3) mobile offices, which are re-locatable units with aluminum or wood exteriors and wood (or steel) frames on a steel carriage fitted 

with axles, and which allow for an assortment of “add-ons” to provide convenient temporary space solutions.

Our liquid containment category includes portable liquid storage tanks that are manufactured 500-barrel capacity steel containers

with fixed axles for transport. These units are regularly utilized for a variety of applications across a wide range of industries, including

refinery, petrochemical and industrial plant maintenance, oil and gas services, environmental remediation and field services,

infrastructure building construction, marine services, pipeline construction and maintenance, tank terminal services, waste management,

wastewater treatment and landfill services. 
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Results of Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2017 (“FY 2017”) Compared to Year Ended June 30, 2016 (“FY 2016”)

The following compares our FY 2017 results of operations with our FY 2016 results of operations. 

Revenues. Revenues decreased $9.0 million, or 3%, to $276.9 million in FY 2017 from $285.9 million in FY 2016. This

consisted of a $3.8 million increase, or 2%, in revenues in our North American leasing operations; which were more than offset by

decreases of $11.6 million, or 10%, in revenues in the Asia-Pacific area and $1.2 million, or approximately 20%, in manufacturing

revenues from Southern Frac. The effect of the average currency exchange rate of the stronger Australian dollar relative to thef  U.S.

dollar in FY 2017 versus FY 2016 enhanced the translation of revenues from the Asia-Pacific area. The average currency exchange rate

of one Australian dollar during FY 2017 was $0.7541 U.S. dollar compared to $0.7287 U.S. dollar during FY 2016. As a result, FY

2017 total revenues in the Asia-Pacific area were impacted by an approximately 3% favorable foreign exchange translation effect whent

compared to FY 2016. In Australian dollars, total revenues in the Asia-Pacific area decreased by 13% in FY 2017 from FY 2016. 

Excluding Lone Star (doing business solely in the oil and gas sector), total revenues of our North American leasing operations 

increased by $8.1 million, or 6%, in FY 2017 from FY 2016, primarily in the commercial, industrial, government, mining and education 

sectors, which increased by an aggregate $18.0 million between the periods; and was partially offset by reductions in the oil and gas, 

services, construction and retail sectors totaling $10.0 million. At Lone Star, revenues declined by $4.3 million, or 18%, from

$23.4 million in FY 2016 to $19.1 million in FY 2017. The revenue decrease in the Asia-Pacific area occurred primarily in the 

transportation, oil and gas and consumer sectors, which decreased between the periods by $13.8 million, and was partially offset by an

increase of $1.8 million in the construction sector. 

Sales and leasing revenues represented 35% and 65% of total non-manufacturing revenues, respectively, in FY 2017, compared 

to 40% and 60% of total non-manufacturing revenues, respectively in FY 2016. 

Sales during FY 2017 amounted to $100.6 million, compared to $117.6 million during FY 2016; representing a decrease of 

$17.0 million, or 14%. This consisted of a $15.4 million decrease, or 24%, in sales in the Asia-Pacific area, a decrease of $0.4 million,

or 1%, in our North American leasing operations and a decrease in manufacturing sales of $1.2 million at Southern Frac. The decrease

in the Asia-Pacific area was comprised of a decrease of $2.3 million ($2.6 million decrease due to lower unit sales, $1.0 million 

decrease due to lower average prices and a $1.3 million increase due to foreign exchange movements) in the CSC operations and a

decrease of $13.1 million ($9.9 million decrease due to lower unit sales, $3.4 million decrease due to lower average prices and a d

$0.2 million increase due to foreign exchange movements) in the national accounts group, and occurred primarily in transportation,

construction, oil and gas, consumer and moving and storage sectors, which decreased between the periods by $17.3 million; offset 

somewhat by increases in the mining and industrial sectors totaling $2.5 million. FY 2016 included several low-margin sales in the

transportation sector in the Asia-Pacific area totaling approximately $14.0 million (approximately AUS$19.4 million), which were not 

repeated in FY 2017. In Australian dollars, total sales in the Asia-Pacific area decreased by 27% in FY 2017 from FY 2016. In our 

North American leasing operations, the sales decrease in FY 2017 from FY 2016 was primarily in the services, construction and oil and 

gas sectors, which decreased by a total of $9.4 million between the periods; offset somewhat by increases in primarily the commercial,

industrial, government and mining sectors, which increased by over $9.0 million. The decrease at Southern Frac was due to the

continued low demand for our portable liquid containment tanks caused by soft oil and gas drilling activity, primarily in Texas. Sales at 

Southern Frac in both periods were primarily from chassis and other steel-based product lines. 

Leasing revenues totaled $176.3 million in FY 2017, an increase of $8.0 million, or 3%, from $168.3 million in FY 2016. This

consisted of increases of $3.8 million, or 7%, in the Asia-Pacific area, and $4.2 million, or 4%, in North America. In Australiff an dollars,

leasing revenues increased by 3% in the Asia-Pacific area in FY 2017 from FY 2016.

In the Asia-Pacific area, average utilization in the retail and the national accounts group operations was 84% and 67%, 

respectively, during FY 2017, as compared to 83% and 68%, respectively, in FY 2016. The overall average utilization was 80% during 

both periods; and the average monthly lease rate of containers was AUS$158 in FY 2017 versus AUS$159 in FY 2016, caused 

primarily by a lower average lease rate in portable container buildings between the periods. Leasing revenues in FY 2017 increased 

from FY 2016 despite the lower composite monthly lease rate between the periods primarily because of the composite average monthly

number of units on lease was approximately 600 higher in FY 2017 as compared to FY 2016, and a stronger Australian dollar between

the periods . Leasing revenues increased in most sectors, but primarily in construction, transportation and special events, which 

increased by a total of $4.8 million between the periods; offset somewhat by decreases of an aggregate $2.1 million in the mining and 

industrial sectors. 
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In our North American leasing operations, average utilization rates were 75%, 78%, 48%, 78% and 81% and average monthly 

lease rates were $121, $321, $533, $282 and $774 for storage containers, office containers, frac tank containers, mobile offices and 

modular units, respectively, during FY 2017; as compared to 74%, 80%, 43%, 76% and 81% and average monthly lease rates were 

$121, $317, $699, $278 and $772 for storage containers, office containers, frac tank containers, mobile offices and modular units in FY 

2016, respectively. The average composite utilization rate was 73% FY 2017 and 71% in FY 2016, and the composite average monthly

number of units on lease was over 3,200 higher in FY 2017 as compared to FY 2016. The increase in leasing revenues between the 

periods was primarily in the commercial, construction and industrial sectors, which increased by $9.4 in FY 2017 from FY 2016; offset 

somewhat by decreases in FY 2017 from FY 2016 in the oil and gas and retail sectors totaling $6.3 million. Excluding Lone Star, total 

leasing revenues of our North American leasing operations increased by $8.5 million, or 10%, in FY 2017 from FY 2016.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales from our lease inventories and fleet (which is the cost related to our sales revenues only and 

exclusive of the line items discussed below) decreased by $14.5 million from $82.7 million during FY 2016 to $68.2 million during FY 

2017, and our gross profit percentage from these non-manufacturing sales improved to 29% in FY 2017 from 26% in FY 2016,

primarily as a result of the low-margin sales in the Asia-Pacific area in FY 2016 discussed above. Cost of sales from our manufactured ff

products totaled $6.3 million in FY 2017, as compared to $10.1 million in FY 2016, resulting in reducing our gross margin loss from 

$3.9 million in FY 2016 to $1.4 million in FY 2017. The loss incurred during both periods was due primarily to the lack of production dd

and sales volume from our portable liquid containment tanks and other steel-based products, primarily chassis. We remain focused on 

making our chassis and other steel-based products commercially viable in order to diversify outside of our core portable liquid

containment business. 

Direct Costs of Leasing Operations and Selling and General Expenses. Direct costs of leasing operations and selling and general 

expenses increased by $6.2 million from $137.8 million during FY 2016 to $144.0 million during FY 2017. As a percentage of 

revenues, these costs increased to 52% during FY 2017 from 48% in FY 2016 due to operating expenses not proportionately decreasing

with lower revenues, primarily as a result of the adverse effect of lower lease rates between the periods in the oil and gas mat rket inaa

North America, the overall lower average lease rate in the Asia-Pacific area and the beneficial effect on the percentage of the higher 

revenues in FY 2016 from the low-margin sales in the Asia-Pacific area discussed above.

Impairment of Goodwill. In FY 2016, we recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $2.7 million to the goodwill recorded in

our North American manufacturing operations as a result of thtt e Southern Frac acquisition. Reference is made to Note 2 of Notes to

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding goodwill. 

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by $1.5 million to $39.3 million in FY 2017 from

$37.8 million in FY 2016. This consisted of an increase of $2.3 million in the Asia-Pacif fic, or 16%, primarily as a result of the 

translation effect of a stronger Australian dollar to the U.S. dollar in FY 2017 versus FY 2016 (in Australian dollars, depreciation and 

amortization increased by 12%); which offset somewhat by a $0.8 million decrease in North America, consisting of decreases at Lone 

Star and Southern Frac of $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively, and a $0.4 million increase at Pac-Van, primarily as a result of 

our increased investment in lease fleet purchases and business acquisitions. 

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $19.7 million in FY 2017 was comparable to FY 2016. In North America, the higher 

interest expense of $1.4 million was due to the weighted-average interest rate of 5.3% (which does not include the effect of the 

accretion of interest and amortization of deferred financing costs) in FY 2017 being higher than the 4.9% in FY 2016, as well as the

average borrowings being comparatively higher between the periods. In the Asia-Pacific area, reduced interest expense of $1.4 million

was due to the weighted-average interest rate of 5.0% (which does not include the effect of translation, interest rate swap contracts and 

options and the amortization of deferred financing costs) in FY 2017 being lower than the 5.4% in FY 2016, as well as average 

borrowings being comparatively lower between the periods. However, this was partially offset by the stronger Australian dollar 

between the periods.

Foreign Currency Exchange and Other. The currency exchange rate of one Australian dollar to one U.S. dollar was $0.7658 at 

June 30, 2015, $0.74425 at June 30, 2016 and $0.76869 at June 30, 2017. In FY 2016 and FY 2017, net unrealized and realized foreign

exchange gains (losses) totaled $(103,000) and $80,000, and $(375,000) and $39,000, respectively. In addition, in FY 2016 and FY

2017, unrealized exchange losses on forward exchange contracts totaled $367,000 and $12,000, respectively. In FY 2016, we sold our 

owned real properties in the Asia-Pacific area for a net gain of $109,000.

Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 2.9% and 40.0% in FY 2017 and FY 2016, respectively. In FY 2016, the

effective tax rate is greater than the U.S. federal tax rate of 35% primarily because of state income taxes from the filing of f tax returns in

multiple U.S. states and the effect of doing business and filing income tax returns in foreign jurisdictions. In FY 2017, the effective tax

rate is lower than the U.S. federal tax rate primarily as a result of adjustments to estimated state deferred tax liabilities, net of U.S.

federal tax benefit, totaling $297,000, which more than offset the same multijurisdictional factors present in FY 2016. 
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Preferred Stock Dividends. In both FY 2017 and FY 2016, we paid $3.7 million primarily on our 9.00% Series C Cumulative

Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock.

Noncontrolling Interests. Noncontrolling interests in the Royal Wolf and Southern Frac results of operations were approximately

$2.1 million in both FY 2017 and FY 2016. 

Net Loss Attributable to Common Stockholders. Net loss attributable to common stockholders was $6.6 million in FY 2017 

versus $9.0 million in FY 2016, an improvement of $2.4 million, primarily as a result of higher operating profit in North America (FY 

2016 included a pretax impairment charge of $2.7 million) and a stronger Australian dollar between the periods, offset somewhat by t

lower operating profit in the Asia-Pacific area.

FY 2016 Compared to Year Ended June 30, 2015 (“FY 2015”) 

The following compares our FY 2016 results of operations with our FY 2015 results of operations.

Revenues. Revenues decreased $17.9 million, or 6%, to $285.9 million in FY 2016 from $303.8 million in FY 2015. This 

consisted of a $6.1 million decrease, or 4%, in revenues in our North American leasing operations, a decrease of $4.0 million, or 3%, in

revenues in the Asia-Pacific area and a decrease of $7.8 million in manufacturing revenues from Southern Frac. The effect of the 

average currency exchange rate of the weakening Australian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in FY 2016 versus FY 2015 adversely

effected the translation of revenues from the Asia-Pacific area. The average currency exchange rate of one Australian dollar during FY 

2016 was $0.7287 U.S. dollar compared to $0.8373 U.S. dollar during FY 2015. In Australian dollars, total revenues in the Asia-tt Pacific

area increased by 11% from FY 2015 to FY 2016. 

Excluding Lone Star (doing business solely in the oil and gas sector), total revenues of our North American leasing operations

increased by $20.6 million in FY 2016 from FY 2015 across most sectors, offset somewhat by decreases in the oil and gas and 

government sectors totaling $6.3 million. At Lone Star, revenues declined by $26.8 million, or 53%, from $50.2 million in FY 2015 to

$23.4 million in FY 2016. The revenue decrease in the Asia-Pacific area occurred primarily in the oil and gas, government, retaff il and 

mining sectors, and was partially offset by increases in the transportation, building and construction, industrial and moving sectors. 

Revenues were also impacted by an approximate 13% unfavorable foreign exchange translation effect between periods. 

Sales and leasing revenues represented 40% and 60% of total non-manufacturing revenues, respectively, in FY 2016 compared to

31% and 69% of total non-manufacturing revenues in FY 2015. The revenue mix shift towards sales between the years was primarily

the result of the revenue decline at Lone Star, which revenues have been exclusively leasing. 

Sales during FY 2016 amounted to $117.6 million, compared to $104.3 million during FY 2015; representing an increase of 

$13.3 million, or 13%. This consisted of an $8.4 million increase, or 15%, in sales in the Asia-Pacific area, an increase of $12.7 million, 

or 36%, in our North American leasing operations and a decrease in manufacturing sales of $7.8 million, or 56%, at Southern Frac. 

Overall, non-manufacturing sales increased by a net $21.1 million, or 23%, in FY 2016 from FY 2015. The increase in the Asia-Pacific

area was comprised of a decrease of $5.7 million ($0.9 million increase due to higher unit sales, $0.1 million decrease due to lower 

average prices and a $6.5 million decrease due to foreign exchange movements) in the CSC operations and an increase of $14.1 million 

($7.2 million increase due to higher unit sales, a $9.7 million increase due to higher average prices and a $2.8 million decrease due to

foreign exchange movements) in the national accounts group, which included several low-margin sales in the transportation sector of 

approximately $14.0 million (AUS$19.4 million) in FY 2016. In our North American leasing operations, the sales increase in FY 2016

from FY 2015 was across most sectors, most notably in the construction, services and industrial sectors, which totaled $11.5 mirr llion;

offset somewhat by decreases in the oil and gas, government and retail sectors totaling $3.1 million. The decrease at Southern Frac was

due to the decreased demand for our portable liquid containment tanks caused by weaker oil and gas drilling activity, primarily in y

Texas.

Leasing revenues during FY 2016 totaled $168.3 million, as compared to $199.5 million during FY 2015, representing a 

decrease of $31.2 million, or 16%. This consisted of a decrease of $18.8 million, or 14%, in North America, and a decrease of 

$12.4 million, or 18%, in the Asia-Pacific area. In Australian dollars, leasing revenues decreased by 6% in the Asia-Pacific area from 

FY 2015 to FY 2016.

In the Asia-Pacific area, average utilization in the retail and the national accounts group operations was 83% and 68%, 

respectively, during FY 2016, a decrease from 85% and 72% in FY 2015. The overall average utilization decreased in FY 2016 to 80%

from 82% in FY 2015; and the average monthly lease rate of containers was AUS$159 in
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FY 2016 versus AUS$175 in FY 2015. Leasing revenues in FY 2016 decreased in Australian dollars over FY 2015 due primarily to the 

lower composite monthly lease rate, as a result of the reduction of units on lease of portable container buildings to the oil and gas sector,aa

and the average monthly number of units on lease being more than 450 lower in FY 2016 as compared to FY 2015. 

In our North American leasing operations, average utilization rates were 74%, 80%, 43%, 76% and 81% and average monthly

lease rates were $121, $317, $699, $278 and $772 for storage containers, office containers, frac tank containers, mobile offices and 

modular units, respectively, during FY 2016; as compared to 76%, 85%, 71%, 75% and 79% and average monthly lease rates were

$114, $299, $1,314, $259 and $770 for storage containers, office containers, frac tank containers, mobile offices and modular units in 

FY 2015, respectively. The average composite utilization rate decreased to 71% in FY 2016 from 76% in FY 2015; however, the

composite average monthly number of units on lease was over 3,800 higher in FY 2016 as compared to FY 2015. The increased average 

monthly number of units on lease and higher monthly lease rates, other than frac tank containers, between the years resulted from

improved demand in most sectors, but was more than offset by a decrease of $30.4 million in the oil and gas sector, primarily at Lone

Star, while all other sectors increased by $11.6 million. 

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales from our lease inventories and fleet (which is the cost related to our sales revenues only and 

exclusive of the line items discussed below) increased by $17.9 million from $64.8 million during FY 2015 to $82.7 million during FY 

2016, as a result of the increased sales from our lease inventories and fleet, as discussed above. Our gross profit percentage from these 

non-manufacturing sales decreased to 26% in FY 2016 from 28% in FY 2015, primarily as a result of the low-margin sales in the Asia-

Pacific area discussed above. Cost of sales from our manufactured products totaled $10.1 million in FY 2016, as compared to

$10.9 million in FY 2015, resulting in a gross margin loss of $3.9 million in FY 2016, versus a gross profit of $3.1 million in FY 2015.

This was due primarily to the lack of volume of tank sales, lower of cost or net realizable value write-downs of approximately

$1.4 million and production inefficiencies from the start-up of our new chassis product line. We remain focused on making our chassis 

product line and other steel-based products commercially viable in order to diversify outside of our core portable liquid containment 

business, but we will be closely monitoring the situation. 

Direct Costs of Leasing Operations and Selling and General Expenses. Direct costs of leasing operations and selling and general 

expenses decreased by $9.6 million from $147.4 million during FY 2015 to $137.8 million during FY 2016. As a percentage of 

revenues, these costs decreased slightly to 48% during FY 2016 from 49% in FY 2015. FY 2016 included non-recurring severance costs

and CEO retirement compensation at Royal Wolf of $0.7 million and FY 2015 included $0.4 million related to expenses of a public

equity offering that was postponed.

Impairment of Goodwill and Trade Name. We recognized non-cash impairment charges of $2.7 million and $0.4 million to the

goodwill and trade name, respectively, recorded in our North American manufacturing operations as a result of the Southern Frac

acquisition. Reference is made to “Critical Accounting Estimates” below and Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 

further discussion regarding these non-amortizable intangible assets.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased slightly by $0.1 million to $37.8 million in FY 2016 

from $37.7 million in FY 2015. This consisted of a decrease of $1.2 million in the Asia-Pacific, primarily as a result of the translation

effect of a weaker Australian dollar to the U.S. dollar in FY 2016 versus FY 2015 (in Australian dollars, depreciation and amortizationrr

increased by AUS$1.1 million), which was more than offset by a $1.3 million increase in North America, primarily as a result of our f

increased investment in lease fleet purchases and business acquisitions. 

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $19.6 million in FY 2016 was $1.5 million lower than the $21.1 million in FY 2015,

consisting of decreases of $1.3 million in the Asia-Pacific area and $0.2 million in North America. The weighted-average interea st rate 

of 5.4% (which does not include the effect of translation, interest rate swap contracts and options and the amortization of deferred ff

financing costs) in the Asia-Pacific area was the same in both FY 2016 and FY 2015, but was more than offset by the comparatively 

lower average borrowings between the periods. In North America, the lower interest expense was due primarily to the weighted-average 

interest rate of 4.9% (which does not include the effect of the accretion of interest and amortization of deferred financing corr sts) in FY 

2016 being lower than the 5.2% in FY 2015, despite higher average borrowings in FY 2016 as compared to FY 2015.

Foreign Currency Exchange and Other. The currency exchange rate of one Australian dollar to one U.S. dollar was $0.9439 at 

June 30, 2014, $0.7658 at June 30, 2015 and $0.74425 at June 30, 2016. In FY 2015 and FY 2016, net unrealized and realized foreign

exchange gains (losses) totaled $(512,000) and $(180,000) and $(103,000) and $80,000, respectively. In addition, in FY 2015 and FYd

2016, unrealized exchange gains (losses) on forward exchange contracts totaled $383,000 and $(367,000), respectively. In FY 2016, we

sold our owned real properties in the Asia-Pacific area for a net gain of $109,000.
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Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 40.0% in FY 2016 and FY 2015. The effective rate is greater than the U.S. 

federal rate of 35% primarily because of state income taxes from the filing of tax returns in multiple U.S. states and the effect of doing 

business and filing income tax returns in foreign jurisdictions.

Preferred Stock Dividends. In both FY 2016 and FY 2015, we paid $3.7 million primarily on our 9.00% Series C Cumulative

Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock (the “Series C Preferred Stock”). 

Noncontrolling Interests. Noncontrolling interests in the Royal Wolf and Southern Frac results of operations were approximately

$2.1 million and $5.9 million in FY 2016 and FY 2015, respectively, a decrease of $3.8 million. The decrease was due to the reduced dd

profitability at both operating entities, which also included the translation effect at Royal Wolf of a weaker Australian dollar to the U.S.

dollar in FY 2016 versus FY 2015.

Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders. Net loss attributable to common stockholders of $9.0 million in FY 2016 was

$12.5 million less than the net income of $3.5 million in FY 2015, primarily as a result of lower operating profit in both North America 

(including goodwill and trade name impairment charges and inventory write-downs in our North American manufacturing operations)

and the Asia-Pacific area (including the adverse effect of the weakening Australian dollar). 

Measures not in Accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) 

Earnings before interest, income taxes, impairment, depreciation and amortization and other non-operating costs and income aa

(“EBITDA”) and adjusted EBITDA are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or presented in accordance 

with, U.S. GAAP. These measures are not measurements of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered 

as alternatives to net income, income from operations or any other performance measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as r

an alternative to cash flow from operating, investing or financing activities as a measure of liquidity. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-U.S.

GAAP measure. We calculate adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact of certain items we do not consider to be indicative of the 

performance of our ongoing operations. You are encouraged to evaluate each adjustment and whether you consider each to be

appropriate. In addition, in evaluating adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future, we may incur expenses similar to the 

expenses excluded from our presentation of adjusted EBITDA. Our presentation of adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an 

inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. We present adjusted EBITDA because wer

consider it to be an important supplemental measure of our performance and because we believe it is frequently used by securitiff es

analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry, many of which present EBITDA and a aa

form of adjusted EBITDA when reporting their results. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be

considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Because of these limitations, adjusted 

EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business or to reduce

our indebtedness. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and using adjusted EBITDA only

supplementally. The following table shows our adjusted EBITDA and the reconciliation from net income (in thousands): 

Year Ended June 30,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

NNet income (loss) $ 11,413   $ 15,149   $ 13,045   $ (3,286)   $ (847)

Add —

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 8,195 11,620 8,697 (2,191) (25)

Foreign currency exchange loss (gain) and other (1,028) 1,372 273 309 351

Interest expense 10,969 11,952 21,096 19,648 19,653

Interest income (58) (52) (68) (97) (66)

Depreciation and amortization 22,241 27,127 38,571 38,634 40,092

Impairment of goodwill and trade name — — — 3,068 —

Share-based compensation expense 1,316 1,938 2,174 2,388 1,374

Expenses of postponed public equity offering — — 365 — —

Inventory write-downs and related — — — 1,630 —

Non-recurring severance costs and CEO retirement compensation at Royal Wolf — — — 727 —

Refinancing costs not capitalized — — — — 437

Adjusted EBITDA $ 53,048   $ 69,106   $ 84,153   $ 60,830   $ 60,969

Our business is capital intensive, so from an operating level we focus primarily on EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to measure 

our results. These measures provide us with a means to track internally generated cash from which we can fund our interest expense and 

fleet growth objectives. In managing our business, we regularly compare our adjusted EBITDA margins on a monthly basis. As capital 

is invested in our established branch (or CSC) locations, we achieve higher adjusted EBITDA margins on that capital than we achieve

on capital invested to establish a new branch, because our fixed costs are already in place in connection with the established branches. 

The fixed costs are those associated with yard and delivery equipment, as well as advertising, sales, marketing and office expenses. 

With a new market or branch, we must first fund and absorb the start-up costs for setting up the new branch facility, hiring and 
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developing the management and sales team and developing our marketing and advertising programs. A new branch will have low 

adjusted EBITDA margins in its early years until the number of units on rent increases. Because of our higher operating margins on 

incremental lease revenue, which we realize on a branch-by-branch basis, when the branch achieves leasing revenues sufficient to cover 

the branch’s fixed costs, leasing revenues in excess of the break-even amount produce large increases in profitability and adjusted 

EBITDA margins. Conversely, absent significant growth in leasing revenues, the adjusted EBITDA margin at a branch will remain

relatively flat on a period by period comparative basis.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

Though we have raised capital at the corporate level to primarily assist in the funding of acquisitions and lease fleet expenditures,

as well as for general purposes, our operating units substantially fund their operations through secured bank credit facilities that require

compliance with various covenants. These covenants require our operating units to, among other things; maintain certain levels of 

interest or fixed charge coverage, EBITDA (as defined), utilization rate and overall leverage. 

Asia-Pacific Leasing Senior Credit Facility g y

Royal Wolf has a $115,304,000 (AUS$150,000,000) secured senior credit facility, as last amended in December 2016, under a 

common terms deed arrangement with the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (“ANZ”) and Commonwealth Bank of 

Australia (“CBA”) (the “ANZ/CBA Credit Facility”). Under the common deed arrangement of the ANZ/CBA Credit Facility, ANZ’s

proportionate share of the borrowing capacity is $69,182,000 (AUS$90,000,000) and CBA’s proportionate share is $46,122,000 

(AUS$60,000,000). The ANZ/CBA Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of our Australian and New Zealand 

subsidiaries and has $76,869,000 (AUS$100,000,000) maturing on January 31, 2022 (Facility A), and $38,435,000 (AUS$50,000,000) 

maturing on July 31, 2019 (Facility B). 

North America Senior Credit Facility r y

Our North America leasing (Pac-Van and Lone Star) and manufacturing operations (Southern Frac) have a combined

$237,000,000 senior secured revolving credit facility, as amended, with a syndicate led by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

(“Wells Fargo”) that also includes East West Bank, CIT Bank, N.A., the Private Bank and Trust Company, KeyBank, National rr

Association, Bank Hapoalim B.M. and Associated Bank, N.A. (the “Wells Fargo Credit Facility”). The Wells Fargo Credit Facility 

matures on March 24, 2022, assuming our publicly-traded senior notes due July 31, 2021(see below) are extended at least 90 days past 

this scheduled maturity date; otherwise the Wells Fargo Credit Facility would mature on March 24, 2021. There is also a separate loan

agreement with Great American Capital Partners (“GACP”), where GACP provided a Firstt t In Last Out Term Loan (”FILO Term

Loan”) within the Wells Fargo Credit Facility in the amount of $20,000,000, and inclusive in the $237,000,000 total amount. The FILO

Term Loan has the same maturity date and commences principal amortization on October 1, 2018 at $500,000 per quarter.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the rental fleet, inventory and other assets of our North

American leasing and manufacturing operations. The FILO Term Loan also contains a first priorityn lien on the same collateral, by ut on a

“last out basis,” after all of the outstanding obligations to the primary lenders in the Wells Fargo Credit Facility have been satisfied. The 

Wells Fargo Credit Facility effectively not only finances our North American operations, but also the funding requirements for the

Series C Preferred Stock, the term loan with Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch (“Credit Suisse”) and the publicly-traded unsecured 

senior notes (see below). The maximum amount of intercompany dividends that Pac-Van and Lone Star are allowed to pay in each

fiscal year to GFN for the funding requirements of GFN’s senior and other debt and the Series C Preferred Stock are (a) the lesser of 

$5,000,000 for the Series C Preferred Stock or the amount equal to the dividend rate of the Series C Preferred Stock and its aggregate

liquidation preference and the actual amount of dividends required to be paid to the Series C Preferred Stock; (b) the actual annualaa

interest to be paid for the term loan with Credit Suisse; and (c) $6,300,000 for the public offering of unsecured senior notes or the actual

amount of annual interest required to be paid; provided that (i) the payment of such dividends does not cause a default or event of nn

default; (ii) each of Pac-Van and Lone Star is solvent; (iii) excess avr ailability, as defined, is $5,000,000 or more under the Wells Fargo 

Credit Facility; (iv) the fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined, will be greater than 1.25 to 1.00; and (v) the dividends are paid no 

earlier than ten business days prior to the date they are due. 

II-12



Corporate Senior and Other Debt p

Credit Suisse Term Loan

On March 31, 2014, we entered into a $25,000,000 facility agreement, as amended, with Credit Suisse (“Credit Suisse Term

Loan”) as part of the financing for the acquisition of Lone Star and, on April 3, 2014, we borrowed the $25,000,000 available to it. 

Since that time we have prepaid $15,000,000 of the initial borrowings, and $9,920,000 remained outstanding at June 30, 2017, net of 

unamortized debt issuance costs of $80,000. The Credit Suisse Term Loan provides that the amount borrowed will bear interest at

LIBOR plus 7.50% per year, will be payable quarterly and that it will mature on July 1, 2018. In addition, the Credit Suisse Term Loan

is secured by a first ranking pledge over substantially all shares of RWH owned by GFN U.S. 

Senior Notes

On June 18, 2014, we completed the sale of unsecured senior notes (the “Senior Notes”) in a public offering for an aggregate

principal amount of $72,000,000. On April 24, 2017, we completed the sale of a “tack-on” offering of our publicly-traded Senior Notesr

for an aggregate principal amount of $5,390,000 that was priced at $24.95 per denomination. Net proceeds were $5,190,947, after

deducting an aggregate original issue discount (“OID”) of $10,780 and underwriting discount of $188,273. In both offerings, we used at

least 80% of the gross proceeds to reduce indebtedness at Pac-Van and Lone Star under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility in order to 

permit the payment of intercompany dividends by Pac-Van and Lone Star to GFN to fund the interest requirements of the Senior Notes.

For the ‘tack-on” offering, this amounted to $4,303,376 of the net proceeds. At June 30, 2017, the Company has total outstanding 

publicly-traded Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $77,390,000 ($75,319,000, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of 

$2,071,000).

The Senior Notes bear interest at the rate of 8.125% per annum, mature on July 31, 2021 and are not subject to any sinking fund.

Interest on the Senior Notes is payable quarterly in arrears on January 31, April 30, July 31 and October 31, commencing on July 31, 

2014. The Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future unsecured senior debt and senior in right of n

payment to all of its existing and future subordinated debt. The Senior Notes are effectively subordinated to any of our existing and

future secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt. The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all

existing and future liabilities of our subsidiaries and are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries.

Reference is made to Notes 3 and 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of our equity 

transactions and senior and other debt. 

We currently do not pay a dividend on our common stock and do not intend on doing so in the foreseeable future. 

Capital Deployment and Cash Management p p y g

Our business is capital intensive, and we acquire leasing assets before they generate revenues, cash flow and earnings. These 

leasing assets have long useful lives and require relatively minimal maintenance expenditures. Most of the capital we deploy into our 

leasing business historically has been used to expand our operations geographically, to increase the number of units available for lease

at our branch and CSC locations and to add to the breadth of our product mix. Our operations have generally generated annual cash 

flow which would include, even in profitable periods, the deferral of income taxes caused by accelerated depreciation that is used for 

tax accounting. 

As we discussed above, our principal source of capital for operations consists of funds available from the senior secured credit 

facilities at our operating units. We also finance a smaller portion of capital requirements through finance leases and lease-purchase 

contracts. We intend to continue utilizing our operating cash flow and net borrowing capacity primarily to expanding our container sale

inventory and lease fleet through both capital expenditures and accretive acquisitions; as well as paying dividends on the Series C

Preferred Stock and 8.00% Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”), if and when declared by our Board of 

Directors. While we own a majority interest of Royal Wolf and its results and accounts are included in our consolidated financial

statements, access to its operating cash flows, cash on hand and other financial assets and the borrowing capacity under its senior credit 

facility are limited to us in North America contractually by its senior lenders and, to a certain extent, as a result of Royal Wolf being a

public reporting entity on the Australian Stock Exchange through June 30, 2017.

Reference is made to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recent developments.
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Supplemental information pertaining to our consolidated sources and uses of cash is presented in the table below (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2015 2016 2017

NNet cash provided by operating activities $ 38,249 $ 48,822 $ 35,307

Net cash used in investing activities $ (107,430) $ (35,378) $ (30,722)

NNet cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 67,420 $ (5,577) $ (6,159)

Cash Flow for FY 2017 Compared to FY 2016 p

Operating activities. Our operations provided cash of $35.7 million during FY 2017 versus providing $48.8 million during FY 2016, a 

decrease of $13.1 million. While the net loss of $0.8 million in FY 2017 was $2.5 less than the $3.3 million net loss in FY 2016, our 

management of operating assets and liabilities in FY 2017, when compared to FY 2016, reduced cash by $17.7 million. The primary

reason for this was the increase in trade and other receivables and the timing on the satisfaction of trade payables, accrued liabilities and 

unearned revenues during FY 2017 that, when compared to FY 2016, reduced cash by $21.3 million between the periods. In FY 2017

these operating accounts reduced cash by $7.3 million, whereas in FY 2016 they increased cash by $14.0 million. While historically we

have experienced significant variations in operating assets and liabilities between periods when conducting our business in due course, 

having a more than usual impact this time was our days sales outstanding (“DSO”) in trade receivables in the Asia-Pacific area, which 

increased to 49 days at June 30, 2017, as compared to 36 days at June 30, 2016, which was an exceptional DSO. The main factors

contributing to the increase are the economic climate within Australia, which is being adversely impacted by an apparent lack of 

business confidence, coupled with our increased activity in the building and construction industry, whose payment profile is usually 60 

days. However, we do expect this situation to normalise to a more standard 40—45 days in the Asia-Pacific region as a result of, amongff

other things, improved collection efforts and system improvements. In addition, net unrealized gains and losses from foreign exchange

and derivative instruments (see Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), which affect operating results but are non-cash

addbacks for cash flow purposes, caused a net increase of $0.7 million to operating cash flows in FY 2017 versus a net increase of 

$0.5 million in FY 2016. Further, non-cash adjustments relating to impairment of goodwill, depreciation, amortization (including 

amortization of deferred financing costs) and accretion of interest also decreased cash between the periods by $1.8 million, from 

$43.7 million in FY 2016 to $41.9 million in FY 2017. In FY 2016 operating cash flows increased by $3.1 million as a result of the 

non-cash addback of the goodwill and trade name impairment charge recognized at Southern Frac. Finally, while operating cash flows

were enhanced by non-cash share-based compensation of $1.4 million in FY 2017 and $2.4 million in FY 2016, it resulted in a decrease

of $1.0 million between the periods. During the first quarter of FY 2017, a benefit of $0.7 million was recorded at Royal Wolf;f

primarily for the reversal of expenses recognized for unvested performance grants to key employees under its Long Term Incentive Plan

(see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Offsetting these reductions somewhat were the non-cash adjustments of 

deferred income taxes and gains on the sales of lease fleet, which increased cash from operating activities by $3.0 million and

$2.7 million, respectively, in FY 2017 from FY 2016.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $30.7 million during FY 2017, as compared to $35.4 million used 

during FY 2016, resulting in an increase to cash of $4.7 million. Purchases of property, plant and equipment (or rolling stock) were

$3.7 million in FY 2017 and $4.2 million in FY 2016, a decrease of $0.5 million. In FY 2017, proceeds from sales of property, plant 

and equipment were only $0.3 million, as compared to $10.6 million in FY 2016, when all of our owned real properties in the Asia-

Pacific area were sold for $10.3 million. Net capital expenditures of lease fleet (purchases, net of proceeds from sales of lease fleet) 

were $21.8 million in FY 2017 as compared to $20.8 million in FY 2016, a decrease of $1.0 million. In FY 2017, net capital 

expenditures of lease fleet were approximately $10.7 million in North America, as compared to $14.7 million in FY 2016, a decrease of 

$4.0 million; and net capital expenditures of lease fleet in the Pan Pacific totaled $11.1 million in FY 2017, versus $6.1 million in FY

2016, an increase of $5.0 million. The amount of cash that we use during any period in investing activities is almost entirely within

management’s discretion and we have no significant long-term contracts or other arrangements pursuant to which we may be required 

to purchase at a certain price or a minimum amount of goods or services. In FY 2017, we made three business acquisitions (two in

North America and one in the Asia-Pacific area) for cash of $5.0 million; as compared to six business acquisitions (four in North rr

America and two in the Asia-Pacific area) during FY 2016 for cash totaling $20.7 million (see Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements). 

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $6.2 million during FY 2017, as compared to net cash used of 

$5.6 million during FY 2016, a decrease to cash of $0.6 million. In FY 2017 and FY 2016, financing activities included net reductions

of $3.3 million and net borrowings of $1.3 million, respectively, on existing credit facilities. In addition, in FY 2017, we completed the

sale of a “tack-on” offering of our publicly-traded Senior Notes for 
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an aggregate principal amount of $5.4 million. These financing activities on our existing credit facilities and Senior Notes were 

primarily to fund our investment in the container lease fleet and business acquisitions and, in FY 2017, for the management of operating

assets and liabilities. Cash of $3.7 million was used during both periods to pay dividends on primarily our Series C Preferred Stock and,

in FY 2017 and FY 2016, Royal Wolf paid capital stock dividends of $1.9 million and $2.9 million, respectively, to noncontrolling

interests (see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Additionally, during FY 2016, $0.2 million of cash was used to

make a distribution to the noncontrolling interest of Southern Frac. During FY 2017, we paid deferred financing costs of $2.8 million

primarily for the amendment and extension of our senior secured credit facilities in both North America and the Asia-Pacific area, as

well as for the “tack-on” offering of our publicly-traded Senior Notes. 

Cash Flow for FY 2016 Compared to FY 2015 p

Operating activities. Our operations provided net cash flow of $48.8 million during FY 2016, an increase of $10.6 million from 

the $38.2 million of operating cash flow provided during FY 2015. While FY 2016 was a net loss of 3.3 million and $16.3 million

lower than the net income of $13.0 million in FY 2015, our management of operating assets and liabilities in FY 2016, when compared 

to FY 2015, enhanced operating cash flows by $34.6 million. In FY 2016, our management of operating assets and liabilities increased 

operating cash flows by $16.3 million, whereas in FY 2015 operating cash flows were reduced by $18.3 million. Significant reasons for 

the decrease in operating assets and liabilities in FY 2015 was the payment of accruals in connection with the initial year of Lone Star 

operations totaling $9.0 million and increased sale and manufacturing inventories of $9.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively. In 

addition, net unrealized gains and losses from foreign exchange and derivative instruments (see Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements), which affect operating results but are non-cash addbacks for cash flow purposes, caused a net increase of 

0.5 million to operating cash flows in FY 2016 versus a relatively small net increase of only $25,000 to operating cash flows in FY 

2015. Also, our operating cash flows in FY 2016 increased by $3.1 million over FY 2015 as a result of the non-cash addback of the 

goodwill and trade name impairment charge recognized at Southern Frac. However, the increase to our operating cash flows of 

$40.6 million for non-cash adjustments for depreciation, amortization (including amortization of deferred financing costs) and accretion 

of interest was $1.0 million less than the $41.6 million in FY 2015. In addition, our FY 2016 operating cash flows were reduced byd

$9.7 million when compared to FY 2015 from non-cash adjustments of deferred income taxes. Typically, our operating cash flows are aa

enhanced by the deferral of most income taxes due to the rapid tax depreciation rate of our fixed assets and available net operating loss 

carryforwards. In both FY 2016 and FY 2015, operating cash flows were reduced by gains on the sales of lease fleet of $6.4 million and 

$5.8 million, respectively, and enhanced by non-cash share-based compensation charges of $2.4 million and 2.2 million, respectively. 

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $35.4 million during FY 2016, as compared to $107.4 million used 

during FY 2015, a significant decrease of $72.0 million. Purchases of property, plant and equipment (or rolling stock) were $4.2 million 

in FY 2016 and $18.0 million in FY 2015, a decrease of $13.8 million; and proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment were

$10.6 million in FY 2016 and $0.5 million in FY 2015, an increase of $10.1 million. FY 2015 included real estate purchases in North 

America and in the Asia-Pacific area totaling $1.2 million and $9.1 million, respectively, and in FY 2016 all of our owned real

properties in the Asia-Pacific area were sold for $10.3 million. Net capital expenditures of lease fleet (purchases, net of proceeds from 

sales of lease fleet) were $20.8 million in FY 2016 as compared to $54.6 million in FY 2015, a decrease of $33.8 million. In FY 2016, 

net capital expenditures of lease fleet were approximately $14.7 million in North America, as compared to $42.1 million in FY 2015, a 

decrease of $27.4 million, due primarily to reduced demand in our liquid containment business; and net capital expenditures of lease 

fleet in the Pan Pacific totaled $6.1 million in FY 2016, versus $12.5 million in FY 2015, a decrease of $6.4 million. The amount of uu

cash that we use during any period in investing activities is almost entirely within management’s discretion and we have no significant 

long-term contracts or other arrangements pursuant to which we may be required to purchase at a certain price or a minimum amount of uu

goods or services. In FY 2016, we made six business acquisitions (four in North America and two in the Asia-Pacific area) for cash of 

$20.7 million, as compared to eight business acquisitions (six in North America and two in the Asia-Pacific area) in FY 2015 for cash

totaling $34.1 million (see Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $5.6 million during FY 2016, as compared to net cash provided of 

$67.4 million during FY 2015, a significant decrease of $61.8 million. In FY 2016 and FY 2015, cash provided from financing

activities included net borrowings of $1.3 million and $78.1 million, respectively, on existing credit facilities to primarily fund our 

investment in the container lease fleet and business acquisitions. This represents a significant decrease in net borrowings in FY 2016 of 

$76.8 million from FY 2015. However, cash was used in both FY 2016 and FY 2015 to pay dividends on primarily our Series C

Preferred Stock of $3.7 million. Additionally, in FY 2016 and FY 2015, Royal Wolf paid dividends of $2.9 million and $3.9 million, 

respectively, to noncontrolling interests (see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements); and in FY 2016, $0.2 million of 

cash was used to make a distribution to the noncontrolling interest of Southern Frac. In FY 2015, cash was used to purchaset

$3.4 million of RWH capital stock in the open market, of which a net $0.9 million was purchased by Royal Wolf for eventual issuance

to key employees under its long term incentive plan (see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 
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Asset Management g

Receivables and inventories were $44.4 million and $29.6 million at June 30, 2017 and $38.1 million and $34.6 million at 

June 30, 2016, respectively. At June 30, 2017, DSO in trade receivables were 49 days and 46 days in the Asia-Pacific area and our 

North American leasing operations, as compared to 36 days and 49 days at June 30, 2016, respectively. Effective asset management is 

always a significant focus as we strive to apply appropriate credit and collection controls and maintain proper inventory levels to 

enhance cash flow and profitability. 

The net book value of our total lease fleet was $427.3 million at June 30, 2017, as compared to $419.3 million at June 30, 2016.

At June 30, 2017, we had 80,712 units (23,222 units in retail operations in Australia, 8,871 units in national account group operations in 

Australia, 10,137 units in New Zealand, which are considered retail; and 38,482 units in North America) in our lease fleet, as compared 

to 78,605 units (22,194 units in retail operations in Australia, 9,688 units in national account group operations in Australia, 9,745 units 

in New Zealand, which are considered retail; and 36,978 units in North America) at June 30, 2016. At those dates, 63,321 units (19,554

units in retail operations in Australia, 5,287 units in national account group operations in Australia, 8,930 units in New Zealand, which 

are considered retail; and 29,550 units in North America); and 57,265 units (17,829 units in retail operations in Australia, 5,816 units in 

national account group operations in Australia, 8,218 units in New Zealand, which are considered retail; and 25,402 units in North

America) were on lease, respectively. 

In the Asia-Pacific area, the lease fleet was comprised of 34,625 storage and freight containers and 7,605 portable building

containers at June 30, 2017; and 35,060 storage and freight containers and 6,567 portable building containers at June 30, 2016. At those

dates, units on lease were comprised of 28,280 storage and freight containers and 5,491 portable building containers; and 27,259 storage 

and freight containers and 4,604 portable building containers, respectively.

In North America, the lease fleet was comprised of 25,175 storage containers, 3,552 office containers (GLOs), 4,097 portable

liquid storage tank containers, 4,491 mobile offices and 1,167 modular units at June 30, 2017; and 24,084 storage containers, 3,106

office containers (GLOs), 4,056 portable liquid storage tank containers, 4,590 mobile offices and 1,142 modular units at June 30, 2016. 

At those dates, units on lease were comprised of 19,296 storage containers, 2,885 office containers, 2,672 portable liquid storage tank 

containers, 3,732 mobile offices and 965 modular units; 17,081 storage containers, 2,394 office containers, 1,501 portable liquid storage

tank containers, 3,518 mobile offices and 908 modular units, respectively. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Our material contractual obligations and commitments consist of outstanding borrowings under our credit facilities discussed 

above and operating leases for facilities and office equipment. The table below provides a summary of our contractual obligatioaa ns and 

reflects expected payments due as of June 30, 2017 and does not reflect changes that could arise after that date (dollars in thousands). 

Total

Within 1

Year

Within 1 to 2

Years

Within 2 to

3 Years

Within 3 to

4 Years

Within 4 to

5 Years

More than

5 Years

ANZ/CBA Credit Facility $ 81,051 $ — $ — $ 26,429 $ — $ 54,622 $ —

Interest payment obligations under 

the ANZ/CBA Credit Facility (a) 15,768 4,215 4,215 2,910 2,840 1,588 —

Wells Fargo Credit Facility 180,946 — 1,500 2,000 2,000 175,446 —

Interest payment obligations under 

the Wells Fargo Credit Facility (b) 40,166 8,817 8,725 8,512 8,267 5,845 —

Credit Suisse Term Loan 9,920 — 9,920 — — — —

Interest payment obligations under 

the Credit Suisse Term Loan (c) 962 880 82 — — — —

Senior Notes 75,319 — — — — 75,319 —

Interest payment obligations under 

the Senior Notes (d) 27,747 6,288 6,288 6,288 6,288 2,595 —

Other (e) 8,402 4,011 2,248 1,262 94 99 688

Other interest payment obligations (f) 785 384 196 91 50 44 20

Operating leases (g) 38,473 9,418 7,172 5,422 4,017 2,722 9,722

Total $ 479,539 $ 34,013 $ 40,346 $ 52,914 $ 23,556 $ 318,280 $ 10,430

(a) Interest payment obligations under the ANZ/CBA Facility, which are subject to a variable rate, were calculated using a 

weighted –average rate during the fourth quarter of FY 2017 of 5.2%. 
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(b) Interest payment obligations under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility, which are subject to a variable rate, were calculated using

a rate at June 30, 2017 of 12.22% on the $20,000 FILO Term Loan and 3.96% on the remaining balance.

(c) Interest payment obligations under the Credit Suisse Term Loan, which are subject to a variable rate, were calculated using a 

rate at June 30, 2017 of 8.8%. 

(d) Interest payment obligations under the Senior Notes were calculated using the stated rate of 8.125%. 

(e) Includes primarily certain holdback and other notes incurred in connection with acquisitions (see Note 4 of Notes to 

Consolidated Financial Statements) and equipment financing activities.

(f) Other interest payment obligations were calculated using a weighted –average rate during the fourth quarter of FY 2017 of 

6.0% (interest payments subsequent to June 30, 2022 are considered immaterial and are not calculated). 

(g) See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

We estimate the annual distribution requirements with respect to our Series C Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock 

outstanding at June 30, 2017 to be approximately $3.7 million. Dividends are paid when and if declared by our Board of Directors and 

accumulate if not paid.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations or other relationships with unconsolidated 

entities or others that are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial 

condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. 

Seasonality

Although demand from certain customer segments can be seasonal, our operations as a whole are not seasonal to any significant 

extent. We experience a reduction in sales volumes at Royal Wolf during Australia’s summer holiday break from mid-December to the 

end of January, followed by February being a short working day month. However, this reduction in sales typically is counterbalanced 

by the increased lease revenues derived from the removals or moving and storage industry, which experiences its seasonal peak of 

personnel relocations during this same summer holiday break. Demand from some of Pac-Van’s customaa ers can be seasonal, such as in

the construction industry, which tends to increase leasing activity in the first and fourth quarters; while customers in the retail industry 

tend to lease more units in the second quarter. Our business at Lone Star and Southern Frac, which is significantly derived from the oil 

and gas industry, may decline in our second quarter months of November and December and our third quarter months of January and

February. These months may have lower activity in parts of the country where inclement weather may delay, or suspend, customer 

projects. The impact of these delays may be to decrease the number of frac tank containers on lease until companies are able to resume 

their projects when weather improves. 

Environmental and Safety

Our operations, and the operations of many of our customers, are subject to numerous federal and local laws and regulations 

governing environmental protection and transportation. These laws regulate such issues as wastewater, storm water and the

management, storage and disposal of, or exposure to, hazardous substances. We are not aware of any pending environmental

compliance or remediation matters that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or tt

results of operations. However, the failure by us to comply with applicable environmental and other requirements could result in fines, 

penalties, enforcement actions, third party claims, remediation actions, and could negatively impact our reputation with customers. We 

have a company-wide focus on safety and have implemented a number of measures to promote workplace safety.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation has not had a material effect on our business. However, during periods of rising prices and, in particular 

when the prices increase rapidly or to levels significantly higher than normal, we may incur significant increases in our operating costs aa

and may not be able to pass price increases through to our customers in a timely manner, which could harm our future results of

operations. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial

statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make 

estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we

re-evaluate all of our estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience
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and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 

making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may

materially differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions as additional information becomes available in future 

periods. We believe the following are the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial

statements. 

We are required to estimate the collectability of our trade receivables. Accordingly, we maintain allowances for doubtful 

accounts for estimated losses that may result from the inability of our customers to make required payments. On a recurring basis, we 

evaluate a variety of factors in assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness of our 

customers, days sales outstanding trends, a review of historical collection results and a review of specific past due receivables. If the

financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional

allowances may be required, resulting in decreased net income. Prior to FY 2016, uncollectible accounts were generally within thett

range of our expectations; however, in FY 2016 and FY 2017 we incurred more than our historically normal provision and write-offs ff

for bad debts, primarily for customers in the oil and gas sector.

We lease and sell storage, building, office and portable liquid storage tank containers, modular buildings and mobile offices to

our customers. Leases to customers generally qualify as operating leases unless there is a bargain purchase option at the end of the lease 

term. Revenue is recognized as earned in accordance with the lease terms established by the lease agreements and when collectability is 

reasonably assured. Revenue from sales of equipment is recognized upon delivery and when collectability is reasonably assured, while

revenue from the sales of manufactured units are recognized when title and risk of loss transfers to the purchaser, generally upon uu

shipment. Certain arrangements to sell units under long-term construction-type sales contracts are accounted for under the percentage of 

completion method. Under this method, income is recognized in proportion to the incurred costs to date under the contract to estimated 

total costs. 

.

We have a fleet of storage, portable building, office and portable liquid storage tank containers, mobile offices, modular 

buildings and steps that we lease to customers under operating lease agreements with varying terms. The lease fleet (or lease or rental

equipment) is recorded at cost and depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life (5 — 20 years), after the date the

units are put in service, down to their estimated residual values (up to 70% of cost). In our opinion, estimated residual values are at or 

below net realizable values. We periodically review these depreciation policies in light of various factors, including the pracy tices of the

larger competitors in the industry, and our own historical experience.

For the issuances of stock options, we follow the fair value provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. FASB ASC Topic 718 requires 

recognition of employee share-based compensation expense in the statements of income over the vesting period based on the fair value

of the stock option at the grant date. The pricing model we use for determining fair values of the purchase option is the Black-Scholes 

Pricing Model. Valuations derived from this model are subject to ongoing internal and external verification and review. The model uses 

market-sourced inputs such as interest rates, market prices and volatilities. Selection of these inputs involves management’s judgment 

and may impact net income. In particular, we use a volatility rate based on the performance of our common stock, which yields a higher a

rate. In addition we use a risk-free interest rate, which is the rate on U.S. Treasury instruments, for a security with a maturity that 

approximates the estimated remaining expected term of the stock option. 

The purchase consideration of acquired businesses have been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on the

estimated fair values on the respective acquisition dates. Based on these values, the excess purchase consideration over the fair value of 

the net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill. We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350, Intangibles — 

Goodwill and Other. FASB ASC Topic 350 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives and 

requires these assets be reviewed for impairment. We operate two reportable geographic areas and the vast majority of goodwill

recorded was in the acquisitions of Royal Wolf, Pac-Van, Southern Frac and Lone Star. 

We assesses the potential impairment of goodwill on an annual basis or if a determination is made based on a qualitative

assessment that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.

Qualitative factors which could cause an impairment include (1) significant underperformance relative to historical, expected or 

projected future operating results; (2) significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired businesses or the strategy forff our overallr

business; (3) significant changes during the period in our market capitalization relative to net book value; and (4) significant negative

industry or general economic trends. Prior to June 30, 2017, if we did determine that fair value is more likely than not less than thett

carrying amount, a quantitative two-step impairment test process would be applied. The first step in this quantitative process is a screen 

for potential impairment where the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value to determine if the goodwill is 

impaired. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, then goodwill is notdd
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impaired and no further testing is required. If, however, the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit were to exceed 

its fair value, then the second step is performed by determining the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill and comparing it to 

the carrying value of the goodwill. This would involve allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to its respective assets and 

liabilities (as if it had been acquired in a separate and individual business combination and the fair value was the price paid to acquired

it), with the excess of the fair value over the amounts assigned being the implied fairr  value of goodwill. If the implied fair r value is less 

than the carrying value of the goodwill, an impairment loss would be recorded for the difference. In January 2017, the FASB issued 

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-04, which removed the requirement for a Step 2 goodwill impairment test and 

permitted early adoption for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on dates on or after January 1, 2017. We adopted 

ASU No. 2017-04 effective June 30, 2017 and any goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying

value exceeds its fair value, but the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. At 

March 31, 2016, we determined that qualitative factors in our North American leasing and manufacturing operations, pertaining 

primarily to conditions in the oil and gas market, required an update of the step one impairment analysis for Lone Star and Southern 

Frac. This updated analysis calculated that even though the excess of the estimated fair value of Lone Star over the carrying vr alue of its 

invested capital declined to approximately 11% of the book value of its net assets, its implied value of goodwill was still greater than its

carrying value. However, we determined that the implied value of Southern Frac’s goodwill was less than the carrying value of its

goodwill, resulting in an impairment charge of $2,681,000 at March 31, 2016. 

At June 30, 2016, the annual step one impairment analysis performed on the North American reporting units, Pac-Van and Loneff

Star, calculated that the value of goodwill was still greater than its carrying value and that the amount by which the excess of the

estimated fair values exceeded their respective carrying value of invested capital at that date was approximately 21% and 12%, 

respectively, of the book value of their respective net assets. At June 30, 2017, the annual impairment analysis performed calct ulated that 

the value of goodwill at Lone Star was still greater than its carrying value and that the amount by which the excess of the estimated fair 

value exceeded its carrying value of invested capital at that date was still over 12% of the book value of its net assets. We base our fair 

value estimates on assumptions that we believe are reasonable but are uncertain and subject to changes in market conditions.

Intangible assets include those with indefinite (trademark and trade name) and finite (primarily customer base and lists,

non-compete agreements and deferred financing costs) useful lives. Customer base and lists and non-compete agreements are amortized

on the straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit which range from one to fourteen years. Costs to obtaining long-term

financing are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt using the straight-line method. Amortizing the deferred financing

costs using the straight-line method does not produce significantly different results than that of the effective interest method. We review

intangible assets (those assets resulting from acquisitions) for impairment if we determine, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is

more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50%) that fair value might be less than the carrying amount. If we determine that fair value isr

more likely than not less than the carrying amount, then impairment would be quantitatively tested, using historical cash flows and other 

relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for estimates of future cash flows. If we determine that fair value is not likely to

be less than the carrying amount, then no further testing would be required. We conducted our review at each fiscal yearend, which did 

not result in an impairment adjustment at June 30, 2017, but did result in an impairment write-down at June 30, 2016 of $387,000 to the 

carrying amount of the trade name recorded at Southern Frac. Determining the fair value of intangible assets involves the use of 

significant estimates and assumptions, which we believe are reasonable, but are uncertain and subject to changes in market conditions.

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we recognize income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.

For each jurisdiction, we estimate the actual amount of taxes currently payable or receivable as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities

attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their tt

respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income a

in the years in which these temporary differences are expected tomm  be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets anff d liabilities 

of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance would be

provided for those deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that the related benefits will not be realized. In y determining the 

amount of the valuation allowance, we consider estimated future taxable income as well as feasible tax planning strategies in each

jurisdiction. If we determine that we will not realize all or a portion of our deferred tax assets, we would increase our valuation

allowance with a charge to income tax expense or offset goodwill if the deferred tax asset was acquired in a business combination. 

Conversely, if we determine that we will ultimately be able to realize all or a portion of the related benefits for which a valuation

allowance has been provided, all or a portion of the related valuation allowance would be reduced with a credit to income tax expense 

except if the valuation allowance was created in conjunction with a tax asset in a business combination.

Reference is made to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of our significant accounting 

policies.
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Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

Reference is made to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently in ssued accounting

pronouncements that could potentially impact us. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Market risk is the sensitivity of income to changes in interest rates, foreign exchanges and other market-driven rates or prices.

Exposure to interest rates and currency risks arises in the normal course of our business and we may use derivative financial instruments

to hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. We believe we have no material market risks to our 

operations, financial position or liquidity as a result of derivative activities, including forward-exchange contracts.

Reference is made to Notes 5 and 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our senior and other debt 

and financial instruments. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2016 and 2017 F-2

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/Loss for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017 F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports

we file and submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized andaa

reported within the time periods specified in accordance with SEC guidelines and that such information is communicated to

management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

based on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures” in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. In designing and 

evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed d and 

operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and that our management necessarily wasy

required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures in reaching that level of t

reasonable assurance. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and r

Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as required by Exchange Act Rule

13a-15(b), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. dd

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financialff

statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and (3) provit de reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the

objectives of the controls system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all controls systems, no evaluation of controls can

provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been
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detected. Under the supervision and with the participation of management, we assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over 

financial reporting based on the criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring k

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framework n

(2013), we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of June 30, 2017.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Crowe Horwath LLP, audited our internal control over financial reporting as

of June 30, 2017, as stated in their report in the section entitled “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” included 

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over 

financial reporting as of June 30, 2017. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting in connection with the evaluation required by

Rule 13a-15(d) under the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 that has materially affected, or is 

reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III 

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because we will file a definitive Proxy

Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 

“Proxy Statement”), not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the

applicable information included in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

Information concerning our executive officers is set forth in Item 1. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption 

“Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our directors, officers (including our principal executive and principal financial 

and accounting officers) and employees. A copy of these code of ethics is available free of charge on the “Corporate Governance” 

section of our website at www.generalfinance.com or by a written request addressed to the Corporate Secretary, General Finance g

Corporation, 39 East Union Street, Pasadena, California 91103. We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of 

Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the code of ethics by posting such information on our web site at 

the address and location specified above.

Other information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy Statement. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy Statement

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy Statement

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Financial Statements

(1) The financial statements required in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included in Item 8. Financial Statements

and Supplementary Data.

(2) Financial statement schedule:

Schedule I — Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Information)

All other supplemental schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present in amounts sufficient to require

submission of the schedule, or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.tt

(b) Exhibits 

     Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 28, 2008 among General Finance Corporation, GFN North America 

Corp., Mobile Office Acquisition Corp., Pac-Van, Inc., Ronald F. Valenta, Ronald L. Havner, Jr., D. E. Shaw 

Laminar Portfolios, L.L.C. and Kaiser Investments Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Registrant’s 

Form 8-K filed July 28, 2008). 

2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 28, 2014 among KHM Rentals, LLC, Lone Star Tank Rental LP, certain 

other parties thereto and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed 

March 3, 2014). 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed April 4, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of 

Registrant’s Form S-1, File No. 333-129830). 

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws as of October 30, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Registrant’s 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007). 

3.3 Certificate of Designation for the Series A Preferred Stock filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on 

December 3, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed December 9, 2008).

3.4 Certificate of Designation for the Series B Preferred Stock filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on 

December 3, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed December 9, 2008). 

3.5 Corrected Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation for Series A 12.5% Cumulative Preferred Stock filed 

with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 10, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed 

May 16, 2013).

3.6 Certificate of Designation for the Series C Convertible Cumulative Preferred Stock filed with the Delaware 

Secretary of State on September 28, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed October 4, 

2012). 

3.7 Certificate of Elimination of Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series C Convertible Cumulative 

Preferred Stock filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on April 2, 2013 (incorporated by reference to 

Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 5, 2013). 

3.8 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of 9.00% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred 

Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 of Registrant’s Form S-1, File No. 333-187687). 

3.9 Certificate of Elimination of Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A 12.5% Cumulative 

Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 14, 2013). 

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1, File 

No. 333-129830). 

4.2 Specimen 9.00% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference 

to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1, File No. 333-187687). 

4.3 Senior Indenture dated as of June 18, 2014, between General Finance Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National 

Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 18, 2014). 

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 18, 2014, between General Finance Corporation and Wells Fargo 

Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 18, 2014). 
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4.5 Form of 8.125% Senior Note due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 18, 2014). 

10.1 General Finance Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Registrant’s 

Definitive Proxy Statement filed October 19, 2009).

10.2 Underwriting Agreement dated May 13, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed May 19, 

2011). 

10.3 Facility Agreement dated March 31, 2014 among General Finance Corporation, GFN U.S. Australasia Holdings, 

Inc. and Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 4, 

2014). 

10.4 Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement dated as April 4, 2014 by and among KHM Rentals, LLC, Lone 

Star Tank Rental L.P., the Principals listed in Exhibit A attached hereto and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. 

(incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014). 

10.5 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated April 7, 2014 by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National 

Association, HSBC Bank USA, N.A., certain other lenders parties thereto, Pac-Van, Inc., and Lone Star Tank 

Rental Inc. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014). 

10.6 Stockholders Agreement dated April 7, 2014 by and among General Finance Corporation and the stockholders of 

General Finance Corporation parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 

2014). 

10.7 Pledge Agreement dated April 7, 2014 by and among Bobby Herricks, Justin Herricks, General Finance Corporation 

and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014). 

10.8 Non-Negotiable Promissory Note dated April 7, 2014 in the original principal amount of $5,000,000 by Lone Star 

Inc. held by KHM Rentals, LLC and Lone Star Tank Rental, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 

8-K filed April 8, 2014). 

10.9 Continuing Guaranty dated April 7, 2014 of GFN North America Corp. in favor of KHM Rentals, LLC and Lone 

Star Tank Rental, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014). 

10.10 ANZ Multicurrency Facility Agreement dated May 8, 2014 among Royal Wolf Trading Australia Pty Limited 

(“Royal Wolf Australia”), Royalwolf Trading New Zealand Limited (“Royal Wolf New Zealand”), Australia and 

New Zealand Banking Group Limited (“ANZ”) and ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited (“ANZ New Zealand”) 

(incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 8, 2014) (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s 

Form 8-K filed May 12, 2014). 

10.11 CBA Multicurrency Facility Agreement dated May 8, 2014 among Royal Wolf Australia, Royal Wolf New Zealand 

and Commonwealth Bank of Australia (“CBA”) (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed May 12, 

2014). 

10.12 Deed Poll dated May 7, 2014 entered into among ANZ, ANZ New Zealand, CBA, Royal Wolf Australia and Royal 

Wolf New Zealand (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed May 12, 2014). 

10.13 Amendment No. 1 among Pac-Van, Lone Star, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, HSBC Bank USA, NA and 

Capital One Business Credit Corp. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed May 29, 2014). 

10.14 Employment Agreement dated May 30, 2014 between Royal Wolf Trading Australia Pty Limited and Robert Allan 

(incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 4, 2014) 

10.15 Underwriting Agreement dated June 11, 2014 between Sterne, Agee & Leach, Inc., as representative of the several 

underwriters, and General Finance Corporation (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 16, 

2014). 

10.16 General Finance Corporation 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Registrant’s 

Definitive Proxy Statement filed October 17, 2014). 

10.17 Fifth Amendment to Credit and Security Agreement dated December 3, 2014 among Wells Fargo Bank, National 

Association, Southern Frac, the Company and GFNMC (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed 

December 5, 2014). 

10.18 Amendment to General Finance Corporation 2014 Stock Incentive Plan Association (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2014). 
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10.19 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Pac-Van, Lone Star, GFNRC, Wells Fargo 

Bank, National Association, HSBC Bank USA, NA, The PrivateBank and Trust Company, Capital One Business 

Credit Corp. and OneWest Bank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 6, 2015) 

10.20 Employment Agreement with Jody Miller dated June 1, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K 

filed June 1, 2015). 

10.21 Amendment No. 3 dated May 29, 2015 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Pac-Van, Lone Star, 

GFNRC, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, HSBC Bank USA, NA, The PrivateBank and Trust Company 

and OneWest Bank N.A. 2015 (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed June 1, 2015). 

10.22 Amendment No. 4 dated June 30, 2015 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Wells Fargo Bank, 

National Association, HSBC Bank USA, NA, OneWest Bank N.A., Pac-Van, Lone Star, GFNRC, Southern Frac 

and GFNMC(incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed July 2, 2015). 

10.23 Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed 

December 9, 2015) 

10.24 Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated January 27, 2016 among General Finance Corporation, GFN U.S. 

Australasia Holdings, Inc. and Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 

8-K filed January 28, 2016) 

10.25 Second Variation Deed dated December 15, 2016 (in Australia) among Royal Wolf Holdings Limited, Royal Wolf 

Trading Australia Pty Limited, Kookaburra Containers Pty Ltd. Royalwolf Trading New Zealand Limited, 

Royalwolf NZ Acquisition Co. Limited, Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited and ANZ Bank New 

Zealand Limited (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed December 19, 2016) 

10.26 Second Variation Deed dated December 15, 2016 (in Australia) among Royal Wolf Holdings Limited, Royal Wolf 

Trading Australia Pty Limited, Kookaburra Containers Pty Ltd. Royalwolf Trading New Zealand Limited, 

Royalwolf NZ Acquisition Co. Limited and Commonwealth Bank of Australia (incorporated by reference to 

Registrant’s Form 8-K filed December 19, 2016) 

10.27 Common Terms Deed Poll (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed December 19, 2016) 

10.28 Omnibus Amendment and Reaffirmation Agreement is dated as of March 24, 2017 among Wells Fargo Bank, 

National Association (“Wells Fargo”), East West Bank (“East West”), CIT Bank, N.A. (“CIT”), the Private Bank 

and Trust Company (the “Private Bank”), Key Bank, National Association (“Key Bank”), Bank Hapoalim, N.A. 

(“BHI”) and GACP I, L.P. (“Great American” and collectively with Wells Fargo, East West, CIT, Private Bank, 

Key Bank and BHI, the “Lenders”), GFN Realty Company, LLC, (“GFNRC”), Lone Star Tank Rental Inc. (“Lone 

Star”), Pac-Van, Inc. (“Pac-Van”), Southern Frac, LLC (“Southern Frac”), PV Acquisition Corp., 

(“PV Acquisition”), GFN Manufacturing Corporation (“GFN Manufacturing”), and GFN North America Corp. 

(“GFNNA” and collectively with GFNRC, Southern Frac, Lone Star, Pac-Van, PV Acquisition and GFN 

Manufacturing, the “Credit Parties”) (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed March 31, 2017)

10.29 Pledge Agreement dated March 24, 2017 by GFN Realty Company, LLC (“GFN Realty”), for the benefit of Wells 

Fargo, as agent for the Lenders (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed March 31, 2017) 

10.30 Master Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated March 24, 2017 among Pac-Van, the Lenders, Capital One 

Business Corp. and HSBC Bank U.S.A. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed March 31, 

2017) 

10.31 Intercreditor Provisions dated March 24, 2017 among the Lenders and the Credit Parties (incorporated by reference 

to Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed March 31, 2017) 

10.32 Underwriting Agreement dated April 18, 2017 between D.A. Davidson & Co. and General Finance Corporation 

(incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 19, 2017) 

10.33 Omnibus Amendment and Reaffirmation Agreement is dated as of March 24, 2017 among Wells Fargo, East West, 

CIT, the Private Bank, Key Bank, BHI and Great American (collectively with Wells Fargo, East West, CIT, Private 

Bank, Key Bank and BHI, the “Lenders”), and the Credit Parties. (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 

8-K filed May 3, 2017) 
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10.34 Amendment No. 6 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated March 24, 2017 among Wells Fargo Bank, 

East West, CIT, Private Bank, Key Bank, BHI, Great American, GFNRC, Lone Star, Pac-Van and Southern Frac. 

(Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request. Omitted information has been filed 

separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission) (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed 

May 3, 2017) 

10.35 Second Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated June 12, 2017 among General Finance Corporation, GFN 

U.S. Australasia Holdings, Inc. and Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s 

Form 8-K filed June 13, 2017) 

10.36 Increase and Joinder Agreement dated as of June 30, 2017 among Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, 

Associated Bank, N.A., East West Bank, CIT Bank, N.A., the Private Bank and Trust Company, Key Bank, 

National Association, Bank Hapoalim, N.A., GACP I, L.P., GFN Realty Company, LLC, Lone Star Tank Rental 

Inc., Pac-Van, Inc. and Southern Frac, LLC (incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed July 6, 2017) 

21.1 Subsidiaries of General Finance Corporation (a) 

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (a) 

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14 (a) 

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14 (a) 

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 (a) 

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350(a) 

101 The following materials from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2017,

formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the 

Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/Loss, (iv) the

Consolidated Statements of Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (vi) Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements and (vii) Financial Statement Schedule I.

(a) Filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

General Finance Corporation

By: /s/ Ronald F. Valenta September 8, 2017

Name: Ronald F. Valenta

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 

Signature Title Date

/s/ Ronald F. Valenta

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board 

(Principal Executive Officer) September 8, 2017           

Ronald F. Valenta

/s/ Charles E. Barrantes

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) September 8, 2017

Charles E. Barrantes

/s/ James B. Roszak Lead Independent Director September 8, 2017

James B. Roszak

/s/ Manuel Marrero Director September 8, 2017
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/s/ Susan L. Harris

Director September 8, 2017

Susan L. Harris

/s/ Larry D. Tashjian

Director September 8, 2017

Larry D. Tashjian

/s/ William H. Baribault Director September 8, 2017

William H. Baribault 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

General Finance Corporation 

Pasadena, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of General Finance Corporation as of June 30 2017 and 2016 and 

the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-

year period ended June 30, 2017. In connection with our audits of the financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement 

schedule listed in Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K. We also have audited General Finance Corporation’s internal control over financial

reporting as of June 30, 2017, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). General Finance Corporation’s management is 

responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of 

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control 

over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the financial statement schedule t

listed in Item 15(a) and an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material reff spects. Our 

audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financialff

statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control 

over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to

the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in y

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 

on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of General

Finance Corporation as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-n

year period ended June 30, 2017 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in

our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, a

presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Also in our opinion, General Finance Corporation maintained, 

in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2017, based on criteria established in the 2013

Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

/s/ Crowe Horwath LLP

Sherman Oaks, California 

September 8, 2017
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,342 $ 7,792

Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $8,876 and $6,387 at f

June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively 38,067 44,390

Inventories 34,609 29,648

Prepaid expenses and other 9,366 8,923

Property, plant and equipment, net 26,951 23,388

Lease fleet, net 419,345 427,275

Goodwill 102,546 105,129

Other intangible assets, net 33,348 28,769

Total assets $             673,574 $             675,314

Liabilities

Trade payables and accrued liabilities $ 43,476 $ 42,774

Income taxes payable 175 —

Unearned revenue and advance payments 14,085 15,548

Senior and other debt, net 352,220 355,638

Deferred tax liabilities 39,006 38,106

Total liabilities 448,962 452,066

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10) — —

Equity

Cumulative preferred stock, $.0001 par value: 1,000,000 shares authorized; 400,100 shares 

issued and outstanding (in series) and liquidation value of $40,722 at June 30, 2016 and 

2017 40,100 40,100

Common stock, $.0001 par value: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 26,218,772 and 

26,611,688 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively 3 3

Additional paid-in capital 122,568 120,370

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (14,129) (12,355)

Accumulated deficit (10,010) (12,972)

Total General Finance Corporation stockholders’ equity 138,532 135,146

Equity of noncontrolling interests 86,080 88,102

Total equity 224,612 223,248

Total liabilities and equity $ 673,574 $ 675,314

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended June 30,

2015 2016 2017

Revenues

Sales:

Lease inventories and fleet   $         90,275 $ 111,439 $ 95,764

Manufactured units 13,981 6,179 4,895

104,256 117,618 100,659

Leasing 199,569 168,233 176,269

303,825 285,851 276,928

Costs and expenses

Cost of Sales:

Lease inventories and fleet (exclusive of the items shown separately below) 64,772 82,683 68,215

Manufactured units 10,907 10,063 6,336

Direct costs of leasing operations 76,770 69,134 76,306

Selling and general expenses 70,602 68,697 67,705

Impairment of goodwill and trade name — 3,068 —

Depreciation and amortization 37,731 37,823 39,300

Operating income 43,043 14,383 19,066

Interest income 68 97 66

Interest expense (includes cash flow hedge reclassifications from AOCI of an

unrealized gain of $104 in 2015 and $1,073 in 2017) (21,096) (19,648) (19,653)

Foreign currency exchange loss and other (273) (309) (351)

(21,301) (19,860) (19,938)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 21,742 (5,477) (872)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes (includes provision from AOCI reclassifications

of $42 in 2015 and $31 in 2017) 8,697 (2,191) (25)

Net income (loss) 13,045 (3,286) (847)

Preferred stock dividends (3,658) (3,668) (3,658)

NNoncontrolling interest (5,912) (2,071) (2,115)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders   $ 3,475 $ (9,025) $ (6,620)

NNet income (loss) per common share:

Basic   $ 0.13 $ (0.35) $ (0.25)

Diluted 0.13 (0.35) (0.25)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 25,805,679 26,060,823 26,348,344

Diluted 26,233,144 26,060,823 26,348,344

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended June 30,

2015 2016 2017

Net income (loss)   $ 13,045 $ (3,286) $ (847)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Change in fair value, net of cash flow hedge reclassifications to the statement of 

operations of an unrealized gain of $104 in 2015 and $1,073 in 2017, and net of 

income tax effect of (145), $325 and $(191) in 2015, 2016 and 2017, 

respectively (298) 406 (222)

Cumulative translation adjustment (28,196) (2,543) 3,814

Total comprehensive income (loss) (15,449) (5,423) 2,745

Allocated to noncontrolling interests 7,794 (1,190) (3,933)

Comprehensive loss allocable to General Finance Corporation stockholders   $ (7,655) $ (6,613) $ (1,188)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)

Cumulative Additional

Accumulated

Other

Retained

Earnings

Total

General Finance

Corporation Equity of

Preferred

Stock

Common

Stock

Paid-In

Capital

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

(Accumulated

Deficit)

Stockholders’

Equity

Noncontrolling

Interests

Total

Equity

Balance at June 30, 2014  $ 40,100 $ 3 $ 128,030 $ 1,915 $ (11,786) $ 158,262 $ 99,623 $ 257,885

Share-based compensation — — 1,738 — — 1,738 436 2,174

Preferred stock dividends — — (3,658) — — (3,658) — (3,658)

Dividends on capital stock by subsidiary — — — — — — (3,922) (3,922)

Purchases of subsidiary capital stock — — (2,534) — — (2,534) (852) (3,386)

Issuance of 16,002 shares of common

stock at acquisition of Black Angus — — 156 — — 156 — 156

Issuance of 195,879 shares of common

stock on exercises of stock options — — 556 — — 556 — 556

Grant of net 110,382 shares of restricted 

stock — — — — — — — —

Grant of 29,358 shares of common stock — — — — — — — —

Net income — — — — 7,133 7,133 5,912 13,045

Fair value change in derivative, net of 

related tax effect — — — (152) — (152) (146) (298)

Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (14,636) — (14,636) (13,560) (28,196)

Total comprehensive loss — — — — — (7,655) (7,794) (15,449)

Balance at June 30, 2015 40,100 3 124,288 (12,873) (4,653) 146,865 87,491 234,356

Share-based compensation — — 1,908 — — 1,908 480 2,388

Preferred stock dividends — — (3,668) — — (3,668) — (3,668)

Dividends and distributions by

subsidiaries — — — — — — (3,081) (3,081)

Issuance of 13,000 shares of common

stock on exercises of stock options — — 40 — — 40 — 40

Grant of net 110,382 shares of restricted 

stock — — — — — — — —

Net income (loss) — — — — (5,357) (5,357) 2,071 (3,286)

Fair value change in derivative, net of 

related tax effect — — — 207 — 207 199 406

Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (1,463) — (1,463) (1,080) (2,543)

Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — (6,613) 1,190 (5,423)

Balance at June 30, 2016  $ 40,100 $ 3 $ 122,568 $ (14,129) $ (10,010) $ 138,532 $ 86,080 $        224,612

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)

Cumulative Additional

Accumulated

Other

Retained

Earnings

Total

General Finance

Corporation Equity of

Preferred

Stock

Common

Stock

Paid-In

Capital

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

(Accumulated

Deficit)

Stockholders’

Equity

Noncontrolling

Interests

Total

Equity

Share-based compensation — — 1,406 — — 1,406 (32) 1,374

Preferred stock dividends — — (3,658) — — (3,658) — (3,658)

Dividends and distributions by

subsidiaries — — — — — — (1,879) (1,879)

Issuance of 21,500 shares of common

stock on exercises of stock options — — 54 — — 54 — 54

Grant of 22,112 shares of common stock — — — — — — — —

Grant of net 349,304 shares of restricted 

stock — — — — — — — —

NNet income (loss) — — — — (2,962) (2,962) 2,115 (847)

Fair value change in derivative, net of 

related tax effect — — — (113) — (113) (109) (222)

Cumulative translation adjustment — — — 1,887 — 1,887 1,927 3,814

Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — (1,188) 3,933 2,745

Balance at June 30, 2017  $ 40,100 $ 3 $ 120,370 $ (12,355) $ (12,972) $ 135,146 $ 88,102 $        223,248

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended June 30,

2015 2016 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)     $ 13,045 $ (3,286) $ (847)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows from operating activities:

Gain on sales and disposals of property, plant and equipment (87) (61) (126)

Gain on sales of lease fleet (5,802) (6,384) (3,700)

Gain on bargain purchase of businesses — (72) —

Unrealized foreign exchange loss 512 103 375

Unrealized loss (gain) on forward exchange contracts (383) 367 12

Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps and options (104) — (1,073)

Impairment of goodwill and trade name — 3,068 —

Depreciation and amortization 38,571 38,634 40,092

Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,564 1,466 1,504

Accretion of interest 1,508 536 316

Share-based compensation expense 2,174 2,388 1,374

Deferred income taxes 5,532 (4,195) (1,194)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (excluding assets and liabilities from acquisitions):

Trade and other receivables, net 15,482 9,486 (5,445)

Inventories (9,965) 4,813 6,253

Prepaid expenses and other 2,614 (1,498) 492

Trade payables, accrued liabilities and unearned revenues (26,956) 4,511 (1,843)

Income taxes 544 (1,054) (883)

Net cash provided by operating activities                     38,249                     48,822                     35,307

Cash flows from investing activities:

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (34,051) (20,658) (4,993)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 452 10,609 267

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (17,961) (4,224) (3,693)

Proceeds from sales of lease fleet 23,893 28,547 24,030

Purchases of lease fleet (78,535) (49,320) (45,812)

Other intangible assets (1,228) (332) (521)

Net cash used in investing activities (107,430) (35,378) (30,722)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from (repayments of) equipment financing activities 577 (651) (483)

Proceeds from (repayments of) senior and other debt borrowings, net 77,496 1,989 (2,782)

Proceeds from issuances of 8.125% senior notes — — 5,390

Deferred financing costs (243) (206) (2,801)

Proceeds from issuances of common stock 556 40 54

Purchases of subsidiary capital stock (3,386) — —

Dividends and distributions by subsidiaries (3,922) (3,081) (1,879)

Preferred stock dividends (3,658) (3,668) (3,658)( ) ( ) ( )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 67,420 (5,577) (6,159)

Net increase (decrease) in cash (1,761) 7,867 (1,574)

Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 5,846 3,716 9,342

The effect of foreign currency translation on cash (369) (2,241) 24

Cash and equivalents at end of period     $ 3,716 $ 9,342 $ 7,792

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the period:

Interest     $ 17,416 $ 17,519 $ 18,914

Income taxes 2,322 4,163 2,479

Non-cash investing and financing activities (see Note 4): 

On July 1, 2014, the Company issued common stock of $156 as part of the consideration for a business acquisition.

The Company included non-cash holdback amounts totaling $3,152, $1,849 and $376 as part of the consideration for business acquisitions during the year ended 

June 30, 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1. Organization and Business Operations

General Finance Corporation (“GFN”) was incorporated in Delaware in October 2005. References to the “Company” in these

Notes are to GFN and its consolidated subsidiaries. These subsidiaries include GFN U.S. Australasia Holdings, Inc., a Delaware

corporation (“GFN U.S.”); GFN Insurance Corporation, an Arizona corporation (“GFNI”); GFN North America Leasing Corporation, a 

Delaware corporation (“GFNNA Leasing”); GFN North America Corp., a Delaware corporation (“GFNNA”); GFN Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GFNRC”); GFN Manufacturing Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“GFNMC”), and itstt

subsidiary, Southern Frac, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (collectively “Southern Frac”); GFN Asia Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd, y

an Australian corporation (“GFNAPH”), and its subsidiary, GFN Asia Pacific Finance Pty Ltd, an Australian corporation (“GFNAPF”);

over 50%-owned Royal Wolf Holdings Limited, an Australian corporation (“RWH”), and its Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries

(collectively, “Royal Wolf”); Pac-Van, Inc., an Indiana corporation, and its Canadian subsidiary, PV Acquisition Corp., an Alberta 

corporation (collectively “Pac-Van”); and Lone Star Tank Rental Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Lone Star”).

The Company does business in three distinct, but related industries, mobile storage, modular space and liquid containment (which 

are collectively referred to as the “portable services industry”), in two geographic ara eas; the Asia-Pacific (or Pan-Pacific) area,

consisting of Royal Wolf (which leases and sells storage containers, portable container buildings and freight containers in Australia and

New Zealand) and North America, consisting of Pac-Van (which leases and sells storage, office and portable liquid storage tank 

containers, modular buildings and mobile offices) and Lone Star (which leases portable liquid storage tank containers and containment 

products, as well as provides certain fluid management services, to the oil and gas industry in the Permian and Eagle Ford basins of 

Texas), which are combined to form our North American leasing operations, and Southern Frac (which manufactures portable liquid

storage tank containers and other steel-related products).

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accountingf

principles generally accepted in the United States. 

Unless otherwise indicated, references to “FY 2015,” “FY 2016” and “FY 2017” are to the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015, 2016 

and 2017, respectively. 

Principles of Consolidation p

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned and majority-owned 

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Foreign Currency Translationg y

The Company’s functional currencies for its foreign operations are the respective local currencies, the Australian (“AUS”) and 

New Zealand (“NZ”) dollars in the Asia-Pacific area and the Canadian (“C”) dollar in North America. All adjustments resulting from ff

the translation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements from the functional currency into reporting currency are recorded

as a component of stockholders’ equity in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards

Codification (“ASC”) Topic 830, Foreign Currency Matters. All assets and liabilities are translated at the rates in effect at the balance

sheet dates; and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are translated using the average exchange rates during the periods. Transactions in

foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate

prevailing at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the statement of operations. Non-monetary 

assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rad te at the date

of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the

functional currency at foreign exchange rates prevailing at the dates the fair value was determined.
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Segment Information g

FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for the way companies report information about operating

segments in annual financial statements. It also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic 

areas and major customers. Based on the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 280 and the manner in which the chief operating decision 

maker analyzes the business, the Company has determined it has two separately reportable geographic areas that include four operating 

segments, North America (leasing and manufacturing, including corporate headquarters) and the Asia-Pacific area (the leasing

operations of Royal Wolf).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and dist closure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly

susceptible to significant changes include assumptions used in assigning value to identifiable intangible assets at the acquisition date, 

the assessment for impairment of goodwill, the assessment for impairment of other intangible assets, the allowance for doubtful

accounts, share-based compensation expense, residual value of the lease fleet and deferred tax assets and liabilities. Assumptions and 

factors used in the estimates are evaluated on an annual basis or whenever events or n changes in circumstances indicate that the previous 

assumptions and factors have changed. The results of the analysis could result in adjustments to estimates. 

Cash Equivalents q

The Company considers highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents. 

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not t 

experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or fair value (net realizable value) and consist of primarily finished goods for containers,

modular buildings and mobile offices held for sale or lease; as well as raw materials, work in-process and finished goods of 

manufactured portable liquid storage tank containers. Costs for leasing operations are assigned to individual items on the basis of 

specific identification and include expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing condition and 

location; while costs for manufactured units are determined using the first-in, first-out method. Net realizable value is the ett stimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business. Expenses of marketing, selling and distribution to customers, as well as costs of 

completion, are estimated and are deducted from the estimated selling price to establish net realizable value. Portable liquid storage tank 

container inventories were reduced by lower of cost or net realizable value write-downs of $1,350,000 at June 30, 2016. Inventories are

comprised of the following (in thousands):

June 30,

2016 2017

Finished goods             $ 29,790             $ 25,564

Work in-process 2,298 1,844

Raw materials 2,521 2,240

            $    34,609             $    29,648

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company may use derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign currency and interest rate risks arising 

from operating, financing and investing activities. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading

purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments. Derivative financial

instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair 

value. The gain or loss on the remeasurement to fair value on unhedged (or the ineffective portion of hedged) derivative financial 

instruments is recognized in the statement of operations. 
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Accounting for Stock Options g p

For the issuances of stock options, the Company follows the fair value provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, Stock Compensation,

which require recognition of employee share-based compensation expense in the statements of operations over the vesting period based

on the fair value of the stock option at the grant date. For stock options granted to non-employee consultants, the Company recognizes 

compensation expense measured at their fair value at each reporting date. Therefore, the stock options issued to non-employeer

consultants are subject to periodic fair value adjustments recorded in share-based compensation over the vesting period.r

Fair Value 

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully 

disclosed in Note 6. Fair value estimates would involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit 

risk, prepayments and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in r

market conditions could significantly affect these estimates 

Property, Plant and Equipment p y, q p

Owned assets 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and imt pairment losses. The cost of self-construmm cted

assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, the initial estimate (where relevant) of the costs of dismantling and removing the items

and restoring the site on which they are located; and an appropriate allocation of production overhead, where applicable. Depreciation

for property, plant and equipment is recorded on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related asset. The residual

value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually.

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands): 

Estimated

Useful Life June 30,

2016 2017

Land —        $ 2,168     $ 2,168 

Building and improvements 10 — 40 years 4,887 4,890 

Transportation and plant equipment (including capital lease assets) 3 — 20 years 38,424 39,899 

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 — 10 years 9,531 10,683

55,010 57,640 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (28,059)   (34,252) 

    $ 26,951     $ 23,388

Capital leases 

Leases under which substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased assets are assumed by the 

Company are classified as capital leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the

present value of the minimum lease payments, or the fair value of the leased item, whichever is the lower, are capitalized and recorded 

at the inception of the lease. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the statement of 

operations. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are expensed on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except where an f

alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. Where leases have fff ixed rateff

increases, these increases are accrued and amortized over the entire lease period, yielding a constant periodic expense over the term of 

the lease. 
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Lease Fleet 

The Company has a fleet of storage, portable building, office and portable liquid storage tank containers, mobile offices, modular 

buildings and steps that it primarily leases to customers under operating lease agreements with varying terms. The value of the lease 

fleet (or lease or rental equipment) is recorded at cost and depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life (5 - 20

years), after the date the units are put in service, down to their estimated residual values (up to 70% of cost). In the opinion of 

management, estimated residual values are at or below net realizable values. The Company periodically reviews these depreciation

policies in light of various factors, including the practices of the larger competitors in the industry, and its own historicalf  experience. 

Costs incurred on lease fleet units subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalized when it is probable that future economic benefits in 

excess of the originally assessed performance will result; otherwise, they are expensed as incurred. At June 30, 2016 and 2017, the 

gross costs of the lease fleet were $503,817,000 and $534,197,000, respectively.

Units in the lease fleet are also available for sale. The cost of sales of a unit in the lease fleet is recognized at the carrying amount 

at the date of sale.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets p g

The Company periodically reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets and assesses when an event or change in circumstances

indicates the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash 

flows expected to result from the use of the asset and the eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. The Company has 

determined that no impairment provision related to long-lived assets was required to be recorded as of June 30, 2016 and 2017.

Goodwill 

The purchase consideration of acquired businesses have been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on the estimated 

fair values on the respective acquisition dates (see Note 4). Based on these values, the excess purchase consideration over the fair value 

of the net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill. The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350,

Intangibles — Goodwill and Other. FASB ASC Topic 350 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 

lives and requires these assets be reviewed for impairment. The Company operates two reportable geographic areas and the vast 

majority of goodwill recorded was in the acquisitions of Royal Wolf, Pac-Van, Southern Frac and Lone Star.

The Company assesses the potential impairment of goodwill on an annual basis or if a determination is made based on a

qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its 

carrying amount. Qualitative factors which could cause an impairment include (1) significant underperformance relative to historical,

expected or projected future operating results; (2) significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired businesses or the strategy for 

the Company’s overall business; (3) significant changes during the period in the Company’s market capitalization relative to net book 

value; and (4) significant negative industry or general economic trends. Prior to June 30, 2017, if the Company did determine that fair 

value is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, a quantitative two-step impairment test process would be applied. The first 

step in this quantitative process is a screen for potential impairment where the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying

value to determine if the goodwill is impaired. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned 

to that unit, then goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required. If, however, the carrying value of the net assets assigned to

the reporting unit were to exceed its fair value, then the second step is performed by determining the implied fair value of a reporting

unit’s goodwill and comparing it to the carrying value of the goodwill. This would involve allocating the fair value of the reporting unit 

to its respective assets and liabilities (as if it had been acquired in a separate and individual business combination and the fair value was 

the price paid to acquire it), with the excess of the fair value over the amounts assigned being the implied fair value of goodwill. If the dd

implied fair value is less than the carrying value of the goodwill, an impairment loss would be recorded for the difference. In January n

2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-04, which removed the requirement for a Step 2 goodwill 

impairment test and permitted early adoption for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on dates on or after January 1, nn

2017. The Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04 effective June 30, 2017 and any goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which 

a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, but the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated 

to that reporting unit. 
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At March 31, 2016, the Company determined that qualitative factors in its North American leasing and manufacturing operations,

pertaining primarily to conditions in the oil and gas market, required an update of the step one impairment analysis for Lone Star and 

Southern Frac. This updated analysis calculated that even though the excess of the estimated fair value of Lone Star over the carrying 

value of its invested capital declined to approximately 11% of the book value of its net assets, its implied value of goodwill was still

greater than its carrying value. However, the Company determined that the implied value of Southern Frac’s goodwill was less than the 

carrying value of its goodwill, resulting in an impairment charge of $2,681,000 at March 31, 2016. At June 30, 2016, the annual step

one impairment analysis performed on the North American reporting units, Pac-Van and Lone Star, calculated that the value of 

goodwill was still greater than its carrying value and that the amount by which the excess of the estimated fair values exceeded their 

respective carrying value of invested capital at that date was approximately 21% and 12%, respectively, of the book value of their 

respective net assets. At June 30, 2017, the annual impairment analysis performed calculated that the value of goodwill at Lone Star was 

still greater than its carrying value and that the amount by which the excess of the estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value of 

invested capital at that date was still over 12% of the book value of its net assets.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires judgment and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions.

The Company based its fair value estimates on assumptions that it believes are reasonable but are uncertain and subject to changes in

market conditions. 

The change in the balance of goodwill was as follows (in thousands):

June 30,

2015 2016 2017

Beginning of year (a)     $ 93,166 $ 99,344 $ 102,546 

Additions to goodwill 12,008 6,367 1,673 

Impairment of goodwill — (2,681) — 

Other adjustments, primarily foreign translation effect (5,830) (484) 910

Impairment of goodwill — — — 

End of year (b)     $      99,344 $      102,546 $      105,129 

(a) Net of accumulated impairment losses of $13,491 at June 30, 2014 and 2015, and $16,172 at June 30, 2016.

(b) Net of accumulated impairment losses of $13,491 at June 30, 2015, and $16,172 at June 30, 2016 and 2017.

Goodwill recorded from domestic acquisitions of businesses under asset purchase agreements is deductible for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes over 15 years, even though goodwill is not amortized for financial reporting purposes. 

Intangible Assets g

Intangible assets include those with indefinite (trademark and trade name) and finite (primarily customer base and lists, non-

compete agreements and deferred financing costs) useful lives. Customer base and lists and non-compete agreements are amortizedaa ond

the straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit which range from one to fourteen years. Costs to obtain long-term financingff

are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt using the straight-line method. Amortizing the deferred financing costs

using the straight-line method does not produce significantly different results than that of the effective interest method. Intff angible assets 

consist of the following (in thousands): 

June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Amount

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

  Net Carrying 

Amount

Trademark and trade name     $ 5,486 $ (302) $ 5,184 $ 5,486 $ (453) $ 5,033  

Customer base and lists 50,669 (30,064) 20,605 47,647 (31,223) 16,424  

NNon-compete agreements 14,169 (9,810) 4,359 9,622 (6,678) 2,944  

Deferred financing costs 3,589 (2,381) 1,208 4,855 (2,250) 2,605  

Other 3,447 (1,455) 1,992 4,006 (2,243) 1,763  

    $ 77,360 $ (44,012) $ 33,348 $ 71,616 $ (42,847) $ 28,769 
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The Company reviews intangible assets (those assets resulting from acquisitions) for impairment if it determines, based on a

qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50%) that fair value might be less than the carrying amount. If 

the Company determines that fair value is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, then impairment would be quantitatively 

tested, using historical cash flows and other relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for estimates of future cash flows. If it 

determines that fair value is not likely to be less than the carrying amount, then no further testing would be required. The Company

conducted its review at each yearend, which did not result in an impairment adjustment at June 30, 2017, but did result in an impairment 

write-down at June 30, 2016 of $387,000 to the carrying amount of the trade name recorded at Southern Frac. This write-down is

included in the caption “Impairment of goodwill and trade name” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Determining the fair value of intangible assets involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, which the Company believes

are reasonable, but are uncertain and subject to changes in market conditions. u

The estimated future amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives as of June 30, 2017 is as follows (in thousands): 

Year Ending June 30,

2018             $ 6,099 

2019 5,355 

2020 3,165 

2021 2,460 

2022 1,906 

Thereafter 4,751 

            $  23,736 

Defined Contribution Benefit Plan

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution benefit plans are recognized as an expense in the statement of operations as 

incurred. Contributions to defined contribution benefit plans in FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017 were $1,644,000, $1,507,000 andn

$1,586,000, respectively. 

Revenue Recognitiong

The Company leases and sells new and used storage, office, building and portable liquid storage tank containers, modular d

buildings and mobile offices to its customers, as well as providing other ancillary products and services. Leases to customers generally

qualify as operating leases unless there is a bargain purchase option at the end of the lease term. Revenue is recognized as earned in 

accordance with the lease terms established by the lease agreements and when collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue from sales m

of the lease fleet is generally recognized upon delivery and when collectability is reasonably assured and revenue from the sales of 

manufactured units are recognized when title and risk of loss transfers to the purchaser, generally upon shipment. Certain arrangementsaa

to sell units under long-term construction-type sales contracts are accounted for under the percentage of completion method. Under this

method, income is recognized in proportion to the incurred costs to date under the contract to estimated total costs. 

Unearned revenue includes end of lease services not yet performed by the Company (such as transport charges for the pick-up of a 

unit where the actual pick-up has not yet occurred as the unit is still leased), advance rentals and deposit payments. 

Advertising g

Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred. Direct-response advertising costs, principally yellow page advertising, are

monitored through call logs and advertising source codes, are capitalized when paid and amortized over the period in which the benefit 

is derived. However, the amortization period of the prepaid balance never exceeds 12 months. At June 30, 2016 and 2017, prepaid

advertising costs were approximately $2,000. Advertising costs expensed were approximately $3,448,000, $3,284,000 and $3,478,000 

for FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, respectively. 
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Shipping and Handling Costs pp g g

The Company reports shipping and handling costs, primarily related to outbound freight in its North American manufacturing

operations, as a component of selling and general expenses. Shipping and handling costs totaled $928,000, $219,000 and $172,000 in 

FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, respectively. Freight charges billed to customers are recorded asd revenue and included in sales.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are recorded for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and income tax basis of assets and liabilities at a

the balance sheet date multiplied by the applicable tax rates. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred 

tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is recorded for the amount of income tax payable or refundable for 

the period increased or decreased by the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period. The Company files U.Sa . Federal 

tax returns, multiple U.S. state (and state franchise) tax returns and Australian, New Zealand and Canadian tax returns. For U.S. Federal 

tax purposes, all periods subsequent to June 30, 2013 are subject to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”); and, for 

U.S. state tax purposes, with few exceptions and depending on the state, periods subsequent to June 30, 2011 are subject to exauu mination 

by the respective state’s taxation authorities. Periods subsequent to June 30, 2013, June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2010 are subject to

examination by the respective taxation authorities in Canada, Australia and New Zealand, respectively. Tax records are required to be d

kept for five years and seven years in Australia and New Zealand, respectively. The Company believes that its income tax filing

positions and deductions would be sustained on audit and does not anticipate any adjustments that would result in a material change. 

Therefore, no reserves for uncertain income tax positions have been recorded. In addition, the Company does not anticipate that thet

total amount of unrecognized tax benefit related to any particular tax position will change significantly within the next 12 months. The

Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties, if any, will be to record such items as a component of income taxes.

Net Income per Common Sharep

Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the periods. Diluted net income per common share reflects the potential

dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock r or 

resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the Company. The potential dilutive securities (common

stock equivalents) the Company had outstanding were stock options. The following is a reconciliation of weighted average shares

outstanding used in calculating earnings per common share: 

FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017

Basic 25,805,679             26,060,823             26,348,344

Assumed exercise of stock options 427,465 — —

Diluted             26,233,144 26,060,823 26,348,344

Potential common stock equivalents totaling 1,682,726, 2,183,224 and 1,635,025 for FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017,

respectively, have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect is anti-dilutive.f

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncementsy g

F-14 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 (Topic 606). ASU 2014-09 completes the joint effortt  by the FASB and IASBd toB  improveo  financial reportingl byg  creatingy commong  revenuen

recognition guidance for U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The ASU 2014-09 revenue recognition 

model virtually replaces all existing revenue recognition guidance and applies to all companies that enter into contracts with customers 

to transfer goods or services. ASU 2014-09 (as updated by ASU 2015-14 in August 2015, ASU No. 2016-08 in March 2016, ASU

No. 10 in April 2016 and ASU No. 12 in May 2016) is effective for public entities for interim and annual reporting periods beginning 

after December 15, 2017. Public and nonpublic entities have the choice to apply ASU 2014-09 either retrospectively to each reporting

period presented or by recognizing the cumulative effect of applying ASU 2014-09 at the date of 
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initial application and not adjusting comparative information. While the Company continues to evaluate the requirements of ASU-

204.09, it believes the majority of its revenues, as it relates to contractual rental revenue, is excluded from the scope of this ASU and the 

accounting for the remaining revenue streams will not be materially affected. Accordingly, the Company does not expect the adoption

of ASU 2014-09 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. Additionally, the Company intends to utilize the 

modified retrospective adoption and recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying ASU 2014-09, if significant, as an adjustment d

to the opening balance of accumulated deficit at the date of initial application.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30). The amendments in this update

require that debt issuance (or deferred financing) costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct 

deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with the presentation of debt discounts. In August 2015, the FASB

issued ASU No. 2015-15 which added SEC guidance that stated in the absence of authoritative guidance within ASU 2015-03 of debt

issuance costs related to line-of-credit arrangements, the SEC staff would not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance

costs as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, aa

regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. The Company adopted these updates in

FY 2017 and, as a result, unamortized debt issuance costs totaling $2,239,000 and $2,151,000 as of June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2017, 

respectively, have been deducted from the carrying amounts of the Credit Suisse Term Loan and Senior Notes (see Note 5) in the rr

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized deferred financing costs related to the Asia-Pacific and North American senior 

credit facilities are included in the caption “Other intangible assets, net” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In February 2016, the FASB issued new lease accounting guidance in ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This new guidance 

was initiated as a joint project with the International Accounting Standards Board to simplify lease accounting and improve the quality 

of and comparability of financial information for users. This new guidance would eliminate the concept of off-balance sheet treatment 

for “operating leases” for lessees for the vast majority of lease contracts. Under ASU No. 2016-02, at inception, a lessee must classifyt

all leases with a term of over one year as either finance or operating, with both classifications resulting in the recognition of a defined 

“right-of-use” asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. However, recognition in the income statement will differ depending on the

lease classification, with finance leases recognizing the amortization of the right-of-use asset separate from the interest on the lease

liability and operating leases recognizing a single total lease expense. Lessor accounting under ASU No. 2016-02 would be 

substantially unchanged from the previous lease requirements under U.S. GAAP. ASU No. 2016-02 will take effect for public 

companies in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is 

permitted and for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial 

statements, lessees and lessors must apply a modified retrospective transition approach. During FY 2017, the Company evaluated this 

new accounting standard and engaged professionals in the new lease accounting implementation and related real estate consulting

industry to assist in determining the effect of the new standard as of July 1, 2017. The Company currently has over 100 real estate leases 

worldwide and evaluated each of these leases in accordance with the new lease accounting standard under ASC Topic 842. As of July 1,

2017, the Company estimates that the right of use asset to be recorded on its consolidated balance sheet would be approximately $34.0 y

million to $37.0 million and that the related liability would be approximately $35.0 million to $39.0 million related to operating leases. 

The difference between the right of use asset and related lease liability is predominantly deferred rent and other related lease expenses

under the new lease accounting standard. The difference in the ranges is due to the presumed renewal of leases whereby the exercise of 

the renewal option is twelve months or less from July 1, 2017. The Company will continue to evaluate existing renewal options in 

excess of one year as to the probability of exercising renewal options and is currently evaluating its equipment and other finance leasesaa

and its lessor accounting under the new standard. The Company will continue this effort in a manner to be appropriately prepared for its

implementation on or before July 1, 2019. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718). Under ASU No. 2016-09,

all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies will be recognized in the income statement as they occur. This will replace the cun rrent 

guidance, which requires tax benefits that exceed compensation cost (windfalls) to be recognized in equity, and tax deficiencies

(shortfalls) to be recognized in equity to the extent of previously recognized windfalls. It will also eliminate the need to maintain a

“windfall pool,” and will remove the requirement to delay recognizing a windfall until it reduces current taxes payable. ASU No. 2016-

09 will also change the cash flow presentation of excess tax benefits, classifying them as operating inflows, consistent with other cash 

flows related to income taxes. In addition, this ASU allows a policy election to either continue to reduce share-based compensation

expense for forfeitures in future periods, or to recognize forfeitures as they occur. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company will 
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implement ASU No. 2016-09 in the first quarter of its fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, elect to recognize forfeitures as theyr occur and 

estimates the cumulative-effect adjustment for previously unrecognized excess tax benefits and for the tax-effect of the differff ence

between the fair value estimate of awards historically expected to be forfeited and the fair value estimate of awards actually forfeited on

the opening balance sheet to be an approximately $135,000 benefit to accumulated deficit.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than 

Inventory. ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory

when the transfer occurs. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods after December 15, 2017, including interim periods therein,

with early adoption permitted and should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly

to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company does not believe the requirements of ASU No. 2017-01

will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 842): Clarifying the Definition of a Business.

ASU No. 2017-01 clarifies the definition of a business to help companies evaluate whether acquisition or disposal transactions should 

be accounted for as asset groups or as businesses. This ASU will take effect for public companies in fiscal years beginning after 

December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not believe that the requirements of ASU

No. 2017-01 will have a material effect to its consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718). ASU No. 2017-09 clarifies 

what constitutes a modification of a share-based payment award. This standard is effective for annual and interim periods beginning 

after December 15, 2017. We will implement this standard on January 1, 2018 and apply the guidance prospectively to modifications 

after that date. The Company does not believe that the requirements of ASU 2017-09 will have a material effect on the consolidated aa

financial statements. 

Note 3. Equity Transactions

Preferred Stock 

Upon issuance of shares of preferred stock, the Company records the liquidation value as the preferred equity in the consolidated 

balance sheet, with any underwriting discount and issuance or offering costs recorded as a reduction in additional paid-in capital. 

Series B Preferred Stock 

The Company has outstanding privately-placed 8.00% Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value of $0.0001 per share and 

liquidation value of $1,000 per share (“Series B Preferred Stock”). The Series B Preferred Stock is offered primarily in connection with 

business combinations. At June 30, 2016 and 2017, the Company had outstanding 100 shares of Series B Preferred Stock with an

aggregate liquidation preference totaling $102,000. The Series B Preferred Stock is not convertible into GFN common stock, has no

voting rights, except as required by Delaware law, and is redeemable after February 1, 2014; at which time it may be redeemed at any

time, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option. Holders of the Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when declared by the 

Company’s Board of Directors, annual dividends payable quarterly in arrears on the 31st day of January, July and October and on the 

30th day of April of each year. In the event of any liquidation or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock d

will have preference to holders of common stock. 

Series C Preferred Stock 

The Company has outstanding publicly-traded 9.00% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, liquidation

preference $100.00 per share (the “Series C Preferred Stock”). At June 30, 2016 and 2017, the Company had outstanding 400,000 

shares of Series C Preferred Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference totaling $40,620,000. Dividends on the Series C Preferred

Stock are cumulative from the date of original issue and will be payable on the 31st day of each January, July and October and on the 

30th day of April when, as and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors. Commencing on May 17, 2018, the Company may

redeem, at its option, the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at a cash redemption price of $100.00 per share, plus any accrued 

and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the redemption date. Among other things, the Series C Preferred Stock has no stated

maturity, is not subject to any sinking fund or other mandatory redemption, and is not convertible into or exchangeable for any of they

Company’s other securities. Holders of the Series C Preferred Stock generally will have no voting rights, except for limited voting

rights if dividends payable on the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock are in arrears for six or more consecutive or 
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non-consecutive quarters, and under certain other circumstances. If the Company fails to maintain the listing of the Series C Preferred 

Stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”) for 30 days or more, the per annum dividend rate will increase by an additional

2.00% per $100.00 stated liquidation value ($2.00 per annum per share) so long as the listing failure continues. In addition, in the event 

of any liquidation or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock will have preference to holders of

common stock and are pair passu with the Series B Preferred Stock. The Series C Preferred Stock is listed on NASDAQ under the 

symbol “GFNCP.” 

Dividends 

As of June 30, 2017, since issuance, dividends paid or payable totaled $85,000 for the Series B Preferred Stock and dividends paid 

totaled $14,440,000 for the Series C Preferred Stock. The characterization of dividends to the recipients for Federal income tax 

purposes is made based upon the earnings and profits of the Company, as defined by the Internal Revenue Code.

Royal Wolf Dividendsy

On August 12, 2014, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf declared a dividend of AUS$0.055 per RWH share payable on

October 3, 2014 to shareholders of record on September 18, 2014; and on February 10, 2015, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf

declared a dividend of AUS$0.04 per RWH share payable on April 2, 2015 to shareholders of record on March 18, 2015. 

On August 12, 2015, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf declared a dividend of AUS$0.05 per RWH share payable on

October 2, 2015 to shareholders of record on September 17, 2015; and on February 8, 2016, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf 

declared a dividend of AUS$0.03 per RWH share payable on April 4, 2016 to shareholders of record on March 16, 2016, respectively. 

On August 10, 2016, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf declared a dividend of AUS$0.025 per RWH share payable on 

October 4, 2016 to shareholders of record on September 16, 2016 and on February 7, 2017, the Board of Directors of Royal Wolf 

declared a dividend of AUS$0.025 per RWH share payable on April 4, 2017 to shareholders of record on March 16, 2017. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the amount of the dividends pertaining to the noncontrolling interest.

Note 4. Acquisitions 

The Company can enhance its business and market share by entering into new markets in various ways, including starting up a 

new location or acquiring a business consisting of container, modular unit or mobile office assets of another entity. An acquisition 

generally provides the Company with operations that enables it to at least cover existing overhead costs and is preferable to a start-up or a

greenfield location. The businesses discussed below were acquired primarily to expand the Company’s container lease fleet. The 

accompanying consolidated financial statements include the operations of the acquired businesses from the dates of acquisition.

FY 2015 Acquisitions q

On July 1, 2014, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of Black Angus Steel & Supply Co. and Bulkhead 

Express, LLC (“Black Angus”) for $4,861,000, which included the issuance of 16,002 shares of GFN common stock and a holdback 

amount of $1,468,000. Black Angus leases and sells containers from two locations in Texas. 

On October 20, 2014, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of LongVANS, Inc. (“LongVANS”) for 

$13,769,000, which included a holdback amount of $577,000. LongVANS designs, manufactures, leases and sells portable storage

containers, portable security containers and modular office trailers from two locations in Wisconsin. 

On November 14, 2014, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of A-One Storage, LLC (“A-One”) for 

$8,308,000, which included a holdback amount of $779,000. A-One leases and sells storage containers, ground level offices (office 

containers), storage trailers and wheeled office trailers in Columbus, Ohio. 

On December 1, 2014, the Company, through Royal Wolf, purchased the business of YS Container Services (“YS Container”) for 

approximately $1,560,000 (AUS$1,833,000), which included a holdback amount of $147,000 (AUS$172,000). YS Container primarily 

leases and sells containers in Christchurch, New Zealand.n
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On January 9, 2015, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of Bristlecone Ventures, LLC, doing business as

“Falcon Containers” (“Falcon Containers”), for $7,090,000. Falcon Containers primarily leases and sells portable storage and office ff

containers from its two locations in Austin and San Antonio, Texas.

On February 20, 2015, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of AB-TK Leasing, Inc., doing business as “Chet-

Jac Trailer Sales” (“Chet-Jac”), for approximately $1,039,000, which included a holdback amount of $100,000. Chet-Jac primarily

leases and sells portable storage containers and storage trailers from Holts Summit, Missouri. 

On March 20, 2015, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of Budget Mobile Storage, LLC (“Budget Mobile 

Storage”), for $940,000, which included a holdback amount of $71,000. Budget Mobile Storage primarily leases and sells primarily 

portable storage containers in Des Moines, Iowa, Wichita, Kansas and the Quad Cities area surrounding Milan, Illinois.aa

On June 10, 2015, the Company, through Royal Wolf, purchased the business of Ivan’s Container Hire (“Ivan’s Container”) for 

approximately $165,000 (AUS$217,000), which included a holdback amount of $10,000 (AUS$13,000). Ivan’s Container primarilyk

leases and sells containers in Toowoomba, Queensland.

The allocations for the acquisitions in FY 2015 to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their 

estimated fair market values were as follows (in thousands):

Black Angus

July 1, 2014

LongVANS

October 20, 1014

A-One

November 14, 2014

Falcon Containers

January 9, 2015

Other

Acquisitions Total

Fair value of the net tangible assets

acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash         $ —     $ —     $ —     $ 373     $ —             $ 373 

Trade and other receivables 139 631 — 256 1,026

Inventories — 22 — — 288 310

Prepaid expenses and other — 44 — — 16 60 

Property, plant and equipment 249 609 302 255 89 1,504

Lease fleet 2,020 6,228 4,803 3,300 2,102 18,453 

Accounts payables and accrued 

liabilities — (340) — (224) (32) (596)

Unearned revenue and advance 

payments (84) (626) (299) (204) (53) (1,266) 

Deferred tax liabilities — — — (853) — (853)

Total net tangible assets 

acquired and liabilities 

assumed 2,324 6,568 4,806 2,903 2,410 19,011 

Fair value of intangible assets

acquired:

Non-compete agreement 261 728 160 406 260 1,815 

Customer lists/relationships 851 1,400 972 633 589 4,445

Trade name — 453 — — — 453

Goodwill 1,425 4,620 2,370 3,148 445 12,008 

Total intangible assets 

acquired 2,537 7,201 3,502 4,187 1,294 18,721

Total purchase consideration         $ 4,861     $ 13,769     $ 8,308     $ 7,090     $ 3,704             $ 37,732 

The operating results for the FY 2015 acquisitions prior to and since their respective dates of acquisition were not considered

significant. 

FY 2016 Acquisitions q

On August 28, 2015, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of Mobile Storage Solutions of Mo., LLC (“MSS”)

for $1,497,000, which included a deferred purchase price promissory note of $613,000, bearing interest at 2.00% per annum and due indd

January 2016, and a holdback amount of $139,000. MSS leased and sold storage and office containers and storage trailers in 

Springfield, Missouri.

On October 16, 2015, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the container business of McKinney Trailer Rentals, Inc., d/b/a

McKinney Container Rentals & Sales (“McKinney”), for $15,264,000, which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling

$940,000. McKinney leased and sold storage (including refrigerated) containers and chassis and other units in the Seattle and Tacoma

area.
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On October 29, 2015, the Company, through Royal Wolf, purchased the container business of Spacewise (Aust) Pty Limited 

(“Spacewise”), for $281,000 (AUS$390,000), which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling $56,000 (AUS$78,000). 

Spacewise is based in Sydney, New South Wales. 

On December 23, 2015, the Company, through Royal Wolf, purchased the container business of W.A. Container Services Pty 

Limited (“W.A. Container”), for $321,000 (AUS$439,000), which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling $66,000 

(AUS$90,000). W.A. Container is based in Perth, West Australia.

On February 19, 2016, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the container business of Box Service Company, Inc. (“BSC”) 

for $461,000, which included a holdback of $35,000. BSC is based in Houston, Texas. 

On April 4, 2016, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the container business of Aran Trading, Ltd. (“Aran”), for 

$4,755,000, which included a holdback of $500,000 paid to an escrow account. Aran, which is located in Salisbury, Massachusetts, 

leases and sells storage containers and trailers in the New England area. 

The allocations for the acquisitions in FY 2016 to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their

estimated fair market values were as follows (in thousands):

MSS

August 28, 2015

McKinney

October 16, 2015

Aran

April 4, 2016

Other

Acquisitions Total

Fair value of the net tangible assets acquired and aa

liabilities assumed:

Trade and other receivables         $ —   $ 1,580   $ 97     $ —     $ 1,677

Inventories — — — 23 23

Prepaid expenses and other — 8 — — 8

Property, plant and equipment 60 531 206 77 874

Lease fleet 933 6,278 2,897 730 10,838

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities — (984) — (22) (1,006)

Unearned revenue and advance payments (27) (2) (175) (56) (260)

Total net tangible assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed 966 7,411 3,025 752 12,154

Fair value of intangible assets acquired:

Non-compete agreement 132 239 52 76 499

Customer lists/relationships 226 2,371 353 104 3,054

Other — 89 416 — 505

Goodwill 173 5,154 909 131 6,367

Total intangible assets acquired 531 7,853 1,730 311 10,425

Total purchase consideration         $              1,497   $              15,264     $              4,755     $            1,063     $      22,579

Revenues and net income for McKinney since the date of acquisition in FY 2016 totaled $7,494,000 and $1,219,000, respectively.

The FY 2016 operating results of all acquisitions prior to and since their respective dates of acquisition were not considered significant.

FY 2017 Acquisitions q

On July 22, 2016, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the container business of The Great Container Company, Ltd. 

(“GCC”), for $662,000 (C$869,000), which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling $102,000 (C$133,000). GCC is 

located in Vancouver, British Columbia.

On July 27, 2016, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the business of Container Systems Storage, Inc. (“CSS”), for 

$1,667,000, which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling approximately $120,000. CSS, which is located in 

Yakima, Washington, leases and sells storage containers in the state of Washington and in northern Oregon.
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On December 1, 2016, the Company, through Royal Wolf, purchased the container businesses of All Direct Container Sales Pty 

Limited and ADC Storage Pty Limited as Trustee for the ADC Storage Unit Trust (collectively “All Direct”), for $3,040,000 

(AUS$4,109,000), which included holdback and other adjustment amounts totaling $154,000 (AUS$209,000). All Direct leases and

sells containers in the southeast Queensland market, particularly in the Brisbane, Gold Coast and Toowoomba regions. 

The allocations for the acquisitions in FY 2017 to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their 

estimated fair market values was as follows (in thousands):

GCC

July 22, 2016

CSS

July 27, 2016

All Direct

December 1, 2016 Total

Fair value of the net tangible assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed:

Trade and other receivables         $ 5     $ 57     $ —     $ 62

Inventories 66 211 — 277

Property, plant and equipment 23 44 44 111

Lease fleet 352 615 1,646 2,613

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities — (7) (45) (52) 

Unearned revenue and advance payments (21) (36) — (57)

Deferred income taxes — (241) (201) (442) 

Total net tangible assets acquired and liabilities

assumed 425 643 1,444 2,512

Fair value of intangible assets acquired:

Non-compete agreement 21 29 350 400

Customer lists/relationships 138 312 334 784

Goodwill 78 683 912 1,673

Total intangible assets acquired 237 1,024 1,596 2,857

Total purchase consideration         $            662     $            1,667     $                3,040     $            5,369

The FY 2017 operating results of all acquisitions prior to and since their respective dates of acquisition were not considered 

significant. 

Goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to expected corporate synergies, the assembled workforce and other factors. In FY

2015, the goodwill recognized in the Black Angus, LongVANS, A-One, Chet-Jac and Budget Mobile Storage acquisitions is deductible

for U.S. income tax purposes, but the goodwill recognized in the Falcon Containers, YS Container and Ivan’s Container acquisitions is

not. In FY 2016, the goodwill recognized in the Spacewise and W.A. Container acquisitions is not deductible for U.S. income tax

purposes, but all other goodwill recognized during FY 2016 is deductible. The estimated fair value of the tangible and intangible assets

acquired and liabilities assumed exceeded the purchase prices of Spacewise resulting in estimated bargain purchase gain of $72,000 in

FY 2016. This gain has been recorded as non-operating income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. In FY 2017, 

the goodwill recognized in the GCC, CSS and All Direct acquisitions are not deductible for U.S. income tax purposes.

The Company incurred approximately $279,000 during FY 2015, $422,000 during FY 2016 and $44,000 of incremental

transaction costs associated with acquisition-related activity that were expensed as incurred and are included in selling and general

expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
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Note 5. Senior and Other Debt 

Asia-Pacific Leasing Senior Credit Facilityg y

Royal Wolf has a $115,304,000 (AUS$150,000,000) secured senior credit facility, as last amended in December 2016, under a

common terms deed arrangement with the Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (“ANZ”) and Commonwealth Bank of 

Australia (“CBA”) (the “ANZ/CBA Credit Facility”). Under the common deed arrangement of the ANZ/CBA Credit Facility, ANZ’s 

proportionate share of the borrowing capacity is $69,182,000 (AUS$90,000,000) and CBA’s proportionate share is $46,122,000 

(AUS$60,000,000). The ANZ/CBA Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company’s Australian and New

Zealand subsidiaries and has $76,869,000 (AUS$100,000,000) maturing on January 31, 2022 (Facility A), and $38,435,000

(AUS$50,000,000) maturing on July 31, 2019 (Facility B). 

For the ANZ proportionate share, borrowings under the ANZ/CBA Credit Facility bear interest at the bank bill swap interest ratet

in Australia (“BBSY”) or New Zealand (“BKBM”), plus a margin of 1.40% - 2.40% per annum on Facility A and 1.35% - 2.40% on 

Facility B, depending on the net debt leverage ratio (“NDLR”), as defined. The CBA proportionate share has a margin of 1.75% -

2.65% per annum on Facility A and 1.45% - 2.35% on Facility B. At June 30, 2017, the 30-day and 90-day BBSY and BKBM were 

1.665% and 1.755% and 1.850% and 1.980%, respectively. The ANZ/CBA Credit Facility also include $2,306,000 (AUS$3,000,000)

sub-facilities to, among other things, facilitate direct and global payments using electronic banking services. The ANZ/CBA Credit 

Facility, as amended, is subject to certain financial and other customary covenants, including, among other things, compliance with

specified interest coverage and net debt ratios based on earnings before interest, income taxes, impairment, depreciation and 

amortization and other non-operating costs and income (“EBITDA”) on a semi-annual basis and that borrowings may not exceed a 

multiple of 3.25 times EBITDA, as defined.

At June 30, 2017, total borrowings and availability under the ANZ/CBA Credit Facility totaled $81,051,000 (AUS$105,440,000)

and $12,320,000 (AUS$16,027,000), respectively. Of the total borrowings, $54,622,000 (AUS$71,058,000) is drawn under Facility A

and $26,429,000 (AUS$34,382,000) is drawn under Facility B. 

The above amounts were translated based upon the exchange rate of one Australian dollar to $0.76869 U.S. dollar at June 30, 

2017. 

North America Senior Credit Facilityr y

The North America leasing (Pac-Van and Lone Star) and manufacturing operations (Southern Frac) have a combined 

$237,000,000 senior secured revolving credit facility, as amended, with a syndicate led by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

(“Wells Fargo”) that also includes East West Bank, CIT Bank, N.A., the Private Bank and Trust Company, KeyBank, Nationalrr

Association, Bank Hapoalim B.M. and Associated Bank, N.A. (the “Wells Fargo Credit Facility”). The Wells Fargo Credit Facility 

matures on March 24, 2022, assuming the Company’s publicly-traded senior notes due July 31, 2021(see below) are extended at least 

90 days past this scheduled maturity date; otherwise the Wells Fargo Credit Facility would mature on March 24, 2021. There is aaa lso a

separate loan agreement with Great American Capital Partners (“GACP”), where GACP provided a First In Last Out Term Loan

(“FILO Term Loan”) within the Wells Fargo Credit Facility in the amount of $20,000,000, and inclusive in the $237,000,000 total

amount. The FILO Term Loan has the same maturity date and commences principal amortization on October 1, 2018 at $500,000 per 

quarter. The FILO Term Loan has a prepayment fee of 3.00% of the prepaid amount if prepaid prior to the first anniversary, 2.00% of 

the prepaid amount if prepaid prior to the second anniversary and 1.00% of the prepaid amount if prepaid prior to the third anniversary.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the rental fleet, inventory and other assets of the Company’s 

North American leasing and manufacturing operations. The FILO Term Loan also contains a first priority lien on the same collateral, 

but on a “last out basis,” after all of the outstanding obligations to the primary lenders in the Wells Fargo Credit Facility have been 

satisfied. The Wells Fargo Credit Facility effectively not only finances the North American operations, but also the funding

requirements for the Series C Preferred Stock (see Note 3), the term loan with Credit Suisse (see below) and the publicly-traded 

unsecured senior notes. The maximum amount of intercompany dividends that Pac-Van and Lone Star are allowed to pay in each fiscal 

year to GFN for the funding requirements of GFN’s senior and other debt and the Series C Preferred Stock are (a) the lesser of 

$5,000,000 for the Series C Preferred Stock or the amount equal to the dividend rate of the Series C Preferred Stock and its aggregate

liquidation preference and the actual amount of dividends required to be paid to the Series C Preferred Stock; (b) the actual annualaa
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interest to be paid for the term loan with Credit Suisse; and (c) $6,300,000 for the public offering of unsecured senior notes or the actual

amount of annual interest required to be paid; provided that (i) the payment of such dividends does not cause a default or event of nn

default; (ii) each of Pac-Van and Lone Star is solvent; (iii) excess avr ailability, as defined, is $5,000,000 or more under the Wells Fargo

Credit Facility; (iv) the fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined, will be greater than 1.25 to 1.00; and (v) the dividends are paid no

earlier than ten business days prior to the date they are due.

Borrowings under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility accrue interest, at the Company’s option, either at the base rate, plus 0.5% and a 

range of 1.00% to 1.50%, or the LIBOR rate, plus 1.0% and a range of 2.50% to 3.00%. The FILO Term Loan within the Wells Fargo

Credit Facility bears interest at 11.00% above the LIBOR rate, with a LIBOR rate floor of 1.00%. The Wells Fargo Credit Facilitytt

contains, among other things, certain financial covenants, including fixed charge coverage ratios, and other covenants, representations, 

warranties, indemnification provisions, and events of default that are customary for senior secured credit facilities; includinrr g a covenant 

that would require repayment upon a change in control, as defined. At June 30, 2017, borrowings and availability under the Wells Fargo

Credit Facility totaled $180,946,000 and $37,692,000, respectively. 

Credit Suisse Term Loan 

On March 31, 2014, the Company entered into a $25,000,000 facility agreement, as amended, with Credit Suisse (“Credit Suisseh

Term Loan”) as part of the financing for the acquisition of Lone Star and, on April 3, 2014, the Company borrowed the $25,000,000

available to it. The Credit Suisse Term Loan provides that the amount borrowed will bear interest at LIBOR plus 7.50% per year, will

be payable quarterly and that all principal and interest will mature on July 1, 2018. In addition, the Credit Suisse Term Loan is secured

by a first ranking pledge over substantially all shares of RWH owned by GFN U.S., requires a certain coverage maintenance ratio in 

U.S. dollars based on the value of the RWH shares and, among other things, that an amount equal to six-months interest be deposited in

an interest reserve account pledged to secure repayment of all amounts borrowed. The Company has repaid, prior to maturity, 

$15,000,000 of the outstanding borrowings of the Credit Suisse Term Loan and, as of June 30, 2017, $9,920,000 remained outstanding,

net oft  unamortizedf  debtd  issuancet  costs of $80,000.f

Senior Notes

On June 18, 2014, the Company completed the sale of unsecured senior notes (the “Senior Notes”) in a public offering for an 

aggregate principal amount of $72,000,000. On April 24, 2017, the Company completed the sale of a “tack-on” offering of its publicly-

traded Senior Notes for an aggregate principal amount of $5,390,000 that was priced at $24.95 per denomination. Net proceeds were 

$5,190,947, after deducting an aggregate original issue discount (“OID”) of $10,780 and underwriting discount of $188,273. In both 

offerings, the Company used at least 80% of the gross proceeds to reduce indebtedness at Pac-Van and Lone Star under the Wells Fargo

Credit Facility in order to permit the payment of intercompany dividends by Pac-Van and Lone Star to GFN to fund the interest 

requirements of the Senior Notes. For the ‘tack-on” offering, this amounted to $4,303,376 of the net proceeds. At June 30, 2017, the

Company has total outstanding publicly-traded Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $77,390,000 ($75,319,000, net ofn

unamortized debt issuance costs of $2,071,000).

The Senior Notes were issued in minimum denominations of $25 and integral multiples of $25 in excess thereof and pursuant to 

the First Supplemental Indenture (the “First Supplemental Indenture”) dated as of June 18, 2014 by and between the Company and 

Wells Fargo, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The First Supplemental Indenture supplements the Indenture entered into by and between the

Company and the Trustee dated as of June 18, 2014 (the “Base Indenture” and, together with the First Supplemental Indenture, the 

“Indenture”). The Senior Notes bear interest at the rate of 8.125% per annum, mature on July 31, 2021 and are not subject to any nn

sinking fund. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable quarterly in arrears on January 31, April 30, July 31 and October 31, commencing mm

on July 31, 2014. The Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future unsecured senior 

debt and senior in right of payment to all of its existing and future subordinated debt. The Senior Notes are effectively subordinated to

any of the Company’s existing and future secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt. The Senior Notes are 

structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries and are not guaranteed by any of thef

Company’s subsidiaries. 
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The Company had an option, prior to July 31, 2017, to redeem the Senior Notes in whole or in part upon the payment of 100% of 

the principal amount of the Senior Notes being redeemed, plus any additional amount required by the Indenture. In addition, the

Company may have redeemed up to 35% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes before July 31, 2017 with

the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption pricff e of 108.125% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid 

interest. The Company has not redeemed any of its Senior Notes as July 31, 2017. 

If the Company sells certain of its assets or experiences specific kinds of changes in control, as defined, it must offer to redeem the

Senior Notes. The Company may, at its option, at any time and from time to time, on or after July 31, 2017, redeem the Senior Notes in 

whole or in part. The Senior Notes will be redeemable at a redemption price initially equal to 106.094% of the principal amount of the t

Senior Notes (and which declines each year on July 31) plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. On and after any r

redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the redeemed Senior Notes. 

The Indenture contains covenants which, among other things, limit the Company’s ability to make certain payments, to pay 

dividends and to incur additional indebtedness if the incurrence of such indebtedness would cause the company’s consolidated fixed 

charge coverage ratio, as defined in the Indenture, to be below 2.0 to 1.0. The Senior Notes are listed on NASDAQ under the symbol 

“GFNSL.” 

Other 

At June 30, 2017, other debt totaled $8,402,000. 

The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under all its credit facilities as of June 30, 2017.

The weighted-average interest rate in the Asia-Pacific area was 5.4%, 5.4% and 5.0% in FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, 

respectively; which does not include the effect of translation, interest rate swap contracts and options and the amortization of deferred 

financing costs. The weighted-average interest rate in North America was 5.2%, 4.9% and 5.3% in FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, 

respectively, which does not include the effect of the amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of interest.

Senior and other debt consisted of the following at June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in thousands): 

June 30,

2016 2017

ANZ/CBA Credit Facility   $ 76,050 $ 81,051

Wells Fargo Credit Facility 187,591     180,946

Credit Suisse Term Loan 9,864 9,920

Senior Notes 69,897 75,319

Other 8,818 8,402

  $    352,220 $ 355,638

Scheduled Maturities on Senior and Other Debt

The scheduled maturities for the senior credit facilities senior subordinated notes and other debt at June 30, 2017 were as folu lows 

(in thousands): 

Year Ending June 30,

2018   $ 4,011

2019 13,668

2020 29,691

2021 2,094

2022 305,486

Thereafter 688

  $    355,638
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Note 6. Financial Instruments 

Fair Value Measurements 

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the price that would be received from 

selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based

measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a

basis for considering such assumptions, FASB ASC Topic 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs 

used in measuring fair value, as follows: r

Level 1 - Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Observable inputs, other than Level 1 inputs in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own

assumptions.

The Company’s derivative instruments are not traded on a market exchange; therefore, the fair values are determined using

valuation models that include assumptions about yield curve at the reporting dates as well as counter-party credit risk. The assumptions 

are generally derived from market-observable data. The Company has consistently applied these calculation techniques to all periods

presented, which are considered Level 2. Derivative instruments measured at fair value and their classification in the consolidaa ated 

balances sheets and statements of operations are as follows (in thousands): 

Derivative – Fair Value (Level 2)

Type of Derivative

Contract Balance Sheet Classification       June 30, 2016          June 30, 2017   

Swap Contracts and Options

(Caps and Collars) Trade payables and accrued liabilities             $ 871           $ 96

Forward-Exchange Contracts Trade payables and accrued liabilities 255 299

Type of Derivative

Contract

Statement of Operations

Classification     FY 2015    FY 2016 FY 2017

Swap Contracts and Options

(Caps and Collars)

Unrealized gain included in interest 

expense     $         104 $ — $        1,073

Forward-Exchange Contracts Unrealized foreign currency 

exchange gain (loss) 383         (367) (12)

Interest Rate Swap Contractsp

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its senior and other debt obligations. The 

Company’s policy is to manage its interest expense by using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. 

To manage its exposure to variable interest rates in a cost-efficient manner, the Company enters into interest rate swaps andff

interest rate options, in which the Company agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest 

amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps and options are designated to hedge changes 

in the interest rate of a portion of the outstanding borrowings in the Asia-Pacific area. The Company entered into one interest rate swap t

contract prior to FY 2015 and two interest rate swap contracts in FY 2017 that have been designated as cash flow hedges. The Con mpany

expects these derivatives to remain effective during the remaining term of the swaps; however, any changes in the portion of the hedges 

considered ineffective would be recorded in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations. In FY 2015 and FY 2017,

amounts recorded in interest expense of the cash flow hedge entered into prior to FY 2015 were unrealized gains of $104,000 and

$1,073,000, respectively. 
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The Company’s interest rate derivative instruments are not traded on a market exchange; thereford e, the fair values are determined 

using valuation models which include assumptions about the interest rate yield curve at the reporting dates (Level 2 fair value

measurement). As of June 30, 2016, there was one open interest rate swap contract that matured in June 2017; and as of June 30, 2017, 

there were two open interest rate swap contracts, one that matures in June 2019 and the other that matures in June 2021, as follows 

(dollars in thousands): 

June 30,

2016 2017

NNotional amounts   $                        37,213   $ 30,748 

Fixed/Strike Rates 3.98%     2.0025% - 2.2900% 

Floating Rates 1.90% 1.6650% 

Fair Value of Combined Contracts   $ (871)   $ (96) 

Foreign Currency Risk g y

The Company has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from sales or purchases in currencies other than the 

functional currency. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily U.S. dollars. Royal Wolf has a bank account denominated in U.S.d

dollars into which a small number of customers pay their debts. This is a natural hedge against fluctuations in the exchange rate. The

funds are then used to pay suppliers, avoiding the need to convert to Australian dollars. Royal Wolf uses forward currency and 

participating forward contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on the majority of its transactions denominated in foreign

currencies, either by transaction if the amount is significant, or on a general cash flow hedge basis. The forward currency and

participating forward contracts are always in the same currency as the hedged item. Thn e Company believes that financial instruments

designated as foreign currency hedges are highly effective. However documentation of such as required by ASC Topic 815 does not

exist. Therefore, all movements in the fair values of these hedges are reported in the statement of operations in the period in which fair 

values change. As of June 30, 2016, there were 49 open forward exchange and two participating forward contracts that mature betweentt

July 2016 and November 2016; and as of June 30, 2017, there were 16 open forward exchange contracts that mature between July 2017

and December 2017, as follows (dollars in thousands):

June 30,

2016 2017

NNotional amounts     $ 8,617     $ 7,687  

Exchange/Strike Rates (AUD to USD)     0.6460 – 0.7803   0.69304 – 0.75650  

Fair Value of Combined Contracts     $ (255)     $ (299)  

In FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, net unrealized and realized foreign exchange gains (losses) totaled $(512,000) and 

$(180,000), $(103,000) and $80,000 and $(375,000) and $(39,000), respectively.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company’s borrowings under the Senior Notes was determined based on a Level 1 input and for borrowings

under its senior credit facilities and Credit Suisse Term Loan determined based on Level 3 inputs; including a comparison to a group of 

comparable industry debt issuances (“Industry Comparable Debt Issuances”) and a studyrr of credit (“Credit Spread Analysis”). Under 

the Industry Comparable Debt Issuance method, the Company compared the debt facilities to several industry comparable debt 

issuances. This method consisted of an analysis of the offering yields compared to the current yields on publicly traded debt securities. 

Under the Credit Spread Analysis, the Company first examined the implied credit spreads of the United States Federal Reserve. Based 

on this analysis the Company was able to assess the credit market. The fair value of the Company’s senior credit facilities as of June 30,

2016 and 2017 was determined to be approximately $336,901,000 and $347,236,000, respectively. The Company also determined that 

the fair value of its other debt of $8,818,000 and $8,402,000 at June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively, approximated or would not vary 

significantly from their carrying values.
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Under the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments, the carrying value of the Company’s other financial

instruments (consisting primarily of cash and cash equivalents, net receivables, trade payables and accrued liabilities) approximate fair 

value.

Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Financial instruments potentially exposing the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of receivables. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the large number of customers spread over a large geographic

area in many industry sectors and no single customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues or trade receivables during

and at the periods presented. However, in our North American leasing operations a significant portion of the business activity are with 

companies in the construction and energy (oil and gas and mining) industries. Revenues from the construction industry totaled

$34,077,000 in FY 2015; and revenues and receivables from the construction industry totaled $42,799,000 and $6,032,000 during FY 

2016 and at June 30, 2016, respectively; and $39,951,000 and $5,521,000 during FY 2017 and at June 30, 2017, respectively. Revenues

of $61,537,000, $29,866,000 and $24,884,000 during FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, respectively; and receivables of $3,971,000 and 

$6,568,000 at June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively, were from the energy industry. In addition, substantially all of the Company’s 

North American manufacturing revenues at Southern Frac during FY 2015 were from the energy industry. 

The Company’s receivables related to sales of lease inventories and fleet are generally secured by the equipment sold to the 

customer. The Company’s receivables related to leasing operations are primarily amounts generated from both off-site and on-site 

customers. The Company has the right to repossess lease equipment for nonpayment. It is the Company’s policy that all customers who 

wish to purchase or lease containers on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures and the Company will agree to terms

with customers believed to be creditworthy. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result a that the

Company’s exposure to bad debts is not typically significant; however, in FY 2016 the Company has provided more than historically 

normal provision and write-offs for bad debts, primarily for customers in the energy sector. Net allowance for doubtful accounts 

provided and uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries and other, was $4,434,000 and $1,348,000, $5,570,000 and 

$3,357,000, and $2,529,000 and $5,060,000 for FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, respectively. The translation gain (loss) to the

allowance for doubtful accounts for FY 2015 and FY 2017 was $(271,000) and $42,000, respectively. There was no translation gain or n

loss in FY 2016.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other significant financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash and cash

equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets and certain derivative instruments, the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from 

default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. As the counter party for ff

derivative instruments is nearly always a bank, the Company has assessed this as a low risk.

Note 7. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands): 

FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017

NNorth America     $ 6,234 $ (13,607) $ (8,234)

Asia-Pacific 15,508 8,130 7,362

    $ 21,742 $ (5,477) $ (872) 

F-26



GENERAL FINANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands): 

FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017

Current:

U.S. Federal     $ — $ — $ — 

State — 203 172 

Foreign 4,582 1,842 703 

4,582 2,045 875 

Deferred:

U.S. Federal 4,152 (4,364) (3,351)

State 474 (39) (120) 

Foreign (511) 167 2,571

4,115 (4,236) (900) 

    $ 8,697 $ (2,191) $ (25) 

The components of the net deferred tax liability are as follows (in thousands): 

June 30,

2016 2017

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards (a)     $ 28,686 $ 40,310

Accrued compensation and other benefits 3,070 2,867

Allowance for doubtful accounts 3,079 1,846

Total deferred tax assets 34,835 45,023

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated tax depreciation and amortization (a) (73,841) (82,214)

Deferred revenue and expenses — (915)

Total deferred tax liabilities (73,841) (83,129)

Net deferred tax liabilities     $ (39,006) $ (38,106)

(a) The June 30, 2016 deferred tax liability has been adjusted to reflect a reclassification to accelerated tax depreciation and

amortization from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. 

At June 30, 2017, the Company had a U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward of $94,806,000, which expires if unused during

fiscal years 2019 – 2037, and state net operating loss carryforwards of $40,937,000, which will begin expiring in fiscal year 2019. As a

result of stock ownership changes, it is possible to have a change in ownership for federal income tax purposes, which can limit the 

amount of net operating loss currently available as a deduction. As a result of the stock ownership change in the Pac-Van acquisition in 

October 2008, the available deduction of the net operating loss carryforward of $21,304,000 is generally limited to approximaterr ly 

$2,400,000 on a yearly basis. 

For income tax purposes, deductible compensation related to non-qualified stock option awards is based on the value of the award 

when realized, which may be different than the compensation expense recognized in the consolidated financial statements, which is 

based on the award value on the date of grant. The difference between the value of the award upon grant and the value of the award 

when ultimately realized creates either additional tax benefits or a tax shortfall. Tax benefits r resulting from tax deductions in excess of 

the compensation cost recognized for share-based awards would be recognized as increases to additional paid in capital only if an 

incremental income tax benefit would be realized after considering all other tax attributes presently available. Tax shortfalls, which

would occur when the tax deduction for share-based awards is less than the compensation cost recognized, would be recorded as a

reduction to additional paid in capital to the extent that, cumulatively, the shortfalls do not exceed the cumulative excess tax benefits

recognized (including excess tax benefits not yet recognized in additional paid in capital). Should cumulative tax shortfalls exceed 

cumulative excess tax benefits, the difference would be reflected as additional tax expense in the consolidated financial statements. The

Company has not recognized excess tax benefits in FY 2015, FY 2016 or FY 2017 because it has not paid U.S. federal income taxes in

those years. 
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Management evaluates the ability to realize its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis and adjusts the amount of its valuation 

allowance if necessary. No valuation allowance has been determined to be required as of June 30, 2016 and 2017.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows: 

FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Adjustment to estimated state deferred tax liability, net of 

U.S. federal tax benefit (a) — — (34.1)

State and Asia-Pacific taxes, net of U.S. federal tax benefit 

and credit 5.0 5.0 (2.1)

Other --  --  4.1

Effective tax rate 40.0% 40.0% 2.9%

(a) Adjustment for estimated state taxes of $297,000. 

Note 8. Related-Party Transactions

Effective January 31, 2008, the Company entered into a lease with an affiliate of the Company’s chief executive officer for its

corporate headquarters in Pasadena, California. The rent is $7,393 per month, effective March 1, 2009, plus allocated charges for ff

common area maintenance, real property taxes and insurance, for approximately 3,000 square feet of office space. The term of the lease 

is five years, with two five-year renewal options, and the rent is adjusted yearly based on the consumer price index. On October 11,

2012, the Company exercised its option to renew the lease for an additional five-year term commencing February 1, 2013. Rental 

payments were $110,000 in each of FY 2015 and FY 2016 and $113,000 in FY 2017.

The premises of Pac-Van’s Las Vegas branch are owned by and were leased from the acting branch manager through 

December 31, 2016. From January 1, 2017 through May 12, 2017, the use of the premises was rented from the acting branch manager

on a month-to-month basis. Effective May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement through December 31, 2020 for rental 

of $10,876 per month and the right to extend the term of the lease for three two-year options, with the monthly rental increasing at each 

option period from $11,420 to $12,590 per month. Rental payments on these premises totaled $118,000 during FY 2015 and FY 2016 

and $124,000 during FY 2017.

Note 9. Equity Plans 

On September 11, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), which

was approved by the stockholders at the Company’s annual meeting on December 4, 2014 and amended and restated by the

stockholders at the annual meeting on December 3, 2015. The 2014 Plan is an “omnibus” incentive plan permitting a variety of equityqq

programs designed to provide flexibility in implementing equity and cash awards, including incentive stock options, nonqualified stock 

options, restricted stock grants (“non-vested equity shares”), restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance stock,

performance units and other stock-based awards. Participants in the 2014 Plan may be granted any one of the equity awards or any 

combination of them, as determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. Upon the approval of the 2014 Plan by 

the stockholders, the Company suspended further grants under its previous equity plans, the General Finance Corporation 2006 Stock 

Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”) and the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”) (collectively the “Predecessor Plans”), which had a h

total of 2,500,000 shares reserved for grant. Any stock options which are forfeited under the Predecessor Plans will become available

for grant under the 2014 Plan, but the total number of shares available under the 2014 Plan will not exceed the 1,500,000 shares

reserved for grant under the 2014 Plan, plus any options which were forfeited or are available for grant under the Predecessor Plans. If 

not sooner terminated by the Board of Directors, the 2014 Plan will expire on December 4, 2024, which is the tenth anniversary of the 

date it was approved by the Company’s stockholders. The 2006 Plan expired on June 30, 2016 and the 2009 Plan will expire on

December 10, 2019. The Predecessor Plans and the 2014 Plan are referred to collectively as the “Stock Incentive Plan.”

There have been no grants or awards of restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance stock or performance units

under the Stock Incentive Plan. All grants to-date consist of incentive and non-qualified stock options that vest over a period of up tod

five years (“time-based”), non-qualified stock options that vest over varying periods that are dependent on the attainment of certain

defined EBITDA and other targets (“performance-based”) and non-vested equity shares. At June 30, 2017, 550,194 shares remained 

available for grant. 
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On January 22, 2015 (the “January 2015 Grant”), the Company granted time-based options to three key employees of GFN and 

Pac-Van to purchase 33,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s common 

stock as of that date, or $8.29 per share. The options under the January 2015 Grant vest over 36 months from the date of grant.

On June 15, 2015 (the “June 2015 Grant”), the Company granted time-based options to 22 key employees of GFN, Pac-Van, Lone

Star and Southern Frac to purchase 240,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the

Company’s common stock as of that date, or $5.45 per share. The options under the June 2015 Grant vest over 36 months from the date

of grant.

In FY 2015, the weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted to officers and key employees was $4.02, determined 

using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the following assumptions: a risk-free interest rate of 1.65% - 2.10%, an expected 

life of 7.5 years, an expected volatility of 70.2% - 71.1% and no expected dividend. 

On June 8, 2016 (the “June 2016 Grant”), “), the Company granted time-based options to 21 key employees of GFN, Pac-Van,

Lone Star and Southern Frac to purchase 106,700 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the

Company’s common stock as of that date, or $4.11 per share. The options under the June 2016 Grant vest over 36 months from the date

of grant. The weighted-average fair value of the stock options in the June 2016 Grant was $2.87, determined using the Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model using the following assumptions: a risk-free interest rate of 1.47%, an expected life of 7.5 years, an expected 

volatility of 72.9% and no expected dividend.

On February 7, 2017 (the “February 2017 Grant”), the Company granted time-based options to an officer of GFN to purchase 

225,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s common stock as of that t date,

or $5.10 per share. The options under the February 2017 Grant vest over 36 months from the date of grant. The weighted-average fair 

value of the stock options in the February 2017 Grant was $3.35, determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the 

following assumptions: a risk-free interest rate of 2.13%, an expected life of 7.5 years, an expected volatility of 65.1% and no expected 

dividend. 

Since inception, the range of the fair value of the stock options granted (other than to non-employee consultants) and the

assumptions used are as follows: 

Fair value of stock options     $0.81 - $6.35   

Assumptions used:

Risk-free interest rate 1.19% - 4.8%

Expected life (in years) 7.5

Expected volatility 26.5% - 84.6%

Expected dividends —

At June 30, 2017, there were no significant outstanding stock options held by non-employee consultants that were not fully vested. 

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017 follows:

Number of

Options

(Shares)

Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (Years)

Outstanding at June 30, 2014 2,152,820 $ 5.03

Granted 273,000 5.79

Exercised   (195,879) 2.84

Forfeited or expired (119,750) 4.61

Outstanding at June 30, 2015 2,110,191 $ 5.35 5.4

Exercisable at June 30, 2015 1,443,443 $            5.59 3.9
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Number of

Options

(Shares)

Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (Years)

Outstanding at June 30, 2015 2,110,191 $ 5.35

Granted 106,700 4.11

Exercised (13,000) 3.09

Forfeited or expired (20,667) 6.05

Outstanding at June 30, 2016 2,183,224 $            5.30 4.6

Exercisable at June 30, 2016 1,852,190 $ 5.24 3.8

Number of

Options

(Shares)

Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (Years)

Outstanding at June 30, 2016 2,183,224 $ 5.30

Granted 225,000 5.10

Exercised (21,500) 2.50

Forfeited or expired (325,667) 7.75

Outstanding at June 30, 2017     2,061,057 $ 4.92 4.9

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2017 2,061,057 $ 4.92 4.9t

Exercisable at June 30, 2017 1,632,256 $ 4.78 3.8

At June 30, 2017, outstanding time-based options and performance-based options totaled 1,346,347 and 714,710, respectively. 

Also at that date, the Company’s market price for its common stock was $5.15 per share, which was at or below the exercise prices of 

38.4% of the outstanding stock options. The intrinsic value of the outstanding stock options at that date was $2,201,000. Share-based 

compensation of $7,297,000 related to stock options has been recognized in the consolidated statements of operations, with a 

corresponding benefit to equity, from inception through June 30, 2017. At that date, there remains $1,199,000 of unrecognized 

compensation expense to be recorded on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted-average vesting period of 1.6 years. 

A deduction is not allowed for U.S. income tax purposes with respect to non-qualified options granted in the United States until

the stock options are exercised or, with respect to incentive stock options issued in the United States, unless the optionee makes a aa

disqualifying disposition of the underlying shares. The amount of any deduction will be the difference between the fair value of the 

Company’s common stock and the exercise price at the date of exercise. Accordingly, there is a deferred tax asset recorded for the U.S. 

tax effect of the financial statement expense recorded related to stock option grants in the United States. The tax effect of tn he U.S. 

income tax deduction in excess of the financial statement expense, if any, will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital.
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A summary of the Company’s non-vested equity share activity follows:

Shares

Weighted-

Average

Grant

Date Fair

Value

NNonvested at June 30, 2014 205,320 $ 6.23

Granted 117,370 6.10

Vested (21,719) 6.22

Forfeited (6,988) 6.15

NNonvested at June 30, 2015 293,983 6.18

Granted 263,007 4.10

Vested (117,370) 6.10

Forfeited (66,113) 9.25

NNonvested at June 30, 2016 373,507 4.20

Granted 349,304 4.10

Vested (242,501) 6.10

Forfeited — —

NNonvested at June 30, 2017 480,310 $          4.54

Share-based compensation of $2,163,000 related to non-vested equity shares has been recognized in the consolidated statements of 

operations, with a corresponding benefit to equity, from inception through June 30, 2017. At that date, there remains $2,006,000 of 

unrecognized compensation expense to be recorded on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period of over approximately

0.42 year – 3.00 years for the non-vested equity shares.

On June 15, 2015, the Company granted a total of 29,358 equity shares to an officer of GFN at a value equal to the closing market 

price of the Company’s common stock as of that date, or $5.45 per share. The fair value of this equity share grant of $160,000 has been

recognized in the consolidated statements of operations, with a corresponding benefit to equity. 

On October 12, 2016, the Company granted a total of 22,112 equity shares to an officer of GFN at a value equal to the closing 

market price of the Company’s common stock as of that date, or $4.45 per share. The fair value of this equity share grant of $98,000 has

been recognized in the consolidated statements of operations as share-based compensation, with a corresponding benefit to equity. tt

Royal Wolf Long Term Incentive Plany g

Royal Wolf established the Royal Wolf Long Term Incentive Plan (the “LTI Plan”) in conjunction with its initial public offering

in May 2011. Under the LTI Plan, the RWH Board of Directors may grant, at its discretion, options, performance rights and/or 

restricted shares of RWH capital stock to Royal Wolf employees and executive directors. Vesting terms and conditions may be up to 

four years and, generally, will be subject to performance criteria based primarily on enhancing shareholder returns using a number of m

key financial benchmarks, including EBITDA. In addition, unless the RWH Board determines otherwise, if an option, performance

right or restricted share has not lapsed or been forfeited earlier, it will terminate at the seventh anniversary from the date r of grant.

It is intended that up to one percent of RWH’s outstanding capital stock will be reserved for grant under the LTI Plan and a trust rr

will be established to hold RWH shares for this purpose. However, so long as the Company holds more than 50% of the outstanding

shares of RWH capital stock, RWH shares reserved for grant under the LTI Plan are required to be purchased in the open market unlessuu

the Company agrees otherwise. The LTI Plan, among other provisions, does not permit the transfer, sale, mortgage or encumbering of 

options, performance rights and restricted shares without the prior approval of the RWH Board. In the event of a change of control, thett

RWH Board, at its discretion, will determine whether, and how many, unvested options, performance rights and restricted shares will

vest. In addition, if, in the RWH Board’s opinion, a participant acts fraudulently or dishonestly or is in breach of his obligations to

Royal Wolf, the RWH Board may deem any options, performance rights and restricted shares held by or reserved for the participant to

have lapsed or been forfeited.
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As of June 30, 2017, Royal Wolf has granted, net of forfeitures, 2,582,723 performance rights to key management personnel under

the LTI Plan. Also, as of June 30, 2017, 642,582 of the performance rights have been converted into RWH capital stock through 

purchases in the open market. In FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, share-based compensation of $858,000, $959,000 and $(74,000), 

respectively, related to the LTI Plan has been recognized in the consolidated statements of operations, with a corresponding benefit to

equity.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Rentalsp g

The Company leases primarily facilities and office equipment under operating leases. The leases have terms of between one and 

nine years, some with an option to renew the lease after that period. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. There are no 

restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. Non-cancellable operating lease rentals at June 30, 2017 are payable as

follows (in thousands):

Year Ending June 30,

2018   $ 9,418

2019 7,172

2020 5,422

2021 4,017

2022 2,722

Thereafter 9,722

  $            38,473

Rental expense on non-cancellable operating leases was $9,559,000, $10,382,000 and $11,911,000 in FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 

2017, respectively. 

Sales-Type and Operating Fleet Leasesyp p g

Future minimum receipts under sales-type and operating fleet leases at June 30, 2016 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending June 30,

2018   $ 15,688

2019 4,233

2020 1,815

2021 850

2022 601

Thereafter —

  $            23,187

Self-Insurance 

The Company has insurance policies to cover auto liability, general liability, directors and officers liability and workers

compensation-related claims. Effective on February 1, 2017, the Company became self-insured for auto liability and general liability

through GFNI, a wholly-owned captive insurance company, up to a maximum of $1,200,000 per policy period. Claims and expenses

are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an

estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. At June 30, 2017, reported liability totaled $129,000, and has been recorded 

in the caption “Trade payables and accrued liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Other Matters

The Company is not involved in any material lawsuits or claims arising out of the normal course of business. The nature of its

business is such that disputes can occasionally arise with employees, vendors (including suppliers and subcontractors) and customers 

over warranties, contract specifications and contract interpretations among other things. The Company assesses these matters on a case-

by-case basis as they arise. Reserves are established, as required, based on its assessment of its exposure. The Company has insurance 

policies to cover general liability and workers compensation related claims. In the opinion of management, the ultimate amount of 

liability not covered by insurance under pending litigation and claims, if any, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial

position, operating results or cash flows. 

Note 11. Detail of Certain Accounts

Trade payables and accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands): 

June 30,

2016 2017

Trade payables         $ 22,825 $ 21,810

Checks written in excess of bank balance — 1,660

Payroll and related 8,815 9,207

Taxes, other than income 1,809 1,812

Fair value of interest swap and option and forward currency exchange contacts 1,126 395

Accrued interest 1,580 1,841

Deferred consideration 2,310 1,956

Self-insured reported liability — 129

Other accruals 5,011 3,964

        $      43,476 $      42,774

Note 12. Segment Reporting 

We have two geographic areas that include four operating segments; the Asia-Pacific area, consisting of the leasing operations of 

Royal Wolf, and North America, consisting of the combined leasing operations of Pac-Van and Lone Star, and the manufacturing

operations of Southern Frac. Discrete financial data on each of the Company’s products is not available and it would be impractf ical to 

collect and maintain financial data in such a manner. In managing the Company’s business, senior management focuses on primarily 

growing its leasing revenues and operating cash flow (EBITDA), and investing in its lease fleet through capital purchases and 

acquisitions. 
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Transactions between reportable segments included in the tables below are recorded on an arms-length basis at market in 

conformity with U.S. GAAP and the Company’s significant accounting policies (see Note 2). The tables below represent the

Company’s revenues from external customers, share-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, operating income,

interest income and expense, expenditures for additions to long-lived assets (consisting of lease fleet and property, plant and

equipment), long-lived assets and goodwill; as attributed to its geographic and operating segments (in thousands): 

FY 2017

North America

Leasing

Pac-Van Lone Star Combined Manufacturing

Corporate

and

Intercompany

Adjustments Total

Asia – Pacific

Leasing Consolidated

Revenues:

Sales     $ 47,640 $ - $ 47,640 $ 6,944 $ (2,049) $ 52,535      $ 48,124     $ 100,659

Leasing 97,383 19,097 116,480 - (291) 116,189  60,080 176,269

    $    145,023 $    19,097 $    164,120 $     6,944 $     (2,340) $    168,724      $      108,204     $      276,928( )

Share-based compensation     $ 333 $ 41 $ 374 $ 62 $ 1,012 $ 1,448      $ (74)     $ 1,374

Depreciation and amortization     $ 13,663 $ 9,666 $ 23,329 $ 792 $ (728) $ 23,393      $ 16,699     $ 40,092

Operating income (loss)     $ 19,551 $ (3,916) $ 15,635 $ (2,430) $ (4,907) $ 8,298      $ 10,768     $ 19,066

Interest income     $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 25 $ 25      $ 41     $ 66

Interest expense     $ 7,304 $ 1,369 $ 8,673 $ 392 $ 7,325 $ 16,390      $ 3,263     $ 19,653

Additions to long-lived assets     $ 26,024 $ 47 $ 26,071 $ - $ (247) $ 25,824      $ 23,681     $ 49,505

At June 30, 2017

Long-lived assets     $ 244,973 $ 52,158 $ 297,131 $ 2,526 $ (10,521) $ 289,136      $ 161,527     $ 450,663

Goodwill     $ 55,882 $ 20,782 $ 76,664 $ - $ - $ 76,664      $ 28,465     $ 105,129
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FY 2016

North America

Leasing

Pac-Van Lone Star Combined Manufacturing

Corporate

and

Intercompany

Adjustments Total

Asia – Pacific

Leasing Consolidated

Revenues:

Sales     $ 47,973 $ - $ 47,973 $ 8,130 $ (1,951) $ 54,152        $ 63,466        $ 117,618   

Leasing 88,877 23,378 112,255 - (275) 111,980    56,253    168,233   

    $     136,850 $    23,378 $    160,228 $ 8,130 $ (2,226) $ 166,132        $ 119,719        $ 285,851    

Share-based compensation     $ 374 $ 22 $ 396 $ 100 $ 933 $ 1,429        $ 959        $ 2,388    

Impairment of goodwill and trade name     $ - $ - $ - $ 3,068 $ - $ 3,068        $ -        $ 3,068   

Depreciation and amortization     $ 13,154 $ 10,529 $ 23,683 $ 1,343 $ (746) $ 24,280        $ 14,354        $ 38,634    

Operating income (loss)     $ 17,984 $ (1,541) $ 16,443 $     (9,464) $ (5,430) $ 1,549        $ 12,834        $ 14,383    

Interest income     $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 5        $ 92        $ 97   

Interest expense     $ 5,802 $ 1,453 $ 7,255 $ 291 $ 7,473 $ 15,019        $ 4,629        $ 19,648    

Additions to long-lived assets     $ 32,225 $ 245 $ 32,470 $ 183 $ (97) $ 32,556        $ 20,988        $ 53,544    ( )

At June 30, 2016

Long-lived assets     $ 239,459 $ 58,492 $ 297,951 $ 3,318 $     (10,975) $     290,294        $     156,002        $     446,296    ( )

Goodwill     $ 55,122 $ 20,782 $ 75,904 $ - $ - $ 75,904        $ 26,642        $ 102,546    

FY 2015

North America

Leasing

Pac-Van Lone Star Combined Manufacturingg

Corporate

and

Intercompany

Adjustments Total

Asia – Pacific

Leasing Consolidated

Revenues:

Sales     $ 35,283 $ 25 $ 35,308 $ 34,307 $ (20,326)     $ 49,289        $ 54,967        $ 104,256    

Leasing 80,796 50,138 130,934 - (88) 130,846    68,723    199,569   

    $ 116,079 $ 50,163 $ 166,242 $ 34,307 $ (20,414)     $ 180,135        $ 123,690        $ 303,825    

Share-based compensation     $ 303 $ 11 $ 314 $ 114 $ 884     $ 1,312        $ 862        $ 2,174    

Depreciation and amortization     $ 11,306 $ 11,345 $ 22,651 $ 1,076 $ (678)     $ 23,049        $ 15,522        $ 38,571    

Operating income     $ 18,425 $ 8,233 $ 26,658 $ 4,200 $ (9,202)     $ 21,656        $ 21,387        $ 43,043   

Interest income     $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -     $ -        $ 68        $ 68    

Interest expense     $ 4,106 $ 2,448 $ 6,554 $ 311 $ 8,325     $ 15,190        $ 5,906        $ 21,096    

Additions to long-lived assets     $ 44,720 $ 18,233 $ 62,953 $ 378 $ (5,311)     $ 58,020        $ 38,476        $ 96,496    
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Intersegment net revenues related to sales of primarily portable liquid storage containers from Southern Frac to the North

American leasing operations totaled $20,326,000, $1,951,000 and $2,049,000 during FY 2015, FY 2016 and FY 2017, respectively. 

Note 13. Subsequent Events

On July 14, 2017, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $2.30 per share on the Series C

Preferred Stock (see Note 3). The dividend is for the period commencing on April 30, 2017 through July 30, 2017, and payable on

July 31, 2017 to holders of record as of July 30, 2017.

On July 12, 2017, the Company announced that it will commence, through GFNAPH, an off-market takeover offer and has 

entered into a binding takeover bid implementation agreement with Royal Wolf to acquire the approximately 49.2 million 

noncontrolling outstanding ordinary (common) shares of Royal Wolf that are not currently owned by the Company. The takeover offer ff

is for A$1.83 per share in cash, less a special dividend declared by Royal Wolf of A$0.0265 per share, for total purchase consideration 

to be paid by the Company of A$88.7 million (approximately $68.2 million). The Company has received financing for the takeover 

offer from Bison Capital Equity Partners V, LP and its affiliates. In August 2017, the Company, through GFNPAH, obtained the

acceptance to the bid of at least 90% of Royal Wolf’s outstanding shares (including its 51% ownership), which allows the compulsory

acquisition of the remaining under 10% shares commencing after the end of the offer period on September 8, 2017. Payments to all 

noncontrolling shareholders are expected to be completed by the end of October 2017.

On September 1, 2017, the Company, through Pac-Van, purchased the container businesses of Advantage Storage Trailer, LLCd

and Big Star Container, LLC (collectively “Advantage”), for approximately $1,601,000, which included holdback and other adjustment 

amounts totaling approximately $180,000. Advantage is located in Austin and San Antonio, Texas.
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